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Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Delta,” “Wes,” and “our” refer to Delta Air Lines, Inc. ants subsidiaries.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this Form 10-K (or otherwise madedwr on our behalf) that are not historical faitsluding statements about our
estimates, expectations, beliefs, intentions, ptmjas or strategies for the future, may be “fonvlooking statements” as defined in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forwawbking statements involve risks and uncertaintias tould cause actual results to differ
materially from historical experience or our prasexpectations. Known material risk factors apgileao Delta are described in “Risk Factors
Relating to Delta” and “Risk Factors Relating te thirline Industry” in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” ohis Form 10-K, other than risks that could
apply to any issuer or offering. All forward-lookjrstatements speak only as of the date made, anthdertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statementgtiect events or circumstances that may arise feedate of this report.
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Part |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

We provide scheduled air transportation for passengnd cargo throughout the United States andhdrthe world. Our global route
network gives us a presence in every major domasticinternational market. Our route network istessd around the hub system we operate
at airports in Amsterdam, Atlanta, Cincinnati, @&rMemphis, Minneapolis-St. Paul, New York-JFiarRB-Charles de Gaulle, Salt Lake City
and Tokyo-Narita. Each of these hub operationsiges flights that gather and distribute trafficfironarkets in the geographic region
surrounding the hub to domestic and internatioitescand to other hubs. Our network is supported Heet of aircraft that is varied in terms
of size and capabilities, giving us flexibility &mljust aircraft to the network.

Other key characteristics of our route networkude!:
« our alliances with foreign airlines, including anembership in SkyTeam, a global airline allial
< our transatlantic joint venture with Air Frang&M and Allitalia;
» our domestic marketing alliance with Alaska Airkinevhich expands our west coast service

» agreements with multiple domestic regional eas;i which operate as Delta Connection, includimgveholly-owned subsidiary,
Comair, Inc.

We are incorporated under the laws of the Staf@etdware. Our principal executive offices are ledaat Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta
International Airport in Atlanta, Georgia. Our telene number is (404) 715-2600 and our Internetessds www.delta.com. Information
contained on this website is not part of, and isimeorporated by reference in, this Form 10-K.

International Alliances

We have bilateral and multilateral marketing alias with foreign airlines to improve our accessiternational markets. These
arrangements can include codesharing, reciproeguént flyer program benefits, shared or recipracakss to passenger lounges, joint
promotions, common use of airport gates and tickanters, ticket office co-location and other méirigeagreements. These alliances often
present opportunities in other areas, such asraigpound handling arrangements and aircraft maaree insourcing.

Our international codesharing agreements enahiie nsrket and sell seats to an expanded numbeterhiational destinations. Under
international codesharing arrangements, we andeggfo carrier each publish our respective airliesighator codes on a single flight operat
thereby allowing us and the foreign carrier to pféent service with one aircraft, rather than ggierg separate services with two aircraft. These
arrangements typically allow us to sell seats foreign carrier's aircraft that are marketed uralerdesignator code and permit the foreign
airline to sell seats on our aircraft that are ragell under the foreign carrier's designator code.

We have international codeshare arrangements vétbrméxico, Air France, Air Nigeria, Alitalia, Aeflof, China Airlines, China Eastern,
China Southern, CSA Czech Airlines, KLM Royal Dutgilines, Korean Air, Olympic Air, Royal Air MargcVRG Linhas Aéreas (operating
as GOL), Vietnam Airlines, Virgin Australia and Wést Airlines (and some affiliated carriers opergtin conjunction with some of these
airlines).

SkyTeam In addition to our marketing alliance agreemawith individual foreign airlines, we are a membéttee SkyTeam global airline
alliance. The other members or prospective memdfe®&yTeam are Aeroflot, Aeroméxico, Air Europay Arance, Alitalia, China Airlines,
China Eastern, China Southern, CSA Czech Airlikesiya Airways, KLM, Korean Air, Tarom and Vietnanirines. Aerolineas Argentinas,
Garuda Indonesia, Middle East Airlines, Saudi AaabAirlines and Xiamen Airlines each have annourtbed formal intent to join SkyTeam
within the next two yearsOne goal of SkyTeam is to link the route networkthe member airlines, providing opportunities ifacreased
connecting traffic while offering enhanced custorsenvice through mutual codesharing arrangemestiprocal frequent flyer and lounge
programs and coordinated cargo operations.




Transatlantic joint ventureIn addition to being members in SkyTeam with Aiance and KLM, both of which are subsidiarieshef same
holding company, and Alitalia, we have a transdittgoint venture agreement with these carrierds Hgreement provides for the sharing of
revenues and costs on transatlantic routes, asawelbordinated pricing, scheduling and producebiggment on included routes. Pursuant to
this joint venture, we, Air France-KLM and Alital@erate an extensive transatlantic network, pilgnan routes between North America and
Europe, and secondarily on routes between Northrismeand Africa, the Middle East and India, andtesubetween Europe and Central
America and several countries in northern South Agae

Transpacific joint venture with Virgin Australianes. In June 2011, we and Virgin Australia Airlineseé/ed approval of antitrust
immunity for our transpacific alliance. Antitrushimunity will allow us to implement a proposed jougnture that will expand the reach of
Delta and Virgin Australia between the United Sdaad Australia and the South Pacific. The alliamilecreate a network able to serve
thousands of city-pairs in North America and thetBdPacific. Alone, we serve only Sydney in Aus&raind Virgin Australia flies only to Los
Angeles in the United States. The antitrust immeialliance will allow the airlines to fully coode on network planning and distribution to
deliver a more attractive and competitive servirecistomers.

Enhanced commercial agreements with Latin Ameramiers.In 2011, we entered into separate agreements witpdGAeromeéxico,
S.A.B. de C.V., the parent company of Aeroméxicm &OL Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes, S.A, the pacemipany of GOL, for a strategic
equity investment in each company and an exclusivemercial relationship with their carriers. Weibeé this will secure our long-term
position in the important and expanding Latin mésla Mexico and Brazil, respectively. The agreetagmovide for expansion of codeshar
additional alignment of service attributes offetedrequent flyer members of our Sky Miles progrand the other carriers' programs, and
additional cooperation for selling activities. Térgpanded relationship with Aeroméxico also conterrgs the establishment of a joint-venture
maintenance, repair and overhaul facility in Guajah, Mexico.

Domestic Alliances

We have entered into a marketing alliance with Rdagirlines, which includes mutual codesharing aaxlprocal frequent flyer and airport
lounge access arrangements. Our alliance agreemiterAlaska Airlines provides for extensive coop@ra with respect to our west coast
presence.

We also have frequent flyer and reciprocal lourgge@ments with Hawaiian Airlines, and codesharigigg@ments with American Eagle
Airlines (“American Eagle”) and Hawaiian Airlineshese marketing relationships are designed to péhmicarriers to retain their separate
identities and route networks while increasingribenber of domestic and international connecting@agers using the carriers' route netwc

Regional Carriers

We have air service agreements with multiple doimesgional air carriers that feed traffic to ooute system by serving passengers
primarily in small-and medium-sized cities. Thesgagements enable us to increase the numbegbtdlive have available in certain
locations and to better match capacity with demamgroximately 21% of our passenger revenue in 2044 related to flying by regional air
carriers.

Through our regional carrier program, we have @mttral arrangements with ten regional carriergerate regional jet and, in certain
cases, turbo-prop aircraft using our “DL” desigmatode. In addition to our wholly-owned subsidiaBgmair, we have contractual
arrangements with: ExpressJet Airlines, Inc. (fatgneAtlantic Southeast Airlines, Inc.) and SkyWdstlines, Inc., both subsidiaries of
SkyWest, Inc.; Chautauqua Airlines, Inc. and Skeultinerica Corporation, both subsidiaries of RepuBlirways Holdings, Inc.; Pinnacle
Airlines, Inc. and Mesaba Aviation, Inc. ("Mesahddth subsidiaries of Pinnacle Airlines Corp. (ifacle"); Compass Airlines, Inc.
("Compass") and GoJet Airlines, LLC, both subsigisuof Trans States Holdings, Inc. ("Trans Statesi)l American Eagle.




With the exception of American Eagle and a portibthe flights operated for us by SkyWest Airliresdescribed below, these agreements
are capacity purchase arrangements, under whigtomteol the scheduling, pricing, reservations, étihg and seat inventories for the regional
carriers' flights operating under our “DL” desigmiatode, and we are entitled to all ticket, cargaijl and in-flight and ancillary revenues
associated with these flights. We pay those aslex@ amount, as defined in the applicable agreemaiith is based on a determination of tl

long-term agreements, usually with initial termsabfeast 10 years, which grant us the option terekthe initial term. Certain of these
agreements provide us the right to terminate thieesagreement, or in some cases remove some airitraft from the scope of the agreement,
for convenience at certain future dates.

Our arrangement with American Eagle, limited taaierflights operated to and from the Los Angelgeinational Airport, as well as a
portion of the flights operated for us by SkyWegtiAes, are structured as revenue proration ageedsn These proration agreements establish
a fixed dollar or percentage division of revenumstickets sold to passengers traveling on conngdlight itineraries.

Frequent Flyer Program

Our SkyMiles®frequent flyer program is designed to retain amidase traveler loyalty by offering incentivesravel on Delta. The
SkyMiles program allows program members to eareagié for travel awards by flying on Delta, Deltagional carriers and other participa
airlines. Mileage credit may also be earned byaisirtain services offered by program participasiish as credit card companies, hotels and
car rental agencies. In addition, individuals anthpanies may purchase mileage credits. Miles etllaxpire, but are subject to all program
rules. We reserve the right to terminate the pnognath six months advance notice, and to chang@tbgram's terms and conditions at any
time without notice.

SkyMiles program mileage credits can be redeemedifdravel on Delta and participating airlines; membership in our Delta Sky Clubs
and for other program participant awards. Mileagglits are subject to certain transfer restrictiang travel awards are subject to capacity-
controlled seating. In 2011 , program members n@@elemore than 275 billion miles in the SkyMiles gmam for 12 million award
redemptions. During this period, 8.2% of revenukesilown on Delta were from award travel.

Other Businesses
Cargo

Through the strength of our global network, ouigoaoperations are able to connect all of the werthjor freight gateways. We generate
cargo revenues in domestic and international manetarily through the use of cargo space on srtjuscheduled passenger aircraft. We are
a member of SkyTeam Cargo, a global airline catlignae, whose other members are Aeromexico Cakgd;rance Cargo, Alitalia Cargo,
CSA Czech Airlines Cargo, KLM Cargo and Korean 8argo. SkyTeam Cargo offers a global network spansix continents, provides
customers a consistent international product lim @ermits its members to improve their efficiemey effectiveness in the marketplace.

Delta TechOps, Delta Global Services, MLT Vacatiarsd Delta Private Jet

We have several other businesses arising fromidureaoperations, including aircraft maintenanepair and overhaul (“MRO”), staffing
services for third parties, vacation wholesale apiens and our private jet operations. Our MRO afpien, known as Delta TechOps, is the
largest airline MRO in North America. In additiom providing maintenance and engineering supportfoifleet of approximately 775 aircraft,
Delta TechOps serves more than 150 aviation afideatustomers from around the world. Delta Tech@pploys approximately 9,600
maintenance professionals and is one of the mg&reenced MRO providers in the world. Our staffsggvices business, Delta Global
Services, provides staffing services, professisealrity, training services and aviation solutitmapproximately 150 customers. Our vacation
wholesale business, MLT Vacations, is one of thgdst providers of vacation packages in the Uritades. Our private jet operations, Delta
Private Jets, provides aircraft charters, airarefthagement and programs allowing members to puzdlight time by the hour. In 2011, the
total revenue from these businesses was approXm&ge0 million.




Distribution and Expanded Product Offerings

Our tickets are sold through various distributitiaenels including telephone reservations, delta,gobal distribution systems and online
travel agencies. An increasing number of our tislet sold through delta.com, which reduces otirilgligion costs and gives us closer contact
with our customers. We expect to launch a new daelta platform in 2012, which we expect will resualadditional purchases of tickets
through that channel.

We are transforming distribution from a commodippeoach to a differentiated and merchandised appro&'e expect that the
merchandising initiatives we are implementing, fanity through delta.com, will generate additionavenue opportunities for us and will
improve the experience of our customers. Our @an provide our customers with opportunities tochase what they value, such as first ¢
upgrades, economy comfort seating, WiFi accessSky€lub passes. We also expect to benefit froneesed traffic on delta.com through a
combination of advertising revenue and sales ofltharty merchandise and services such as caisghtdels, and trip insurance.

Fuel

Our results of operations are significantly impddby changes in the price and availability of aftfuel. The following table shows our
aircraft fuel consumption and costs.

Gallons Consumed Average Price Per Percentage of Total
Year @ (Millions) Cost™? (Millions) Gallon @@ Operating Expense®
2011 3,85¢ $ 11,787 $ 3.0¢ 36%
2010 3,82¢ $ 8,901 $ 2.3 30%
2009 3,85¢ $ 8,291 $ 2.1¢ 2%

@ Includes the operations of our contract carriemenrcapacity purchase agreeme

@ Includes fuel hedge gains (losses) under our fadymg program of $420 million , $(89) million afi¢lL.4) billionfor 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectiv

Our aircraft fuel purchase contracts do not provitdgerial protection against price increases anrasthe availability of our fuel supplies.
We purchase most of our aircraft fuel under comsgréitat establish the price based on various mamkletes. We also purchase aircraft fuel on
the spot market, from off-shore sources and undetracts that permit the refiners to set the price.

In an effort to manage our exposure to changesadraét fuel prices, we actively manage our fuatprrisk through a hedging program
intended to provide an offset against increaségstifuel prices. This fuel hedging program utilizesseral different contract and fuel commo
types, which are used together to create a risigatibg hedge portfolio.

We are currently able to obtain adequate suppfiegrcraft fuel, but it is impossible to predicitfuture availability or price of aircraft fuel.
Weather-related events, natural disasters, pdlifisauptions or wars involving oil-producing coues, changes in government policy
concerning aircraft fuel production, transportataymmarketing, changes in aircraft fuel productiapacity, environmental concerns and other
unpredictable events may result in fuel supply &uas and fuel price increases in the future.

Competition

The airline industry is highly competitive, markieyl significant competition with respect to routiges, schedules (both timing and
frequency), services, products, customer servideframuent flyer programs. The industry is goingptigh a period of transformation through
consolidation, both domestically and internationadind changes in international alliances. Conatbd in the airline industry and changes in
international alliances have altered and will cond to alter the competitive landscape in the itrgiusy resulting in the formation of airlines
and alliances with increased financial resourcesenextensive global networks and altered costatras. In addition, other network carriers
have also significantly reduced their costs overl#st several years including through restructuand bankruptcy reorganization. American
Airlines has recently filed for bankruptcy proteetj which may enable it to substantially reducedsts. Our ability to compete effectively
depends, in part, on our ability to maintain a cetitjye cost structure.




Domestic

Our domestic operations are subject to competftiom both traditional network and discount carrjeseme of which may have lower costs
than we do and provide service at low fares toidabns served by us. In particular, we face digaint competition at our domestic hub
airports in Atlanta, Cincinnati, Detroit, Memphidjnneapolis-St. Paul, New York-JFK and Salt Lakéy@ither directly at those airports or at
the hubs of other airlines that are located inejm®ximity to our hubs. We also face competitiorsinaller to medium-sized markets from
regional jet operators.

International

Our international operations are subject to contipatfrom both domestic and foreign carriers. Thgl@lliance and other marketing and
codesharing agreements with foreign carriers, th8iers have increased their ability to sell intgional transportation, such as services tc
beyond traditional European and Asian gateway<it#milarly, foreign carriers have obtained insezhaccess to interior U.S. passenger
traffic beyond traditional U.S. gateway cities thgh these relationships. In particular, allianeagsied by domestic and foreign carriers,
including SkyTeam, the Star Alliance (among UnifédLines, Continental Airlines, Lufthansa Germairlihes, Air Canada and others) and
the oneworld alliance (among American Airlines,tBhH Airways, Qantas and others) have significaimtyeased competition in international
markets. The adoption of liberalized Open Skiesafion Agreements with an increasing number of ceesmtairound the world, including in
particular the Open Skies Treaties that the U.S with the Member States of the European UnionJapén, could significantly increase
competition among carriers serving those markets.

Several joint ventures among U.S. and foreign eesriincluding our transatlantic joint venture witin France-KLM and Alitalia, have
received grants of antitrust immunity allowing therticipating carriers to coordinate schedulessipg, sales and inventory. Other joint
ventures that have received anti-trust immunityude a transatlantic alliance among United, Comtiak Air Canada and Lufthansa, a
transpacific joint venture among United, Continéatad All Nippon Airways, a transatlantic joint ieine among American, British Airways
and Iberia, and a transpacific joint venture betwamerican and Japan Air Lines.

Regulatory Matters

The Department of Transportation (“DOT”) and thel&®l Aviation Administration (the “FAA”) exercigegulatory authority over air
transportation in the U.S. The DOT has authoritistme certificates of public convenience and r&tesequired for airlines to provide
domestic air transportation. An air carrier tha BOT finds fit to operate is given authority toeogte domestic and international air
transportation (including the carriage of passengen cargo). Except for constraints imposed bylegigns regarding “Essential Air Services,”
which are applicable to certain small communit&dines may terminate service to a city withowgtrietion.

The DOT has jurisdiction over certain economic aadsumer protection matters, such as unfair orgtaeepractices and methods of
competition, advertising, denied boarding compeasabaggage liability and disabled passenger pamation. The DOT also has authority to
review certain joint venture agreements betweemnggrriers and engages in regulation of econonaitters such as slot transactions. The
FAA has primary responsibility for matters relatitogthe safety of air carrier flight operations;linding airline operating certificates, control
navigable air space, flight personnel, aircraftifieation and maintenance and other matters é&ffgair safety.

Authority to operate international routes and in&ional codesharing arrangements is regulatetidpOT and by the governments of the
foreign countries involved. International certifieauthorities are also subject to the approvéhefJ.S. President for conformance with
national defense and foreign policy objectives.

The Transportation Security Administration and th8. Customs and Border Protection, each a divisfahe Department of Homeland
Security, are responsible for certain civil aviat&ecurity matters, including passenger and baggagening at U.S. airports and international
passenger prescreening prior to entry into or dapafrom the U.S.

Airlines are also subject to various other fedestdte, local and foreign laws and regulations.es@mple, the U.S. Department of Justice
has jurisdiction over airline competition mattefae U.S. Postal Service has authority over cedapects of the transportation of mail. Labor
relations in the airline industry, as discusseadwehre generally governed by the Railway Labor. &ttvironmental matters are regulated by
various federal, state, local and foreign governtaleantities. Privacy of passenger and employea idategulated by domestic and foreign ¢
and regulations.




Fares and Rates

Airlines set ticket prices in all domestic and miosérnational city pairs with minimal governmentagulation, and the industry is
characterized by significant price competition. t@er international fares and rates are subjedteqgurisdiction of the DOT and the
governments of the foreign countries involved. Mahypur tickets are sold by travel agents, andsfame subject to commissions, overrides
discounts paid to travel agents, brokers and whtdes.

Route Authority

Our flight operations are authorized by certificatd public convenience and necessity and alsobgngptions and limited-entry frequency
awards issued by the DOT. The requisite approviadsh@r governments for international operatiores@ntrolled by bilateral agreements (and
a multilateral agreement in the case of the U.8.tha European Union) with, or permits or approvsdsied by, foreign countries. Because
international air transportation is governed bytaital or other agreements between the U.S. anfdthign country or countries involved,
changes in U.S. or foreign government aviationgi@d could result in the alteration or terminatidrsuch agreements, diminish the value of
our international route authorities or otherwiskeetf our international operations. Bilateral agreats between the U.S. and various foreign
countries served by us are subject to renegotidtgn time to time. The U.S. government has neggdidopen skies” agreements with many
countries, which allow unrestricted access betwker.S. and the foreign markets. These agreenmaitgle separate agreements with the
European Union and Japan.

Certain of our international route authorities smbject to periodic renewal requirements. We regeregnsion of these authorities when
as appropriate. While the DOT usually renews temoauthorities on routes where the authorizederaig providing a reasonable level of
service, there is no assurance this practice wiitiaue in general or with respect to a specifitesgal. Dormant route authorities may not be
renewed in some cases, especially where anotherchr®er indicates a willingness to provide segvic

Airport Access

Operations at four major domestic airports andadefforeign airports served by us are regulateddyernmental entities through
allocations of “slots” or similar regulatory mecligms which limit the rights of carriers to condogierations at those airports. Each slot
represents the authorization to land at or takéroff the particular airport during a specified ¢imeriod.

In the U.S., the FAA currently regulates the all@maof slots, slot exemptions, operating authdriwes, or similar capacity allocation
mechanisms at Reagan National in Washington, In@ LaGuardia, John F. Kennedy International AirgtlEK”) and Newark in the New
York City area. Our operations at these airportseegally require the allocation of slots or analogjoegulatory authorizations. Similarly, our
operations at Tokyo's Narita and Haneda Airportg)don's Gatwick and Heathrow airports and otheriational airports are regulated by
local slot coordinators pursuant to the Internatldkir Transport Association's Worldwide Scheduli@gidelines and applicable local law. We
currently have sufficient slots or analogous au#ations to operate our existing flights, and weehgenerally been able to obtain the rights to
expand our operations and to change our schedifese is no assurance, however, that we will be ethto so in the future because, among
other reasons, such allocations are subject togesaim governmental policies.

Environmental Matters

Emissions The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the ABHs authorized to regulate aircraft emissionsl &as historically
implemented emissions control standards previcadbpted by the International Civil Aviation Orgaatibn (“ICAQ”). Our aircraft comply
with existing EPA standards as applicable by endemgn date. The ICAO has adopted two additiomatadt engine emissions standards, the
first of which is applicable to engines certifigfitta December 31, 2007, and the second of whietpdicable to engines certified after
December 31, 2013. On July 6, 2011, the EPA issuddtice of Proposed Rulemaking that proposes d¢ptathiese two ICAO aircraft engine
emissions standards, but the EPA has not yet igbeefihal regulation.




Concern about aviation environmental issues, inolydlimate change and greenhouse gases, has faxet® on our operations in the Un
Kingdom and in Germany, both of which have leviaxets directly on our customers. We may face additioegulation of aircraft emissions in
the United States and abroad and become subjéather taxes, charges or additional requirememtsbtain permits or purchase allowance
emission credits for greenhouse gas emissionsriougjurisdictions. This could result in taxationpermitting requirements from multiple
jurisdictions for the same operations. Ongoingteifal discussions between the United States arat adtions as well as discussions at
ICAO Assembly and Conference of the Parties, mastmtly in Durbin in December 2011, may lead terimational treaties or other actions
focusing on reducing greenhouse gas emissions droation.

The European Union has required its member statiesplement regulations including aviation in itmisions Trading Scheme (“ETS”).
Under these regulations, any airline with flightggmating or landing in the European Union arejsaobto the ETS and, beginning in 2012, are
required to purchase emissions allowances if tHaa@iexceeds the number of free allowances alkgttd it under the ETS. We expect that this
system will impose significant costs on our operadiin the European Union. Numerous countriesudting the U.S., and airline groups
continue to oppose the European Union ETS.

Cap and trade restrictions have also been propodeé United States. In addition, other legislator regulatory action, including by the
EPA, to regulate greenhouse gas emissions is pesbilparticular, the EPA has found that greenbayesses threaten the public health and
welfare, which could result in regulation of greenke gas emissions from aircraft. In the eventléwislation or regulation is enacted in the
U.S. or in the event similar legislation or regidatis enacted in jurisdictions other than the pgen Union where we operate or where we
operate in the future, it could result in signifit@osts for us and the airline industry. In additio direct costs, such regulation may have a
greater effect on the airline industry through @ages in fuel costs that could result from fueptieps passing on increased costs that they
under such a system. We are monitoring and evaly#tie potential impact of such legislative andutatpry developments.

We seek to minimize the impact of carbon emissfoom our operations through reductions in our tmhisumption and other efforts. We
have reduced the fuel needs of our aircraft fleedigh the retirement and replacement of cert@mehts of our fleet and with newer, more
fuel efficient aircraft. In addition, we have impiented fuel saving procedures in our flight andugtbsupport operations that further reduce
carbon emissions. We are also supporting effortiet@lop alternative fuels and efforts to modertieeair traffic control system in the U.S.
part of our efforts to reduce our emissions andmmize our impact on the environment.

Noise. The Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990 redags the rights of operators of airports with ngiseblems to implement local
noise abatement programs so long as such programestdnterfere unreasonably with interstate oeigm commerce or the national air
transportation system. This statute generally giesithat local noise restrictions on Stage 3 dirfirat effective after October 1, 1990, require
FAA approval. While we have had sufficient schedglflexibility to accommodate local noise restigcts in the past, our operations could be
adversely impacted if locally-imposed regulatioesdme more restrictive or widespread.

Other Environmental MattersWe have been identified by the EPA as a potdptiabponsible party (a “PRP”) with respect to aart
Superfund Sites, and entered into consent decrestttements regarding some of these sites. Qagead disposal volume at each of these
was small or was considerdd minimisvhen compared to the total contributions of all BRPeach site. We are aware of soil and/or ground
water contamination present on our current or for@&seholds at several domestic airports. To addtes contamination, we have a program
in place to investigate and, if appropriate, reratsdthese sites. Although the ultimate outcomée$e matters cannot be predicted with
certainty, we believe that the resolution of thesdters will not have a material adverse effecbonconsolidated financial statements.

We are also subject to various other federal, statelocal laws governing environmental mattersiuigding the management and disposal of
chemicals, waste and hazardous materials, proteofisurface and subsurface waters, and regulafiair emissions and aircraft drinking
water.

Civil Reserve Air Fleet Program

We patrticipate in the Civil Reserve Air Fleet pragr (the “CRAF Program”), which permits the U.S.itaily to use the aircraft and crew
resources of participating U.S. airlines durindifhiemergencies, national emergencies or timesarf We have agreed to make available u
the CRAF Program a portion of our internationalgaange aircraft during the contract period enddegtember 30, 2012. We have also
committed aircraft to international short-rangeuiegments. The CRAF Program has only been activiate since it was created in 1951.
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Employee Matters
Railway Labor Act

Our relations with labor unions in the U.S. are@oed by the Railway Labor Act. Under the Railwapbr Act, a labor union seeking to
represent an unrepresented craft or class of erapois required to file with the National MediatBoard (the “NMB”)an application allegin
a representation dispute, along with authorizat@mnls signed by at least 35% of the employeesaindtaft or class. The NMB then investig:
the dispute and, if it finds the labor union hataoted a sufficient number of authorization cams)ducts an election to determine whether to
certify the labor union as the collective bargainiepresentative of that craft or class. A labdonmwill be certified as the representative of the
employees in a craft or class if more than 50%adés cast are for that union. A certified laboraimivould commence negotiations toward a
collective bargaining agreement with the employer.

Under the Railway Labor Act, a collective bargaghaigreement between an airline and a labor unies dot expire, but instead becomes
amendable as of a stated date. Either party mayestdghat the NMB appoint a federal mediator tdip@ate in the negotiations for a new or
amended agreement. If no agreement is reacheddiatioe, the NMB may determine, at any time, thatrapasse exists and offer binding
arbitration. If either party rejects binding arhtion, a 30-day “cooling off” period begins. At thad of this 30-day period, the parties may
engage in “self help,” unless the U.S. Presidepbayts a Presidential Emergency Board (“PEB”") teestigate and report on the dispute. The
appointment of a PEB maintains the “status quo’afordditional 60 days. If the parties do not remgteement during this period, the parties
may then engage in “self help.” “Self help” inclsdamong other things, a strike by the union oiirtipgosition of proposed changes to the
collective bargaining agreement by the airline. gress and the President have the authority to ptéself help” by enacting legislation that,
among other things, imposes a settlement on thepar

Collective Bargaining

As of December 31, 2011 , we had approximatelyd@fdll-time equivalent employees. Approximatelyd 6f these employees were
represented by unions, including the following dsticeemployee groups.

Date on which Collective

Approximate Number of Bargaining Agreement
Employee Group Active Employees Represented Union Becomes Amendable
Delta Pilots 10,85( ALPA December 31, 2012
Delta Flight Superintendents (Dispatchers) 34C PAFCA December 31, 2013
Comair Pilots 79C ALPA March 2, 2011
Comair Maintenance Employees 28C 1AM December 31, 2010
Comair Flight Attendants 55C IBT December 31, 2010

All of our agreements with workgroups at our aelisubsidiary, Comair, are currently amendable. Goimén discussions with
representatives of the respective unions and weatgredict the outcome of those discussions.

Labor unions periodically engage in organizing gffdo represent various groups of our employees,ding at our airline subsidiary, that
are not represented for collective bargaining pseso

Completion of Merger Integration

Integration of a number of the workgroups followimgr merger with Northwest Airlines (including pi$ aircraft maintenance technicians,
dispatchers, meteorologists, simulator techniciand, office and clerical staff) has been comple@ampletion of the integration of other
workgroups (including flight attendants, airportoyees and reservations employees) will be coragldtiring 2012 following the final
resolution of representation issues during thedatart of 2011. The flight attendants, airport &ayees and reservations employees each
rejected representation by unions.




Executive Officers of the Registrant

Richard H. Anderson, Age 56Chief Executive Officer of Delta since SeptembgP007; Executive Vice President of UnitedHealtio@®
and President of its Commercial Services Group €bdaer 2006-August 2007); Executive Vice PresidéttrotedHealth Group (November
2004-December 2006); Chief Executive Officer of tharest Airlines Corporation (“Northwest”) (2001-Nember 2004).

Edward H. Bastian, Age 54 President of Delta since September 1, 2007; ékasiof Delta and Chief Executive Officer Northwadtines,
Inc. (October 2008-December 2009); President andfEmancial Officer of Delta (September 2007-Gxetp2008); Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Delta (July 2005-8=spber 2007); Chief Financial Officer, Acuity Bran@une 2005-July 2005); Senior Vice
President-Finance and Controller of Delta (2000#43005); Vice President and Controller of Delt®98-2000).

Michael H. Campbell, Age 63Executive Vice President-HR & Labor Relationdaflta since October 2008; Executive Vice PresidéRt-
Labor & Communications of Delta (December 2007-®eta2008); Executive Vice President-Human ResouandsLabor Relations of Delta
(July 2006-December 2007); Of Counsel, Ford & Hsami (January 2005-July 2006); Senior Vice Presithemhan Resources and Labor
Relations, Continental Airlines, Inc. (1997-200Rgrtner, Ford & Harrison (1978-1996).

Stephen E. Gorman, Age S56Executive Vice President and Chief Operating €gffiof Delta since October 2008; Executive VicesRient-
Operations of Delta (December 2007-October 200&siBent and Chief Executive Officer of Greyhounnds, Inc. (June 200@¢tober 2007
President, North America and Executive Vice Pretid@perations Support at Krispy Kreme Doughnuts, (August 2001-June 2003);
Executive Vice President, Technical Operations Elight Operations of Northwest (February 2001-Aug2@01), Senior Vice President,
Technical Operations of Northwest (January 1999ty 2001), and Vice President, Engine Maintenabjerations of Northwest (April
1996-January 1999).

Glen W. Hauenstein, Age 51Executive Vice President-Network Planning and &mie Management of Delta since April 2006; Exeeutiv
Vice President and Chief of Network and Revenue &g@ment of Delta (August 2005-April 2006); Vice ®ml Director-Chief Commercial
Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Alitalia (28-2005); Senior Vice President-Network of Contiaéairlines (2003); Senior Vice
President-Scheduling of Continental Airlines (202003); Vice President Scheduling of ContinentaliAés (1998-2001).

Hank Halter, Age 46: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial OffioéDelta since October 2008; Senior Vice Presidénance and
Controller of Delta (May 2005-October 2008); Viceegident-Controller of Delta (March 2005-May 2008)ce President-Assistant Controller
of Delta (January 2002-March 2005); and Vice Pmsid-inance-Operations of Delta (February 2000-bexsr 2001); various finance
leadership positions at Delta and American Airlirles. (June 1993-February 2000).

Richard B. Hirst, Age 67 Senior Vice President and General Counsel ofeDsiice October 2008; Senior Vice President-Cotpokéfairs
and General Counsel of Northwest (March 2008- Cart@908); Executive Vice President and Chief Le&gfficer of KB Home (March 2004-
November 2006); Executive Vice President and Geérgsansel of Burger King Corporation (March 2-June 2003); General Counsel of the
Minnesota Twins (1999-2000); Senior Vice Presidéatporate Affairs of Northwest (1994-1999); Seniice President-General Counsel of
Northwest (199-1994); Vice President-General Counsel and SegrefaContinental Airlines (1986-1990).

Additional Information
We make available free of charge on our websiteAoumual Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reporis=orm 10-Q, our Current
Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reasigeon as reasonably practicable after thesetsegoe filed with or furnished to the

Securities and Exchange Commission. Informatioowrwebsite is not incorporated into this Form 1@#our other securities filings and is
not a part of those filings.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risk Factors Relating to Delta

Our business and results of operations are depertdanthe price and availability of aircraft fuel. igh fuel costs or cost increases could
have a materially adverse effect on our operatirgpults. Likewise, significant disruptions in the gply of aircraft fuel would materially
adversely affect our operations and operating resul

Our operating results are significantly impactedchgnges in the price and availability of aircfa#l. Fuel prices have increased
substantially since the middle part of the lastadiecand have been extremely volatile during thieskageral years. In 2011, our average fuel
price per gallon was $3.06 , a 31% increase frormwnage fuel price of $2.33 in 2010. In 2010, axerage fuel price per gallon was $2,38
8% increase from an average fuel price of $2.150@9. In 2008, our average fuel price per gallos $2.16 , a 41% increase from an average
price of $2.24 in 2007, which in turn was signifitlg higher than fuel prices just a few years earlFuel costs represented 36% , 30% 20
of our operating expense in 2011, 2010 and 20@peively. Volatility in fuel costs has had a sfgant negative effect on our results of
operations and financial condition.

Our ability to pass along the increased costs @fftiu our customers may be affected by the conipetitature of the airline industry. We
often have not been able to increase our fareffgetdully the effect of increased fuel costslie {past and we may not be able to do so in the
future. In addition, our aircraft fuel purchase tants do not provide material protection agaimitepincreases or assure the availability of our
fuel supplies. We purchase most of our aircraft funeler contracts that establish the price basedhdous market indices. We also purchase
aircraft fuel on the spot market, from offshorers@s and under contracts that permit the refireset the price.

We are currently able to obtain adequate suppfiesraraft fuel, but it is impossible to predicetifuture availability or price of aircraft fuel.
Weather-related events, natural disasters, pdliisauptions or wars involving oil-producing coties, changes in governmental policy
concerning aircraft fuel production, transportat@yrmarketing, changes in aircraft fuel productiapacity, environmental concerns and other
unpredictable events may result in additional Bigdply shortages and fuel price increases in teduAdditional increases in fuel costs or
disruptions in fuel supplies could have additiomedative effects on us.

Our fuel hedging activities are intended to provide offset against increases in jet fuel prices. IGabligation to post collateral in
connection with our hedge contracts may have a gabsial impact on our short-term liquidity.

We actively manage our fuel price risk through ddieg program intended to provide an offset agdimseases in jet fuel prices. This fuel
hedging program utilizes several different conteaed commodity types, which are used togetherdatera risk mitigating hedge portfolibhe
economic effectiveness of this hedge portfoliaégitiently tested against our financial targets. fdgage portfolio is rebalanced from time to
time according to market conditions, which may heisulocking in gains or losses on hedge contracigr to their settlement dates and may
have a negative impact on our financial results.

Our fuel hedge contracts contain margin fundinginesments, which are driven by changes in pricthefunderlying commodity and the
contracts used. The margin funding requiremeratg cause us to post margin to counterparties oraaage counterparties to post margin to
us as market prices in the underlying hedged itelmasge. If fuel prices decrease significantly from the Isvexisting at the time we enter ir
fuel hedge contracts, we may be required to psgjraficant amount of margin , which could have atenial adverse impact on the level of our
unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and shantitwestments.

Our funding obligations with respect to defined befit pension plans we sponsor is significant andhceaary materially because of
changes in investment asset returns and values.

As of December 31, 2011 , our defined benefit pemplans had an estimated benefit obligation of@amately $19.3 billion and were
funded through assets with a value of approxime&@l billion . The benefit obligation is signifitdy affected by investment asset returns and
changes in interest rates, neither of which isiendontrol of Delta. We estimate that our fundieguirement for our defined benefit pension
plans, which are governed by ERISA and have beamefr for future accruals, is approximately $700iamlin 2012. Estimates of pension plan
funding requirements can vary materially from atfuading requirements because the estimates @edban various assumptions concerning
factors outside our control, including, among otténgs, the market performance of assets; statuemuirements; and demographic data for
participants, including the number of participaatsl the rate of participant attrition. Results treaty significantly from our assumptions could
have a material impact on our future funding olilimes.
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Our substantial indebtedness may limit our finantiand operating activities and may adversely affectr ability to incur additional debt
to fund future needs.

We have substantial indebtedness, which could:
« make us more vulnerable to economic downturns,raéviedustry conditions or catastrophic externaints

« limit our ability to borrow additional money fovorking capital, restructurings, capital expengit) research and development,
investments, acquisitions or other purposes, itledeand increasing the cost of any of these bangsy

« limit our ability to withstand competitive presssrand/c

« limit our flexibility in responding to changingusiness and economic conditions, including in@da®ompetition and demand for new
services, placing us at a disadvantage when comipareur competitors that have less debt, and ngakinmore vulnerable than our
competitors who have less debt to a downturn inbmginess, industry or the economy in general.

In addition, a substantial level of indebtednesstipularly because a significant portion of ousets are currently subject to liens, could
limit our ability to obtain additional financing acceptable terms or at all for working capitapital expenditures and general corporate
purposes. We have historically had substantiaidigineeds in the operation of our business. THhigsidity needs could vary significantly a
may be affected by general economic conditiongstrg trends, performance and many other factorsvithin our control.

Agreements governing our debt, including credit @gments and indentures, include financial and othesvenants that impose
restrictions on our financial and business operatis.

Our credit facilities and indentures for secureteadave various financial and other covenantsrédwatire us to maintain, depending on the
particular agreement, minimum fixed charge coveragjes, minimum liquidity and/or minimum collatéoverage ratios. The value of the
collateral that has been pledged in each faciliagy mhange over time, which may be reflected in aigpfs of collateral required by our credit
agreements and indentures. These changes coultfresufactors that are not under our control. écline in the value of collateral could
result in a situation where we may not be able aintain the collateral coverage ratio. In additithe credit facilities and indentures contain
other negative covenants customary for such fimagscilf we fail to comply with these covenants anel unable to obtain a waiver or
amendment, an event of default would result. Tleesenants are subject to important exceptions aatifgrations.

The credit facilities and indentures also contdhreoevents of default customary for such finansinfjan event of default were to occur,
lenders or the trustee could, among other thingslade outstanding amounts due and payable, anchstirmay become restricted. We cannot
provide assurance that we would have sufficientidiiy to repay or refinance the borrowings or sateder any of the credit facilities if such
amounts were accelerated upon an event of defawdtdition, an event of default or declaratiorao€eleration under any of the credit facili
or the indentures could also result in an evemtedfult under other of our financing agreements.

Employee strikes and other labor-related disrupt®omay adversely affect our operations.

Our business is labor intensive, utilizing largentners of pilots, flight attendants, aircraft mairgace technicians, ground support persc
and other personnel. As of December 31, 2011 oceppately 16% of our workforce was unionized. Rielas between air carriers and labor
unions in the United States are governed by thivagiLabor Act, which provides that a collectivergi@ining agreement between an airline
and a labor union does not expire, but insteadrmesamendable as of a stated date. The Railwayr lfati@enerally prohibits strikes or other
types of self-help actions both before and afteoliective bargaining agreement becomes amendailess and until the collective bargaining
processes required by the Railway Labor Act hawnlexhausted. Our agreement with our pilots becameshdable in December 2012. All
our agreements with workgroups at our airline sdibsy, Comair, are currently amendable. Comainidiscussions with representatives of the
respective unions and we cannot predict the outaufitteose discussions.
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If we or our affiliates are unable to reach agrestméth any of our unionized work groups on futmegyotiations regarding the terms of tl
collective bargaining agreements or if additioredraents of our workforce become unionized, we neagubject to work interruptions or
stoppages, subject to the requirements of the Rgilvabor Act. Strikes or labor disputes with ouramized employees may adversely affect
our ability to conduct business. Likewise, if thpdrty regional carriers with whom we have contratier agreements are unable to reach
agreement with their unionized work groups on autrte future negotiations regarding the terms efrtbollective bargaining agreements,
those carriers may be subject to work interruptimnstoppages, subject to the requirements of #ikvRy Labor Act, which could have a
negative impact on our operations.

Extended interruptions or disruptions in service ahe of our hub airports could have a material adse impact on our operations.

Our business is heavily dependent on our operatibtise Atlanta airport and at our other hub aitgor Amsterdam, Cincinnati, Detroit,
Memphis, Minneapolis-St. Paul, New York-JFK, PaCisarles de Gaulle, Salt Lake City and Tokyo-Nakach of these hub operations
includes flights that gather and distribute traffiam markets in the geographic region surroundirgghub to other major cities and to other
Delta hubs. A significant interruption or disruption service at one of our hubs could have a ssrilmgact on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We are increasingly dependent on technology in @yerations, and if our technology fails or we ar@able to continue to invest in new
technology, our business may be adversely affected.

We have become increasingly dependent on technahitiptives to reduce costs and to enhance custgsm@ice in order to compete in the
current business environment. For example, we haade and continue to make significant investmentieita.com, check-in kiosks and
related initiatives. The performance and reliapitif the technology are critical to our abilitydttract and retain customers and our ability to
compete effectively. Because of the rapid pacesof developments, these initiatives will continugequire significant capital investments in
our technology infrastructure. If we are unablenake these investments, our business and operatoid be negatively affected. If we are
unable to manage these challenges effectivelybosiness and results of operations could be nedptffected.

In addition, any internal technology error or falimpacting systems hosted internally at our datders or externally at third party
locations or large scale external interruptioneichinology infrastructure we depend on, such as pdelecommunications or the internet, may
disrupt our technology network. Any individual, faised or repeated failure of technology could intmar customer service and result in
increased costs. Our technology systems and refatiedmay also be vulnerable to a variety of sauatenterruption due to events beyond our
control, including natural disasters, terrorishekis, telecommunications failures, computer virusaskers and other security issues. While we
have in place, and continue to invest in, technpkgrurity initiatives and disaster recovery plahsse measures may not be adequate or
implemented properly to prevent a business dissapind its adverse financial and reputational cgueseces to our business.

Our primary credit card processors have the abilitytake significant holdbacks in certain circumstaes. The initiation of such
holdbacks likely would have a material adverse effen our liquidity.

Most of the tickets we sell are paid for by custosngho use credit cards. Our primary credit camtessing agreements provide that no
holdback of receivables or reserve is required gixicecertain circumstances, including if we do n@intain a required level of unrestricted
cash. If circumstances were to occur that woulohalmerican Express or our VISA/MasterCard processanitiate a holdback, the negative
impact on our liquidity likely would be material.

We are at risk of losses and adverse publicity sténg from any accident involving our aircraft.

An aircraft crash or other accident could expostousgnificant tort liability. In the event thdte insurance that we carry to cover damages
arising from future accidents is not adequate, vag be forced to bear substantial losses from aidl@ct In addition, any accident involving
an aircraft that we operate or an aircraft thatisrated by an airline that is one of our regiaatiers or codeshare partners could create a
public perception that our aircraft are not safeetiable, which could harm our reputation, regulair travelers being reluctant to fly on our
aircraft and harm our business.
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Our business is subject to the effects of weathed aatural disasters and seasonality, which can sawur results to fluctuate.

Our results of operations will reflect fluctuatioinem weather, natural disasters and seasonaktyei® weather conditions and natural
disasters can significantly disrupt service anéigair traffic control problems. These events ease revenue and can also increase costs. In
addition, increases in frequency, severity or daradf thunderstorms, hurricanes, typhoons or otkeeere weather events, including from
changes in the global climate, could result inéases in fuel consumption to avoid such weathdsutence-related injuries, delays and
cancellations, any of which would increase the piddé for greater loss of revenue and higher cdstaddition, demand for air travel is
typically higher in the June and September quarparticularly in international markets, becauseréhs more vacation travel during these
periods than during the remainder of the year. Beeaf fluctuations in our results from weathetural disasters and seasonality, operating
results for a historical period are not necessanilycative of operating results for a future pdramd operating results for an interim period are
not necessarily indicative of operating resultsaorentire year.

An extended disruption in services provided by éhird party regional carriers could have a materialdverse effect on our results of
operations.

We utilize the services of third party providersasimumber of areas in support of our operationsateintegral to our business, including
third party carriers in the Delta Connection pragr&Vhile we have agreements with these providexsdéfine expected service performance,
we do not have direct control over the operatidithi@se carriers. To the extent that a significhstuption in our regional operations occurs
because any of these providers are unable to petfegir obligations over an extended period of {io& revenue may be reduced or our
expenses may be increased resulting in a matehi@rse effect on our results of operations.

If we experience losses of senior management pensband other key employees, our operating resalisild be adversely affected.

We are dependent on the experience and industmylkdge of our officers and other key employees<ecate our business plans. If we
experience a substantial turnover in our leaderahipother key employees, our performance coultdterially adversely impacted.
Furthermore, we may be unable to attract and retddtitional qualified executives as needed in theré.

Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwartts offset future taxable income for U.S. federaldome tax purposes is subject to
limitation.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal ReesBode of 1986, as amended, a corporation thargads an “ownership change” is
subject to limitations on its ability to utilizesipre-change net operating losses (“NOLs”), toatffsture taxable income. In general, an
ownership change occurs if the aggregate stock shipeof certain stockholders (generally 5% shal@drs, applying certain look-through
rules) increases by more than 50 percentage powetssuch stockholders' lowest percentage ownetklripg the testing period (generally
three years).

As of December 31, 2011, Delta reported a conatgidifederal pretax NOL carryforward of approxinma®16.8 billion . Both Delta and
Northwest experienced an ownership change in 26@7rasult of their respective plans of reorgaiopatinder Chapter 11 of the U.
Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the merger, Nortivexperienced a subsequent ownership change. &stteexperienced a subsequent
ownership change on December 17, 2008 as a rdgtk onerger, the issuance of equity to employee®nnection with the merger and other
transactions involving the sale of our common stwitkin the testing period.

The Delta and Northwest ownership changes resuitorg the merger could limit the ability to utilizere-change NOLs that were not
subject to limitation, and could further limit théility to utilize NOLs that were already subjeetimitation. Limitations imposed on the ability
to use NOLs to offset future taxable income cowdse U.S. federal income taxes to be paid eahiger btherwise would be paid if such
limitations were not in effect and could cause sNE_s to expire unused, in each case reducingimireting the benefit of such NOLs.
Similar rules and limitations may apply for statedme tax purposes. NOLs generated subsequenteniber 17, 2008 are not limited.
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Risk Factors Relating to the Airline Industry

The airline industry is highly competitive and, e cannot successfully compete in the marketplamg, business, financial condition ar
operating results will be materially adversely afted.

The airline industry is highly competitive, markieg significant competition with respect to routises, schedules (both timing and
frequency), services, products, customer servideframuent flyer programs. Our domestic operatimssubject to competition from both
traditional network and discount carriers, somgbich may have lower costs than we do and proviteice at low fares to destinations ser
by us. In particular, we face significant competitiat our domestic hub airports in Atlanta, CinaitinDetroit, Memphis, Minneapolis-St. Paul,
New York-JFK and Salt Lake City either directly at thosgaits or at the hubs of other airlines that acaied in close proximity to our hubs.
We also face competition in smaller to medium-sizetkets from regional jet operators.

Discount carriers, including Southwest, AirTranynowned by Southwest) and JetBlue, have placedfisignt competitive pressure on us
in the United States and on other network cariietee domestic market. In addition, other netweekriers have also significantly reduced
their costs over the last several years throughuetsiring and bankruptcy reorganization. Ameribas recently filed for bankruptcy protecti
which may enable it to substantially reduce itago®ur ability to compete effectively dependspant, on our ability to maintain a competitive
cost structure. If we cannot maintain our costs e@vmpetitive level, then our business, finano@aldition and operating results could be
materially adversely affected.

Our international operations are subject to contipatfrom both domestic and foreign carriers. Thylowalliance and other marketing and
codesharing agreements with foreign carriers, th8iers have increased their ability to sell int¢ional transportation, such as services tc
beyond traditional European and Asian gateway<citmilarly, foreign carriers have obtained insezhaccess to interior U.S. passenger
traffic beyond traditional U.S. gateway cities thgh these relationships. In particular, alliana@sted by domestic and foreign carriers,
including SkyTeam, the Star Alliance (among UnifgdLines, Continental Airlines, Lufthansa Germairlies, Air Canada and others) and
the oneworld alliance (among American Airlines,tBh Airways, Qantas and others) have significaimtyeased competition in international
markets. The adoption of liberalized Open Skiesafioh Agreements with an increasing number of coemtiround the world, including in
particular the Open Skies Treaties that the U.Swith the Member States of the European UnionJapén, could significantly increase
competition among carriers serving those markets.

Several joint ventures among U.S. and foreign egsriincluding our transatlantic joint venture with France-KLM and Alitalia, have
received grants of antitrust immunity allowing theticipating carriers to coordinate schedulegipgi, sales and inventory. Other joint
ventures that have received anti-trust immunityude a transatlantic alliance among United, Comitiale Air Canada and Lufthansa, a
transpacific joint venture among United, Continéatzd All Nippon Airways, a transatlantic joint weine among American, British Airways
and Iberia, and a transpacific joint venture betwAmerican and Japan Air Lines.

Consolidation in the domestic airline industry adnges in international alliances have alteredvati@ontinue to alter the competitive
landscape in the industry by resulting in the faioraof airlines and alliances with increased ficiahresources, more extensive global
networks and altered cost structures.

The rapid spread of contagious illnesses can havaaterial adverse effect on our business and resuit operations.

The rapid spread of a contagious illness can hawatarial adverse effect on the demand for worldvét travel and therefore have a
material adverse effect on our business and resttiperations. Moreover, our operations could égatively affected if employees are
guarantined as the result of exposure to a contagilmess. Similarly, travel restrictions or optaal problems resulting from the rapid spread
of contagious illnesses in any part of the worlavitich we operate may have a materially adverseanpn our business and results of
operations.
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Terrorist attacks or international hostilities magdversely affect our business, financial conditiamd operating results.

The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 cafisgthmental and permanent changes in the airlithesitny, including substantial revenue
declines and cost increases, which resulted insitngawvide liquidity issues. Potential terrorist attackssecurity breaches or fear of such eve
even if not made directly on the airline industrguld negatively affect us and the airline industrye potential negative effects include
increased security (including as a result of oobgl operations), insurance and other costs anddesnue from increased ticket refunds and
decreased ticket sales. Our financial resourcebtmigt be sufficient to absorb the adverse effetemy further terrorist attacks or other
international hostilities involving the United Stat

The airline industry is subject to extensive goverant regulation, and new regulations may increassr @perating costs.

Airlines are subject to extensive regulatory arghleompliance requirements that result in sigaificcosts. For instance, the FAA from
time to time issues directives and other regulati@hating to the maintenance and operation ofafirthat necessitate significant expenditures.
We expect to continue incurring expenses to comillly the FAA's regulations.

Other laws, regulations, taxes and airport ratescliarges have also been imposed from time tottiatesignificantly increase the cost of
airline operations or reduce revenues. The industngavily taxed. For example, the Aviation andri@portation Security Act mandates the
federalization of certain airport security proceziiand imposes security requirements on airpodsalines, most of which are funded by a
per ticket tax on passengers and a tax on airliffes federal government has on several occasiapoped a significant increase in the per
ticket tax and has recently proposed additionahdepe fees. A ticket tax increase or additionakfaf implemented, could negatively impact
our results of operations.

Proposals to address congestion issues at ceitparta or in certain airspace, particularly in tdertheast United States, have included
concepts such as “congestion-based” landing fesbat, ductions” or other alternatives that could asg a significant cost on the airlines
operating in those airports or airspace and imhectbility of those airlines to respond to competiactions by other airlines. In contrast, the
failure of the federal government to upgrade th®.lair traffic control system has resulted in delagd disruptions of air traffic during peak
travel periods in certain congested markets. Theréto improve the air traffic control system élead to increased delays and inefficiencies
in flight operations as demand for U.S. air tramneleases, having a material adverse effect operations. Failure to update the air traffic
control system in a timely manner, and the subistigfitinding requirements of an updated systemniet be imposed on air carriers, may have
an adverse impact on our financial condition arsdilte of operations.

Events related to extreme weather delays causdd@ieto promulgate regulations imposing potentiaiyere financial penalties upon
airlines that have flights experiencing extendetht delays. These regulations could have a negatipact on our operations in certain
circumstances.

Future regulatory action concerning climate chaagg aircraft emissions could have a significaré@fbn the airline industry. For exam
the European Commission has adopted an emissixfiagrscheme applicable to all flights operatinghie European Union, including flights
to and from the United States. We expect thatdfrssem will impose additional costs on our operetim the European Union. Other laws or
regulations such as this emissions trading schemther U.S. or foreign governmental actions mayesskly affect our operations and
financial results, either through direct costs um operations or through increases in costs fdiugtthat could result from jet fuel suppliers
passing on increased costs that they incur unaér ssystem.

We and other U.S. carriers are subject to domasiticforeign laws regarding privacy of passengereangloyee data that are not consistent
in all countries in which we operate. In additiorthhe heightened level of concern regarding privafgyassenger data in the United States,
certain European government agencies are initidtiqgiries into airline privacy practices. Complianwith these regulatory regimes is
expected to result in additional operating costs@uld impact our operations and any future exipansn addition, a security breach in which
passenger or employee data is exposed could fegliffruption to our operations, damage to our t&en and significant costs.
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Our insurance costs have increased substantiallyga®sult of the September 11, 2001 terrorist akscand further increases in
insurance costs or reductions in coverage could bavmaterial adverse impact on our business andrafieg results.

As a result of the terrorist attacks on Septemfie2001, aviation insurers significantly (1) reddidbe maximum amount of insurance
coverage available to commercial air carriers ifility to persons (other than employees or pagses) for claims resulting from acts of
terrorism, war or similar events and (2) increaedpremiums for such coverage and for aviationrgasce in general. Since September 24,
2001, the U.S. government has been providing Utlhes with war-risk insurance to cover lossesluding those resulting from terrorism, to
passengers, third parties (ground damage) andrdrafahull. The coverage currently extends thio@gptember 30, 2012 , and we expect the
coverage to be further extended. The withdrawalosernment support of airline war-risk insuranceuldaequire us to obtain war-risk
insurance coverage commercially, if available. Scmimmercial insurance could have substantially dessrable coverage than that currently
provided by the U.S. government, may not be adegeaprotect our risk of loss from future actserforism, may result in a material increase
to our operating expenses or may not be obtairattdd, resulting in an interruption to our opeoas.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Flight Equipment

During 2011 , we (1) entered into an agreement ®dking to purchase 100 B-737-900ER aircraft; (&chased 12 previously owned MD-
90 aircraft and one previously leased B-767-306rait; and (3) leased six MD-90 aircraft and on@3-200 aircraft.

Our active aircraft fleet, commitments, and optiah®ecember 31, 2011 are summarized in the foliguable:

Current Fleet @

Capital Operating Average

Aircraft Type Owned Lease Lease Total Age Commitments ® Options

B-737-700 10 — — 10 2.9 — —
B-737-800 71 — — 71 10.9 — —
B-737-900ER — — — — — 10C 30
B-747-400 4 8 3 15 18.5 — —
B-757-200 84 37 33 154 18.7 — —
B-757-300 16 — — 16 8.8 — —
B-767-300 10 2 4 16 20.9 — —
B-767-300ER 50 4 4 58 15.8 — 4
B-767-400ER 21 — — 21 10.8 — 8
B-777-200ER 8 — — 8 11.9 — —
B-777-200LR 10 — — 10 2.7 — 14
B-787-8 — — — — — 18 —
A319-100 55 — 2 57 9.9 — —
A320-200 41 — 28 69 16.8 — —
A330-200 11 — — 11 6.8 — —
A330-300 21 — — 21 6.4 — —
MD-88 67 50 — 117 21.5 — —
MD-90 28 1 — 29 15.1 9 7
DC9-50 24 — — 24 33.8 — —
CRJ-100 15 9 16 40 13.9 — —
CRJ-700 15 — — 15 8.1 — —
CRJ-900 13 — — 13 4.1 — —
Embraer 175 — — — — — — 36
Total 574 111 9C 77% 15.6 127 99

@ Excludes certain aircraft we own or lease whichaguerated by third party contract carriers on aehiddf shown in the table belc

@ Excludes our orders for five A319-100 aircraft awd A320-200 aircraft because we have the right to caneselorder:

The following table summarizes the active aircfigit operated by third party contract carriersoon behalf at December 31, 2011 :

Fleet Type

Carrier CRJ-200 CRJ-700 CRJ-900 ERJ-145 Embraer 170  Embraer 175 Total

ExpressJet Airlines, In€. 99 46 10 — — — 15&
Pinnacle 122 — 16 — — — 13¢
SkyWest Airlines, Inc. 60 21 21 — — — 10z
Chautauqua Airlines, Inc. — — — 24 — — 24
Compass — — — — 5 36 41
Mesaba 19 — 41 — — — 6C
Shuttle America Corporation — — — — 14 16 3C
Total 30C 67 88 24 19 52 55(C

®  Formerly, Atlantic Southeast Airlines, I

18




Aircraft on Option

Our options to purchase additional aircraft at Deloer 31, 2011 are detailed in the following table:

After

Aircraft on Option 2012 2013 2014 2014 Total
B-737-900ER — — 6 24 30
B-767-300ER — — 1 3 4
B-767-400ER — 1 2 5 8
B-777-200LR — 2 4 8 14
MD-90 5 2 — — 7
Embraer 175 — 4 18 14 36
Total 5 9 31 54 99

Ground Facilities

We lease most of the land and buildings that weipgcOur largest aircraft maintenance base, vamoasputer, cargo, flight kitchen and
training facilities and most of our principal offis are located at or near the Atlanta airportaod leased from the City of Atlanta generally
under long-term leases. We own our Atlanta resgmatcenter, other real property in Atlanta andftener Northwest headquarters building
and flight training buildings, which are locatedanéhe Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airp@ther owned facilities include reservations
centers in Minot, North Dakota and Chisholm, Minstes and a data processing center in Eagan, Miteneédfe also own property in Tokyo,
including a 1.3-acre site in downtown Tokyo and3aa8re land parcel, 512-room hotel and flight kifchocated near Tokyo's Narita
International Airport.

We lease ticket counter and other terminal spgoerading areas and air cargo facilities in moghefairports that we serve. At most
airports, we have entered into use agreements vgnlide for the non-exclusive use of runways,weis, and other improvements and
facilities; landing fees under these agreementmally are based on the number of landings and weifyaircraft. These leases and use
agreements generally run for periods of less themyear to 30 years or more, and often containigians for periodic adjustments of lease
rates, landing fees and other charges applicaldlenthat type of agreement. We also lease airgrafittenance facilities and air cargo facilities
at certain airports, including, among others: @) main Atlanta maintenance base; (2) our Atlaitaargo facilities; and (3) our hangar anc
cargo facilities at the Cincinnati/Northern Kentydhkternational Airport, Salt Lake City Internati@nAirport, Detroit Metropolitan
International Airport, Minneapolis-St. Paul Intetioaal Airport and Seattle-Tacoma Internationalp®irt. Our aircraft maintenance facility
leases generally require us to pay the cost ofigiry, operating and maintaining such facilitieg;luding, in some cases, amounts necessz
pay debt service on special facility bonds isswefiitance their construction. We also lease manketicketing and reservations offices in
certain locations for varying terms.

In recent years, some airports have increasedugigdo increase the rates charged to airlinesvel$ that we believe are unreasonable.
extent to which such charges are limited by stadutegulation and the ability of airlines to castteuch charges has been subject to litigation
and to administrative proceedings before the D®thd limitations on such charges are relaxedherability of airlines to challenge such
proposed rate increases is restricted, the ragageti by airports to airlines may increase subistignt

The City of Atlanta is currently implementing pantis of a 10 year capital improvement program (tB#") at the Atlanta airport. The CIP
includes, among other things, a 9,000 foot fulksmr runway that opened in May 2006, related ddfimprovements, a new international
terminal and gate capacity that is scheduled tm ap&ay 2012, new cargo and other support faeditind roadway and other infrastructure
improvements. The CIP will not be complete untilestst 2014, with individual projects schedulethéoconstructed at different times. A
combination of federal grants, passenger facilitgrge revenues, increased user rentals and fegstlar airport funds are expected to be used
to pay CIP costs directly and through the payménebt service on bonds.
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During the December 2010 quarter, we began a réaf@went project at JFK, where we currently opepaiaarily at Terminal 2 for
domestic flights and Terminal 3 for internationglits under leases with the Port Authority of N¥ark and New Jersey (“Port Authority”).
We estimate this project will cost approximatelyZshillion and will be completed in stages ovegefigears. We also conduct some flights from
Terminal 4, which is operated by JFK InternatioAal Terminal, LLC, a private party, under a leasiéwthe Port Authority. Our JFK
redevelopment project currently includes the (Hagrtement and expansion of Terminal 4, includirgabnstruction of nine new gates; (2)
construction of a passenger connector between hafr®iand Terminal 4; (3) demolition of the outdbierminal 3 facilities; and (4)
development of the Terminal 3 site for aircrafthpag positions. Upon completion of the Terminalxpansion, expected to occur in 2013, we
will relocate our operations from Terminal 3 to f@mal 4, proceed with demolition activities in Temal 3 and thereafter conduct coordinated
flight operations from Terminals 2 and 4. For imf@tion about special project bonds issued to fusdbstantial majority of the project and our
30 year sublease of space in Terminal 4 from tlegaipr of Terminal 4, see Note 4 of the Notes &oQonsolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2011, we executed agreements with W8ags and the Port Authority, allowing us to expad flight operations into
Terminal C at New York's LaGuardia Airport. Thiojact allows us to accommodate additional flighte iLaGuardia. As part of the
expansion, we are also investing $100 million &ate an expanded main terminal at LaGuardia in falsC and D and will build a bridge to
link the two terminals.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
First Bag Fee Antitrust Litigation

In May, June and July, 2009, a number of purpoctads action antitrust lawsuits were filed in th&District Courts for the Northern
District of Georgia, the Middle District of Florigdand the District of Nevada, against Delta andrfan Airways (“AirTran”). In these cases,
the plaintiffs originally alleged that Delta andrfian engaged in collusive behavior in violatiorSefction 1 of the Sherman Act in November
2008 based upon certain public statements madetimb@r 2008 by AirTran's CEO at an analyst confegezoncerning fees for the first
checked bag, Delta's imposition of a fee for the&t thecked bag on November 4, 2008 and AirTramxsition of a similar fee on November
12, 2008. The plaintiffs sought to assert claim®ehalf of an alleged class consisting of passengho paid the first bag fee after December
5, 2008 and seek injunctive relief and unspecifietlle damages. All of these cases have been ¢data for pre-trial proceedings in the
Northern District of Georgia by the Mu-District Litigation (“MDL”) Panel.

In February 2010, the plaintiffs in the MDL procéaegifiled a consolidated amended class action caimpivhich substantially expanded
scope of the original complaint. In the consolidagenended complaint, plaintiffs add new allegatiomscerning alleged signaling by both
Delta and AirTran based upon statements made tm#estment community by both carriers relatingntdustry capacity levels during 2008-
2009. Plaintiffs also add a new cause of actionrsgi®elta alleging attempted monopolization inlatmn of Section 2 of the Sherman Act,
paralleling a claim previously asserted againsT&in but not Delta.

In August 2010, the District Court issued an omglemting Delta's motion to dismiss the Sectiona2na) but denying its motion to dismiss
the Section 1 claim. Plaintiffs have filed a motiorcertify the Section 1 class, which remains fregudDelta believes the claims in these cases
are without merit and is vigorously defending thiesesuits.

EU Regulation 261 Class Action Litigation

In February 2011, a putative class action was fitetthe U.S. District Court for the Northern Distrof lllinois seeking to represent all US
residents who were passengers on flights duringénied from Feb 2009 to the present who are atllggentitied to compensation under EU
Regulation 261 because their flight was cancelledietayed by more than 3 hours. Plaintiffs alldt Delta has incorporated a duty to pay
compensation into its contract of carriage, anemssclaim for breach of contract as the basistfeir cause of action. The complaint seeks
recovery of the EU Regulation 261 compensationa®Oefor each US resident on a flight qualifying $oich compensation. Delta disputes the
allegations in the Complaint, has filed a motiomi®miss all claims, and intends to vigorously deff¢he matter.

Canadian Passenger Surcharge Antitrust Litigation

On July 31, 2009, two parallel putative class atiwere filed against a number of Canadian, Ad¢amopean, and U.S. carriers (including
Delta) in the Ontario Superior Court of JusticettBallege that the defendants colluded to fix thegpof passenger surcharges, in Canada-Asia
and Canada-Europe markets respectively. Therecaalleggations in the complaints of any specificlacDelta in furtherance of either

conspiracy. The complaints seek damages in exé¢&sk00 million. We believe the allegations agaidstta are without merit and intend to
vigorously defend these cases.

*%%
For a discussion of certain environmental mattegs, “Business-Environmental Matters” in Item 1.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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Part I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stockliange. The following table sets forth for the pésiindicated the highest and lowest
sales price for our common stock as reported oMNMSE.

Common Stock

High Low

Fiscal 2011

First Quarter $ 1321 % 9.71
Second Quarter $ 116C $ 8.91
Third Quarter $ 9.41 % 6.41
Fourth Quarter $ 9.1 $ 6.64
Fiscal 2010

First Quarter $ 149C $ 10.9:
Second Quarter $ 149¢ % 10.9C
Third Quarter $ 128( $ 9.6(
Fourth Quarter $ 145 % 10.9¢

Holders
As of January 31, 2012, there were approximatél$@holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends
We expect to retain any future earnings to fundapearations and meet our cash and liquidity needaddition, our ability to pay dividends

or repurchase common stock is restricted underaeotour credit facilities. Therefore, we do rotticipate paying any dividends on our
common stock or repurchasing common stock for dheseeable future.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative togsilimns during the period from April 30, 2007 to Bexber 31, 2011 of our common
stock to the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock IndextaadAmex Airline Index. The comparison assumes $48¢ invested on April 30, 2007 in
each of our common stock and the indices and asstimeall dividends were reinvested. Data forguiprior to April 30, 2007 is not shown
because of the period we were in bankruptcy andbttieof comparability of financial results befaed after April 30, 2007.

Cumulative Total Returns
$120.00

$100.00

$E80.00

$60.00

$40.00

$20.00 -

$_ T T T T
0443007 1273107 1231408 12/31/09 12/3110 1203111

[—¢—DAl B S&P 500 INDEY —&—AMEX AIRLINE INDEX |

The Amex Airline Index (ticker symbol XAL) consisté Alaska Air Group, Inc., AMR Corporation, Copaldings SA, Delta, GOL Linhg
Areas Inteligentes S.A., Hawaiian Holdings, InetBlue Airways Corporation, LAN Airlines SA, Ryan&ioldings plc, SkyWest, Inc.,
Southwest Airlines Company, TAM S.A., United Costital Holdings, Inc. and US Airways Group, Inc.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We withheld the following shares of common stoclsatisfy tax withholding obligations during the @eaber 2011 quarter from the

distributions described below. These shares malebened to be “issuer purchases” of shares thaeqered to be disclosed pursuant to this
Item.

Maximum Number of Shares (or
Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value) of

Toultumberof AVSGEPce | PurhesedasParter | Shares Tt vy veBe
Period ) Share or Programs @ Programs
October 1-31, 2011 24,04¢ $7.74 24,04¢ ®
November 1-30, 2011 1,922,77 $8.33 1,922,77 ®
December 1-31, 2011 15,44: $8.31 15,44 @
Total 1,962,26! 1,962,26!

@ Shares were withheld from employees to satisfyai@tax obligations due in connection with grarftstock under the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Penfance Compensation

Plan (the "2007 Plan"). The 2007 Plan providestierwithholding of shares to satisfy tax obligatiolt does not specify a maximum number of shdrasdan be withheld for
this purpose. See Note 12 of the Notes to the Gfated Financial Statements elsewhere in this Fb@AK for more information about the 2007 Plan.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

On October 29, 2008, a wholly-owned subsidiarywksanerged with and into Northwest. Our Consolidataancial Statements include
the results of operations of Northwest and its WhoWwned subsidiaries for periods after OctoberZ¥8.

On September 15, 2005, we and substantially aluofsubsidiaries (the “Delta Debtors”) filed volant petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. On April 3007 (the “Effective Date”), the Delta Debtorsexged from bankruptcy. Upon
emergence from Chapter 11, we adopted fresh sfaorting which resulted in our becoming a new gritit financial reporting purposes.
Accordingly, consolidated financial data on or af#ay 1, 2007 is not comparable to the consolidéitehcial data prior to that date.

References in the tables below to “Successor” tef€relta on or after May 1, 2007, after givingeeffto (1) the cancellation of Delta
common stock issued prior to the Effective Datg¢ tlf2 issuance of new Delta common stock and cedbt securities in accordance with the
Delta Debtors' Joint Plan of Reorganization andt{8)application of fresh start reporting. Refeemnto “Predecessor” refer to Delta prior to
May 1, 2007.

The following tables are derived from our auditedsolidated financial statements, and presenttseldimancial and operating data for the
(1) years ended December 31, 2011 , 2010 , 2002@0& of the Successor, (2) eight months endedrbeee31, 2007 of the Successor and
(3) four months ended April 30, 2007 of the Predsoe.

Consolidated Summary of Operations

Successor Predecessor

Year Ended December 31, Efé%r&t Igﬂé)crgrr;sber FouErnl\gggths

(in millions, except share data) 2011 2010 2009 2008 31, 2007 April 30, 2007
Operating revenue $ 3511t $ 31,758 $ 28,060 $ 22,697 $ 13,35¢ $ 5,79¢
Operating expense 33,14( 29,53¢ 28,38: 31,01 12,56: 5,49¢
Operating income (loss) 1,97¢ 2,217 (3249 (8,319 79€ 30C
Other expense, net (1,206) (1,609 (1,25%) (727) (277) (221)
Income (loss) before reorganization items, net 76¢ 60¢ (1,587 (9,047 52t 79
Reorganization items, net — — — — — 1,21¢
Income (loss) before income taxes 76¢ 60¢ (1,587 (9,047 52t 1,294
Income tax benefit (provision) 85 (15) 344 11¢ (211) 4
Net income (loss) $ 854 $ 59z $ (1,237 $ (8,929 $ 314 $ 1,29¢
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 1.0z $ 071 $ 150 $ (19.0¢) $ 0.8C $ 6.5¢
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 101 $ 0.7C $ (1.50 $ (19.0¢) $ 0.7¢ $ 4.6

The following are included in the results above:

Successor Predecessor

Year Ended December 31, Efé%g Bﬂé’c’g&sber FouErnl\gggths

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009 2008 31, 2007 April 30, 2007
Severance, impairment charges and other $ 24z $ 217 $ 132 $ 15¢ $ — 3 =
Merger-related items — 23¢ 27¢ 97¢ — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt 68 391 83 — — —
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets — — — 7,29¢ — —
Intraperiod income tax allocation — — (327) — — —
Income tax benefit associated with intangible asset — — — (119 — —
Reorganization items, net — — — — — 1,21t
Total $ 31C $ 841 $ 16¢ $ 8,30¢ $ — $ 1,21¢
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Other Financial and Statistical Data(Unaudited)

Successor

Predecessor

Eight Months

Year Ended December 31, Ended Four Months
December 31, Ended April
Consolidated® 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 30, 2007
Revenue passenger miles (millions) 192,76° 193,16¢ 188,94: 134,87¢ 85,02¢ 37,03¢
Available seat miles (millions) 234,65t 232,68« 230,33: 165,63¢ 104,42 47,330
Passenger mile yield 15.7(¢ 14.11¢ 12.6(¢ 14.52¢ 13.8¢¢ 13.84¢
Passenger revenue per available seat mile 12.8¢¢ 11.71¢ 10.34¢ 11.82¢ 11.3(¢ 10.8¢
Operating cost per available seat mile 14.1%¢ 12.6¢¢ 12.32¢ 18.72¢ 12.0¢ 11.61¢
Passenger load factor 82.1% 83.(% 82.(% 81.4% 81.4% 78.2%
Fuel gallons consumed (millions) 3,85¢ 3,82: 3,85: 2,74( 1,742 792
Average price per fuel galldfi $ 3.06 % 232 % 215 % 3.1¢€ 236 % 1.9
Average price per fuel gallon, adjustéd $ 3.0t % 23 $ 21t % 3.1¢ 23t % 1.9¢
Full-time equivalent employees, end of period 78,39: 79,68 81,10¢ 84,30¢ 55,04« 52,70¢

@
not own.

@ Includes the impact of fuel hedge activ
@)

Information").

December 31,

Includes the operations of our contract carriedenrtapacity purchase agreements, except full-¢iquévalent employees which excludes employees wiract carriers we do

Adjusted for mark-to-market adjustments for fuelipes recorded in periods other than the settlependd (a non-GAAP financial measure as definetBimpplemental

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Total assets $ 43,49¢ $§ 43,18t $ 43,78¢ $ 45,08: $ 32,42:
Long-term debt and capital leases (including curneaturities) $ 13,797 $ 1525 ¢ 17,19¢ $ 16,57 $  9,00(
Stockholders' (deficit) equity $ (1,396 % 897 $ 24t $ 874 $ 10,11
Common stock outstanding 84t 83t 784 69t 292

25




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Financial Highlights - 2011 Compared to 2010

Our net income for 2011 was $854 million , or $1p@t diluted share. This is $261 million higherrtt29010 despite significantly higher
fuel costs. Total operating revenue increased Bllidn , on an 11% increase in passenger miledyiptimarily due to higher passenger
revenues as we were able to adjust ticket pricessponse to higher fuel prices. Total operatingeese was up $3.6 billion , or 12% , driven
primarily by a $2.9 billion increase in fuel exper(@cluding our contract carriers under capacitychase agreements).

Fuel price volatility continues to represent a gigant risk to our business and the airline indysts a whole. Our fuel cost per gallon
increased 31% from 2010 to 2011 . During 20111, éxpense, including amounts under contract caageeements, increased by $2.9 billion
and now represents 36% of total operating expdhseng 2011 , gains from our hedging program reducel expense by $420 million .
Including fuel hedge activity, our average price foel gallon in 2011 was $3.06 as compared to¥$h32010 .

Our consolidated operating cost per available sélat("CASM") for 2011 increased to 14.12 cents paned to 12.69 cents in 2010 ,
primarily reflecting higher fuel prices. For 201CASM-Ex (a nhon-GAAP financial measure as defimretiSupplemental Information" below)
was 8.53 cents, or 3% higher than 2010 , primaeflecting higher revenue-related expenses andissland related costs.

During 2011 , we reduced our total debt and cafdtaes by $1.5 billion and ended the year witd $illion in unrestricted liquidity,
consisting of cash and cash equivalents, shorttevestments and availability under credit faaigti

Fleet Strategy

During 2011, we entered into an agreement with Bbeing Company ("Boeing") to purchase 100 B-737ER@ircraft with deliveries
beginning in 2013 and continuing through 2018. Vdeehobtained committed lortgrm financing for a substantial portion of the ghase prici
of these aircraft. The Boeing agreement and ourspia bring into service 30 to 40 previously owh&d-90 aircraft over the next two to three
years will enable us to replace on a cap-neutral basis older, less efficient aircraft salied to be retired. The majority of the MD-90 a#ftr
scheduled to come into service over the next twbrnee years were purchased or leased in 2010@td Zhese B-737-900ER and MD-90
aircraft will have lower unit costs than the aifttaey are replacing as a result of lower maintegacosts and fuel efficiencies.

In addition to lowering unit costs, we are alsodsting in our fleet to enhance the customer expeeieThe state-of-the-art B-737-900ER
will offer an industry leading customer experienioejuding expanded carry-on baggage space andmaieo cabin. By the end of 2013, our
entire widebody international fleet will be updateith full flat-bed seats in BusinessElite. We cdeted the installation of full flat-bed seats in
the BusinessElite cabin of our B-777 and B-767-A@kcraft during 2011. Due to the success of aortemy Comfort product, which we
began offering during the 2011 summer on long-rgeknational flights, we are expanding Economy @wirthroughout our mainline and
regional fleet by the summer of 2012. We have bbsen investing in our domestic and regional flegty in-flight WiFi on all two-class
domestic aircraft, interior upgrades and the itestian of additional First Class seating.

New York Strateg

Strengthening our position in New York City is ampiortant part of our network strategy. As discudseldw, key components of this
strategy are operating a domestic hub at New Yd&&kBGuardia Airport ("LaGuardia”) and creating astaf-the-art facility at New York's John
F. Kennedy International Airport ("JFK").

LaGuardia.During December 2011, we closed the transactionteatplated under an agreement with US Airways tiolg the exchange
of takeoff and landing rights (each a "slot paatLaGuardia and Reagan National airports, whidhallow us to operate a new domestic hub
at LaGuardia. Under the agreement, (1) Delta aedui2 slot pairs at LaGuardia from US Airways é2)dUS Airways acquired from Delta
42 slot pairs at Reagan National; the rights taaigeadditional daily service to Sdo Paulo, Braz2015; and $66.5 million in cash.
Additionally, Delta divested 16 slot pairs at La@dia and eight slot pairs at Reagan National tinais with limited or no service at those
airports.
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Following the closing of the transaction, we anrmdthe expansion of our service at LaGuardia 220 include more than 100 new
flights and 29 new destinations. Our expanded adpeealill add nonstop service to top U.S. busineaskets and additional frequencies to
business markets currently served. As part of fipamsion, we are also investing $100 million toateean expanded main terminal at
LaGuardia in Terminals C and D and will build adge to link the two terminals.

JFK. While our expanded LaGuardia schedule is focusegroviding industry-leading domestic service, othiedule at JFK is being
optimized in 2012 for international and trans-coatital flights, as well as improved coordinatiothwour SkyTeam alliance partners. At JFK,
we currently operate domestic flights primarilyTaérminal 2 and international flights at Terminahi®d, to a lesser extent, Terminal 4. Our
redevelopment project at JFK, which began in 2@Lérently includes the (1) enhancement and exparafid erminal 4, including the
construction of nine new international gates; @)struction of a passenger connector between Tafr@iand Terminal 4; (3) demolition of t
outdated Terminal 3, which was constructed in 186@; (4) development of the Terminal 3 site fociaift parking positions. We estimate this
project will cost approximately $1.2 billion andllie completed in stages over five years. Consitonat Terminal 4 has commenced and is
scheduled to be completed in 2013. Upon compleatfahe Terminal 4 expansion, we will relocate operations from Terminal 3 to Terminal
4, proceed with the demolition of Terminal 3, ahdreafter conduct coordinated flight operationgnffberminals 2 and 4. Once our project is
complete, we expect that passengers will benaiihfan enhanced customer experience and improvedtap®l performance, including
reduced taxi times and better on-time performance.
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Results of Operations - 2011 Compared to 2010

Operating Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase

(in millions) 2011 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Passenger:
Mainline $ 23,86« $ 21,40t $ 2,45¢ 11%
Regional carriers 6,39:¢ 5,85( 54: 9%
Total passenger revenue 30,257 27,25¢ 2,99¢ 11%
Cargo 1,027 85( 177 21%
Other 3,831 3,64 184 5%
Total operating revenue $ 35,11F $ 31,758 $ 3,36( 11%
Increase (Decrease)
vs. Year Ended December 31, 2010
Year Ended Passenger RPMs ASMs Passenger
(in millions) December 31, 2011 Revenue (Traffic) (Capacity)  Mile Yield PRASM Load Factor
Domestic $ 13,12¢ 11% —% (D)% 11% 11% 0.4 pts
Atlantic 5,59( 9% (1)% 2% 1C% 7% (2.1) pts
Pacific 3,36¢ 20% 4% 10 % 15% 9% (4.7) pts
Latin America 1,77 13% — % — % 13% 13% (0.€) pts
Total mainline 23,86¢ 11% — % 1% 11% 10% (1.C) pts
Regional carriers 6,39% 9% 2% 2% 12% 12% 0.1 pts
Total passenger revenue $ 30,257 11% — % 1% 11% 10% (0.9) pts

Mainline Passenger Reveniainline passenger revenue increased primarilytdan improvement in the passenger mile yield ffare
increases implemented in response to higher fiegdpand from higher revenue under corporate trewalracts.

» Domestic. Domestic mainline passenger revenue increasedduLEto an 11% improvement in PRASM on a dégline in capacity. T}
improvement in PRASM reflects higher passenger gié& driven by fare increases.

< International. International mainline passenger revenue inctb&886 due to a 9% improvement in PRASM on a 4% capancrease.
Passenger mile yield increased 12% , reflectingeiged business and leisure travel and increases] facluding fuel surcharges.
Atlantic passenger revenue increased 9% due to m@i#ase in PRASM. We and the industry faced agacity in the Atlantic,
particularly in early 2011, which prevented us fromoreasing ticket prices sufficiently to cover Iég fuel prices. Pacific passenger
revenue increased 20% on a 10% capacity increasdidpassenger mile yield increased 15% duestvanger revenue environment,
partially offset by the negative impact from thegta2011 earthquake and tsunami in Japan. Latinrisa@assenger revenue increa
13% , benefiting from a 13% higher passenger nigd&ydriven by fare increases.

Regional carriers Passenger revenue from regional carriers incde@®edue to an 12% improvement in PRASM on a 2%imkem
capacity. Passenger mile yield increased 12%eatfig fare increases we implemented in responseteased fuel prices.

Cargo. Cargo revenue increased 21% due to a 12% imprentim yield and an 8% increase in volume.

Other.Other revenue increased $210 million due to highaintenance sales to third parties by our MRO ses/business and $65 million
due to an increase in the volume of ticket chaegs.fThese increases were partially offset by $idomin lower baggage fee revenue,
resulting from an increase in bag fees waived fenpum customers and customers under our co-bnaatt card agreement with American

Express.
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Operating Expense

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase
(in millions) 2011 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Aircraft fuel and related taxes $ 9,73( $ 759 $ 2,13¢ 28 %
Salaries and related costs 6,894 6,751 142 2%
Contract carrier arrangements 5,47( 4,30¢ 1,165 27 %
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs 1,76 1,56¢ 19¢ 12%
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses 1,682 1,50¢ 178 11%
Contracted services 1,64 1,54¢ 93 6 %
Depreciation and amortization 1,52 1,511 12 1%
Landing fees and other rents 1,281 1,281 — — %
Passenger service 721 6732 48 7%
Aircraft rent 29¢ 387 (89) (23)%
Profit sharing 264 313 (49 (16)%
Restructuring and other items 242 45C (20€) (46)%
Other 1,62¢ 1,64¢ (29) ()%
Total operating expense $ 33,14( $ 29,53¢ $ 3,60z 12%

On July 1, 2010, we sold Compass and Mesaba, oollystwned subsidiaries, to Trans States and Pienaespectively. Upon the closing
of these transactions, we entered into new or agtblahg-term capacity purchase agreements with @ssypMesaba and Pinnacle. Prior to
these sales, expenses related to Compass and Mesabawholly-owned subsidiaries were reportetthéapplicable expense line items.
Subsequent to these sales, expenses related toaSsmpd Mesaba are reported as contract carrgargements expense.

Fuel Expensdncluding contract carriers under capacity purctegreements, fuel expense increased $2.9 billiditeolonsumption. The
table below presents fuel expense, gallons consuametiour average price per fuel gallon, includimgimpact of fuel hedge activity:

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase
(in millions, except per gallon data) 2011 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Aircraft fuel and related taxes $ 9,73( $ 7,59¢ % 2,13¢
Aircraft fuel and related taxes included within tract carrier arrangements 2,05 1,307 74€
Total fuel expense $ 11,78 $ 8,901 $ 2,88 32%
Total fuel consumption (gallons) 3,85¢ 3,82 33 1%
Average price per fuel gallon $ 3.0¢ $ 23 $ 0.7: 31%

Fuel expense increased primarily due to higher dgée fuel prices, partially offset by an improveiniennet fuel hedge results. The te
below shows the impact of hedging on fuel expemskeaverage price per fuel gallon:

Average Price Per Gallon

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
Increase Increase

(in millions, except per gallon data) 2011 2010 (Decrease) 2011 2010 (Decrease)
Fuel purchase cost $ 12,207 $ 8812 $ 3391 % 317 $ 231 % 0.8€
Fuel hedge (gains) losses (420) 89 (509) (0.17) 0.0z (0.19)
Total fuel expense $ 11,78 $ 8901 $ 288. % 3.0€ $ 23 $ 0.7:
Mark-to-market adjustments for fuel hedges recolided

periods other than the settlement period (26) — (26) (0.09) — (0.09)
Total fuel expense, adjusted $ 11,757 $ 8901 $ 2,85 % 3.0 $ 23 $ 0.7z
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Our average price per fuel gallon, adjusted forkatarmarket adjustments for fuel hedges recordeakiinds other than the settlement
period (a non-GAAP financial measure as definetSimpplemental Information” below) was $3.05 for yfear ended December 31, 2011.
During 2011, our net fuel hedge gains of $420 orillincluded $26 million in gains for mark-to-marketjustments recorded in periods other
than the settlement period. These mark-to-markjestidents are based on market prices as of thefahe reporting period. Such market
prices are not necessarily indicative of the adtwtalre cash value of the underlying hedge in th&tract settlement period. Therefore, Delta
adjusts fuel expense for these items to arriverabge meaningful measure of fuel cost.

Salaries and related costSalaries and related costs increased due to a 8%agerincrease in headcount and employee pay sesea
partially offset by the change in reporting desedfabove due to the transactions involving CompadsViesaba.

Contract carrier arrangementsContract carrier arrangements expense, exclutimgmpact of fuel expense (discussed above), asem
primarily due to the change in reporting for thensactions involving Compass and Mesaba.

Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repafgcraft maintenance materials and outside repaipense increased primarily due to
costs associated with increased maintenance seiesd parties by our MRO services business, cédié in other revenue above.

Passenger commissions and other selling expe@sedit card and sales commissions increased irunotipn with the 11% increase in
passenger revenue.

Aircraft rent. Aircraft rent decreased primarily due to the rediting of certain existing leases and the changeporting described above
due to the transactions involving Compass and Mgesab

Restructuring and other itemBue to the nature of amounts recorded within restiing and other items, a year over year compalis®o
meaningful. For a discussion of charges recorderestructuring and other items, see Note 15 toNb&es of the Consolidated Finan
Statements.
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Results of Operations - 2010 Compared to 2009

Operating Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase

(in millions) 2010 2009 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Passenger:

Mainline $ 21,40¢ $ 18,52 $ 2,88¢ 16%

Regional carriers 5,85( 5,28¢ 56¢ 11%
Total passenger revenue 27,25¢ 23,80 3,451 14%
Cargo 85C 78¢ 62 8%
Other 3,641 3,46¢ 17¢ 5%
Total operating revenue $ 31,755 $ 28,06 $ 3,692 13%

Increase (Decrease)
vs. Year Ended December 31, 2009
Year Ended Passenger RPMs ASMs Passenger

(in millions) December 31, 2010 Revenue (Traffic) (Capacity) Mile Yield PRASM Load Factor
Domestic $ 11,87¢ 11% 1% 2% 9% 9% (0.3) pts
Atlantic 5,152 18% — % 3% 18% 21% 2.3 pts
Pacific 2,80¢ 38% 14% 9% 21% 26% 7.3 pts
Latin America 1,572 13% 4% 3% 8% 10% 1.C pts
Total mainline 21,40¢ 16% 3% 2% 12% 14% 1.C pts
Regional carriers 5,85( 11% (1)% 2% 12% 13% 1.C pts
Total passenger revenue $ 27,25¢ 14% 2% 1% 12% 13% 1.C pts

Mainline Passenger Revenwainline passenger revenue increased primarilytduecreased business demand for air travel andaeas
in fares, largely due to the strengthening of tinkna industry revenue environment. During 200@akened demand for air travel from the
global recession and the effects of the HIN1 ving related capacity reductions had a significagiative impact on our mainline passenger

revenue.

» Domestic Passenger Rever. Domestic passenger revenue increased 11% fro¥h ia&ease in PRASM on a 0.3 point decrease in
load factor and a 2% increase in capacity. Thegrags mile yield increased 9%, reflecting an insecia business travel and an
increase in fares.

« International Passenger Rever. International passenger revenue increased 228 dr@1% increase in PRASM and a 2.4 point
increase in load factor on a 1% increase in capatite passenger mile yield increased 17%, reflgcin increase in demand for air
travel and an increase in fares.

Regional carriers Passenger revenue of regional carriers increbk#dfrom a 13% increase in PRASM and a 1.0 poireiase in load
factor on a 2% decline in capacity. The passengleryield increased 12%, reflecting an increasdémand for air travel and an increase in

fares.

Cargo. Cargo revenue increased due to a 13% increasgelthand a 25% increase in volume, primarily itermational markets, partially
offset by capacity reductions due to the retirenoértur dedicated freighter aircraft in 2009.

Other. Other revenue increased due to higher baggagevyeaue from an increased volume of checked bags.
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Operating Expense

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase
(in millions) 2010 2009 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Aircraft fuel and related taxes $ 7,59 $ 7,382 $ 21C 3%
Salaries and related costs 6,751 6,83¢ (87) ()%
Contract carrier arrangements 4,30¢ 3,82: 482 13%
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs 1,56¢ 1,43¢ 13t 9%
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses 1,50¢ 1,40¢ 104 7%
Contracted services 1,54¢ 1,59¢ (46) 3%
Depreciation and amortization 1,511 1,53¢ (25) 2)%
Landing fees and other rents 1,281 1,28¢ 8 ()%
Passenger service 672 63€ 35 5%
Aircraft rent 387 48C (93 (19%
Profit sharing 31z — 313 NM @
Restructuring and other items 45C 407 43 11%
Other 1,64¢ 1,55¢ 88 6 %
Total operating expense $ 29,53¢ $ 28,387 $ 1,151 4%

@ NM - not meaningft

On July 1, 2010, we sold Compass and Mesaba, oollystwned subsidiaries, to Trans States and Pienaespectively. Upon the closing
of these transactions, we entered into new or agtblahg-term capacity purchase agreements with @ssypMesaba and Pinnacle. Prior to
these sales, expenses related to Compass and Messabawholly-owned subsidiaries were reportetthéapplicable expense line items.
Subsequent to these sales, expenses related toaSsmpd Mesaba are reported as contract carrgargements expense.

Fuel ExpenseIncluding contract carriers under capacity pusehagreements, fuel expense increased $610 milfidtat consumption. Tt
table below presents fuel expense, gallons consuametiour average price per fuel gallon, includimgimpact of fuel hedge activity:

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase
(in millions, except per gallon data) 2010 2009 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Aircraft fuel and related taxes $ 7,59 $ 7,38. $ 21C
Aircraft fuel and related taxes included within tract carrier arrangements 1,307 907 40C
Total fuel expense $ 8,901 $ 8,291 $ 61C 7%
Total fuel consumption (gallons) 3,82 3,85¢ (30 ()%
Average price per fuel gallon $ 23 % 215 $ 0.1¢ 8%

Fuel expense increased primarily due to higher dgee fuel prices, partially offset by an improvemiamet fuel hedge results. Fuel hedge
losses in 2009 were primarily due to hedge corgrpatchased in 2008 when fuel prices reached reigh$ and were expected to continue to
rise, but instead declined. The table below shdwsrhpact of hedging on fuel expense and averdge per fuel gallon:

Average Price Per Gallon

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
Increase Increase
(in millions, except per gallon data) 2010 2009 (Decrease) 2010 2009 (Decrease)
Fuel purchase cost $ 8,812 $ 6932 % 1,88 $ 231 % 18C $ 0.51
Fuel hedge (gains) losses 89 1,35¢ (1,270 0.0z 0.3t (0.39)
Total fuel expense $ 8,901 $ 8,291 ¢ 61C $ 23: % 21t $ 0.1¢
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Contract carrier arrangementsContract carrier arrangements expense, exclutimgmpact of fuel expense (discussed above), asem
primarily due to the change in reporting describbdve due to the transactions involving Compassdveghba.

Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repafscraft maintenance materials and outside repaipense increased primarily due to
returning aircraft to service after temporary sgeraas well as the timing of engine and airframéteaance volumes.

Passenger commissions and other selling expeRsasenger commissions and other selling expensesged primarily due to higher
revenue-related expenses, such as booking feesaggglcommissions, from the increase in revenue.

Profit sharing.We recorded $313 million related to our broad-bammgloyee profit sharing plans for 2010. We did reaiord any profit
sharing expense in 2009. Our broad-based profitrehalans provide that, for each year in whichhvee an annual pre-tax profit (as defined
in the plan document), we will pay a specified jwortof that profit to eligible employees.

Restructuring and other itemBue to the nature of amounts recorded within restining and other items, a year over year comparismot
meaningful. For a discussion of charges recordedstructuring and other items, see Note 15 td\ibtes of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Non-Operating Results

Year Ended December 31, Favorable (Unfavorable)
(in millions) 2011 2010 2009 2011vs. 2010 2010 vs. 2009
Interest expense, net $ (901) $ (969) $ (881 $ 68 $ (89)
Amortization of debt discount, net (293 (21€) (370 23 154
Loss on extinguishment of debt (68) (391) (83) 323 (30¢)
Miscellaneous, net (44) (33 77 (12) (110
Total other expense, net $ (1,206) $ (2,609 $ (1,257 $ 405 $ (352)

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@08, we recorded $68 million , $391 million an@$8illion in losses from the early
extinguishment of debt, which primarily relatedhe write-off of debt discounts. These debt dis¢same a result of fair value adjustments
recorded in 2008 to reduce the carrying value oflaog-term debt due to purchase accounting antl@Hillion advance purchase of SkyMiles
by American Express. As a result of these writs-affid scheduled amortization, our unamortized disbbunt has decreased from $1.9 billion
at the beginning of 2009 to $737 million at Decenmtie 2011 and our amortization of debt discouat,has decreased significantly from 2009
to 2011.

The table below shows the changes in miscellanewis,

Favorable (Unfavorable)

(in millions) 2011vs. 2010 2010 vs. 2009
Mark-to-market adjustments on the ineffective pmrtof fuel hedge contracts $ ©) $ (62)
Foreign currency exchange rates 3 (52
Other 8 3
Miscellaneous, net $ (11 $ (110

Income Taxes

We consider all income sources, including other pahensive income, in determining the amount oflterefit allocated to continui
operations. During the years ended December 311, 22010 and 2009we did not record an income tax provision for Uetleral income te
purposes since our deferred tax assets are fidgrved by a valuation allowance. The following ¢asthows the components of our income
benefit (provision):

33




Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009

International and state income tax (provision) iene $ ™ $ (15 $ 23
Deferred tax benefit 2 — —
Alternative minimum tax refunds and other 90 — —
Intraperiod income tax allocation — — 321
Income tax benefit (provision) $ 85 $ (15 $ 344

During 2011, we recorded an income tax benefit&8F #illion , primarily related to the recognitiof aternative minimum tax refunds.

During 2009, we recorded an income tax benefit3ff4bmillion , including a non-cash income tax bén&f$321 million on the loss from
continuing operations, with an offsetting non-castome tax expense of $321 million on other comensive income. This deferred income
tax expense of $321 million will remain in accumathother comprehensive loss until all amountcoueulated other comprehensive loss
that relate to fuel derivatives which are desigdate accounting hedges are recognized in the ddasad Statement of Operations. All
amounts relating to our fuel derivative contrabtst tvere previously designated as accounting hedildse recognized by June 2012 (original
settlement date of those contracts). As a resulbrecash income tax expense of $321 million will beogatzed in the June 2012 quarter un
we enter into and designate additional fuel derreatontracts as accounting hedges prior to Jud2.20

At December 31, 2011 , we had $16.8 billion of Uesleral pre-tax net operating loss carryforwakisordingly, we believe we will not
pay any cash federal income taxes during the rexdral years. Our U.S. federal pre-tax net opegdtias carryforwards do not begin to expire
until 2022 .

Financial Condition and Liquidity

We expect to meet our cash needs for the next I#hmdrom cash flows from operations, cash and easiivalents, shoterm investmeni
and financing arrangements. As of December 31, 204 had $5.4 billion in unrestricted liquidityresisting of $3.6 billion in cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments and $1li8tin undrawn revolving credit facilities.

Debt and Capital Leasest December 31, 2011 , total debt and capital Igaseluding current maturities, was $13.8 billican $1.5 billion
reduction from December 31, 2010 and a $3.4 bilteduction from December 31, 2009. Our ability bdain additional financing, if needed,
on acceptable terms could be adversely affectatidyact that a significant portion of our assetssubject to liens.

Pension ObligationsWe sponsor defined benefit pension plans for digimployees and retirees. These plans are closselnt entrants
and are frozen for future benefit accruals. Oudfnog obligations for these plans are generally gose by the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act. We contributed $598 million and $7#88lion to our defined benefit pension plans dur@L1 and 2010, respectively. We
estimate the funding requirements under these pldhtotal approximately $700 million in 2012.

Advance Purchase of SkyMil#s.2008, we entered into a multi-year extensionwf American Express agreements and received $1.0
billion from American Express for an advance pusghaf SkyMiles (the "prepayment"). The 2008 agre@rpeovided that our obligations wi
respect to the advance purchase would be satifidtnerican Express uses the purchased miles mpdfied future period (“SkyMiles
Usage Period”), rather than by cash payments freto American Express. Due to the SkyMiles Usag®&eand other restrictions placed
upon American Express regarding the timing andafisbe SkyMiles, we classified the $1.0 billion vexeived, the pre-payment, as long-term
debt.

During the SkyMiles Usage Period, which commenaoathd the December 2011 quarter, American Exprébsiiaw down on their

prepayment instead of paying cash to Delta for Slgdvused. As of December 31, 2011, $952 milliotheforiginal $1.0 billion debt (or
prepayment) remained, including $333 million whislelassified in current maturities of long-termbtdand capital leases.
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Annual Sale of SkyMileln December 2011, we amended our American Expgreements and sold American Express $675 million of
SkyMiles. Under the December 2011 amendment, wieipate American Express will make additional purshs of $675 million of SkyMiles
in each of 2012, 2013, and 2014.

Fuel Card Obligation In December 2011, we also obtained a purchasirdjwith American Express for the purpose of buyatduel. The
card currently carries a maximum credit limit ofl®6million and must be paid monthly. As of Decem®&r2011, we had $318 million
outstanding on this purchasing card, which wassifiasl as other accrued liabilities.

Liquidity Events
Liquidity and financing events during 2011 includbé following:

» Senior Secured Credit Facilitie¥/e entered into senior secured first-lien creditliizdes (the "Senior Secured Credit Facilitiess) t
borrow up to $2.6 billion. We borrowed $1.4 billiander the Senior Secured Credit Facilities taeeil.4 billion of outstanding loans
under our $2.5 billion senior secured exit finagciacilities and terminated those facilities andeaisting $100 million revolving credit
facility. The Senior Secured Credit Facilities bedierest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR (suldie@ 1.25% floor) or another index
rate, in each case plus a specified margin and frealematurities in April 2016 and 2017. At Deceeni81, 2011 , the outstanding
balances under the Senior Secured Credit Facilisglsan interest rate of 5.50% per annum.

« Pacific Routes Term Loan FacilitWe amended our $250 million first-lien term loanifigy (the "Pacific Routes Term Loan Facility")
to, among other things, reduce the interest ratieeatend the maturity date from September 2013 &ocki 2016. At December 31, 2011
the Pacific Routes Term Loan Facility had an irgerate of 4.25% per annum.

* Certificates.We received $834 million in proceeds from offerimg$?ass-Through Trust Certificates ("EETC") andduthe proceeds to
refinance aircraft securing other debt instrumantheir maturities, primarily the 2001-1 EETC, dadgeneral corporate purposes.
During 2011, we paid $789 million to retire the stahding principal amount under the 2001-1 EETC.

Sources and Uses of Ca:
Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities totaled $2l&n for 2011, primarily reflecting (1) $2.7 kithn in net income after adjusting for items
such as depreciation and amortization and (2) $6ifiBn received for the sale of SkyMiles. Cashyded by operating activities was reduced
by $313 million in profit sharing payments related2010 and other working capital changes.

Cash provided by operating activities totaled $2li&n for 2010, primarily reflecting (1) $2.6 lithn in net income after adjusting for items
such as depreciation and amortization, (2) a $5ill&mincrease in accounts payable and accruddlii@s primarily related to our broad-
based employee profit sharing plans and increagethtions due to the improving economy and (3)22%gillion increase in advance ticket
sales primarily due to an increase in air fareshGaovided by operating activities for the yeadeshDecember 31, 2010 was partially offse
a $345 million decrease in frequent flyer liability

Cash provided by operating activities totaled $iilion for 2009, primarily reflecting the returmdm counterparties of $1.1 billion of hec
margin primarily used to settle hedge losses rezegrduring the period and $690 million in net immafter adjusting for items such as
depreciation and amortization.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities totaled $1.5dvilffor 2011, primarily reflecting investments af) 907 million for flight equipment,
including aircraft modifications to invest in fdlat bed seats in BusinessElite and in-seat auatbvideo entertainment systems, parts and
advance deposits related to our order to purch@@d31737-900ER aircraft, (2) $347 million for graliproperty and equipment (3) $240
million in net purchases of short-term investmentd (4) a $100 million investment in GOL. Includedlight equipment acquisitions are 12
previously owned MD-90 aircraft and one previouslysed B-767-300 aircraft.
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Cash used in investing activities totaled $2.0dvilffor 2010, primarily reflecting investments af) 1.1 billion for flight equipment,
including aircraft modifications and parts, (2) $2&illion for ground property and equipment and$8315 million for purchases of
investments. Flight equipment acquisitions incltliee purchase of 34 aircraft, four of which wereghaised new from the manufacturer, 18 of
which were previously leased and 12 of which wesyijpusly owned.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $1.0dvilffor 2009, primarily reflecting net investments$951 million for flight equipment and
$251 million for ground property and equipment. IiCased in investing activities was partially offegta distribution of our investment in a
money market fund that was liquidated in an ordernner in 2010 and proceeds from the sale oftfeglaipment.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities totaled $1.6dmillfor 2011, reflecting the repayment of $2.8ibillin long-term debt and capital lease
obligations, partially offset by $1.0 billion inqgueeds from aircraft and other aircraft-relatedricing and $318 milliofrom the use of our fu
card. We also refinanced our $2.5 billion seniaused exit financing facilities as discussed above.

Cash used in financing activities totaled $2.5dmillfor 2010, reflecting the repayment of $3.7ibillin long-term debt and capital lease
obligations, including the repayment of $914 mitliof our Exit Revolving Facility. Cash used in firtdng activities was partially offset by $:
billion in proceeds from EETC aircraft financing.

Cash used in financing activities totaled $19 willfor 2009, primarily reflecting $3.0 billion irrgceeds from long-term debt and aircraft
financing, largely associated with the issuancélpf$2.1 billion under three new financings, whisbluded (a) $750 million of senior secured
credit facilities, (b) $750 million of senior seedrnotes, and (c) $600 million of senior second fietes, (2) $342 million from the 2009-1
EETC offering and (3) $150 million of tax exemptigs, mostly offset by the repayment of $2.9 billiolong-term debt and capital lease
obligations, including the Northwest senior secusgi financing facility and a $500 million revohg facility.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual géditions at December 31, 2011 that we expect wifldid in cash. The table does not
include amounts that are contingent on eventstardactors that are uncertain or unknown at thig tincluding legal contingencies, uncer
tax positions, and amounts payable under colle@iargaining arrangements, among others. In additientable does not include expected
significant cash payments which are generally @dircourse of business obligations that do notihelcontractual commitments.

The amounts presented are based on various estinratkiding estimates regarding the timing of papis, prevailing interest rates,
volumes purchased, the occurrence of certain eegmtother factors. Accordingly, the actual resuigs/ vary materially from the amounts
presented in the table.

During 2011, our contractual obligations were intpddy our agreement with Boeing to purchase 10BB-900ER aircraft with deliveries
beginning in 2013 and continuing through 2018. €atimated payments to purchase these aircrafhahadied in aircraft purchase obligations
below.

Contractual Obligations by Year®

(in millions) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total
Long-term debt (see Note 7)

Principal amount $ 15928 1228 $ 2000 % 1347 $ 1240 $ 5441 % 12,84t

Interest payments 71C 63C 56C 41C 32C 80C 3,43(
Contract carrier obligations (see Note 9) 2,34( 2,42( 2,43( 2,40( 2,10C 5,70C 17,39(
Operating lease payments (see Note 8) 1,462 1,441 1,38( 1,271 1,12¢ 7,58¢ 14,26¢
Employee benefit obligations (see Note 10) 83C 79C 80C 81C 78C 10,92( 14,93(
Aircraft purchase commitments (see Note 9) 21F 53C 745 76C 76C 3,81( 6,82(
Capital lease obligations (see Note 8) 221 19€ 16¢ 15¢& 162 328 1,22¢
Other obligations 51C 23C 21C 12C 70 17C 1,31(C
Total $ 788 $ 7462 % 829t ¢ 727t $ 655¢ $ 34,750 $ 72,21¢

@ For additional information, see the Notes to thesdidated Financial Statements referenced inahke tabove
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Long-Term Debt, Principal AmourRepresents scheduled principal payments on lomy-@ebt. The table excludes amounts received from
American Express for its advance purchase of Skgd/ilecause this obligation will be satisfied by Amen Express' use of SkyMiles over a
specified period rather than by cash payments frientor additional information about our agreemevits American Express, see Note 6 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Long-Term Debt, Interest PaymerfRepresents estimated interest payments under ogitésm debt based on the interest rates spedified
the applicable debt agreements. Interest paymentaugable interest rate debt were calculated usIBgR at December 31, 2011 .

Contract Carrier ObligationsRepresents our estimated minimum fixed obligatiamder capacity purchase agreements with regional
carriers (excluding Comair). The reported amoungsbased on (1) the required minimum levels ohflyby our contract carriers under the
applicable agreements and (2) assumptions regatigéngosts associated with such minimum levels$yoid.

Employee Benefit ObligationRepresents primarily (1) our estimated minimum neglifunding for our qualified defined benefit pars
plans based on actuarially determined estimateg2)nurojected future benefit payments from ourwnafed postretirement and
postemployment plans. For additional informationwttour employee benefit obligations, see “Critidatounting Policies and Estimates”.

Aircraft Purchase CommitmentRepresents primarily our commitments to purchageB-037-900ER aircraft, 18 B-787-8 aircraft andenin
previously owned MD-90 aircraft.

Other ObligationsRepresents primarily estimated purchase obligatimaker which we are required to make minimum paymén goods
and services, including but not limited to insumnmarketing, maintenance, technology, sponsorstigsother third party services and
products.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Ouir critical accounting policies and estimatesthose that require significant judgments and egémaiccordingly, the actual results may
differ materially from these estimates. For a déston of these and other accounting policies, s#e M of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Frequent Flyer Progran

Our frequent flyer program (the “SkyMiles Programfjers incentives to travel on Delta. This prograllows customers to earn mileage
credits by flying on Delta, regional air carrierglwwhich we have contract carrier agreements antides that participate in the SkyMiles
Program, as well as through participating compasieh as credit card companies, hotels and caalragéncies. We also sell mileage credits
to non-airline businesses, customers and othémesr|

The SkyMiles Program includes two types of transastthat are considered revenue arrangementswuittiple deliverables. As discussed
below, these are (1) passenger ticket sales eamnilegge credits and (2) the sale of mileage csddiparticipating companies with which we
have marketing agreements. Mileage credits arparate unit of accounting as they can be redeemeddiomers in future periods for air
travel on Delta and participating airlines, memhgrsn our Sky Club and other program awards.

Passenger Ticket Sales Earning Mileage Creéfigssenger ticket sales earning mileage credits wnnleSkyMiles Program provide
customers with two deliverables: (1) mileage ceddrned and (2) air transportation. Effective dand, 2011, we began applying the
provisions of Revenue Arrangements with Multipldierables ("ASU 2009-13") to passenger tickets\&gy mileage credits. Under ASU
2009-13, we value each deliverable on a standdlasis. Our estimate of the standalone selling mi@mileage credit is based on an analysis
of our sales of mileage credits to other airlined austomers and is re-evaluated at least annWsllyuse established ticket prices to determine
the standalone selling price of air transportatide. allocate the total amount collected from pageeticket sales between the deliverables
based on their relative selling prices.
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We defer revenue from the mileage credit compon&passenger ticket sales and recognize it as pgsseevenue when miles are
redeemed and services are provided. We recordattiep of the passenger ticket sales for air transgpion in air traffic liability and recognize
these amounts in passenger revenue when we prioaitgportation or when the ticket expires unuséw ddoption of ASU 2009-13 did not
have a material impact on the timing of revenuegedion or its classification with regard to pasger tickets earning mileage credits. A
hypothetical 10% increase in our estimate of thaddlone selling price of a mileage credit wouldrdase passenger revenue by approxim
$50 million, as a result of an increase in the amafi revenue deferred from the mileage componépaesenger ticket sales.

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2009-13, we used tedual method for revenue recognition. Under ésidual method, we determined the
fair value of the mileage credit component basegrioes at which we sold mileage credits to othinas and then considered the remainder
of the amount collected to be the air transpontatieliverable.

Sale of Mileage Credit€Customers may earn mileage credits through paatiicigp companies such as credit card companiesstentd car
rental agencies with which we have marketing agezgmto sell mileage credits. Our contracts toredéage credits under these marketing
agreements have two deliverables: (1) the mileaggits redeemable for future travel and (2) thekei@mg component.

ASU 2009-13 does not apply to contracts to seleagk credits entered into prior to January 1, 201dss those contracts are materially
modified. As of December 31, 2011, we had not ni@tgmodified any of our significant agreementair@ost significant contract to sell
mileage credits relates to our co-brand credit calationship with American Express. For additiomdbrmation about this relationship, see
Note 6. For contracts entered into prior to Jandar3011 that have not been materially modifiedsidanuary 1, 2011, we continue to use
residual method for revenue recognition and vahlg the mileage credits. Under the residual metttioel portion of the revenue from the
mileage component is deferred and recognized aepgsr revenue when miles are redeemed and seaveepsovided. The portion of the
revenue received in excess of the fair value oéagé credits sold, the marketing component, isgr@zed in income as other revenue wher
related marketing services are provided. The falue of a mileage credit is determined based aeprat which we sell mileage credits to o
airlines and is re-evaluated at least annually.

If we enter into new contracts or materially modifisting contracts to sell mileage credits relatedur SkyMiles Program, we will value
the standalone selling price of the marketing comemb and allocate the revenue from the contractdas the relative selling price of the
mileage credits and the marketing component. A riateodification of an existing contract could iaqgi our deferral rate or cause an
adjustment to our deferred revenue balance, whackdanaterially impact our future financial results

Breakage For mileage credits which we estimate are notyiltelbe redeemed (“Breakage”), we recognize thedated value
proportionally during the period in which the remag mileage credits are expected to be redeenfesle$timate of Breakage is based on
historical redemption patterns. A change in assiongtas to the period over which mileage crediégseapected to be redeemed, the actual
redemption activity for mileage credits or the mstied fair value of mileage credits expected todoeemed could have a material impact on
our revenue in the year in which the change ocandsin future years. At December 31, 2011 , theegaie deferred revenue balance
associated with the SkyMiles Program was $4.5dmilliA hypothetical 1% change in the number of outditagy miles estimated to be redeer
would result in a $31 million impact on our deferrevenue liability at December 31, 2011 .

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We apply a fair value-based impairment test tortéiebook value of goodwill and indefinitered intangible assets on an annual basis (
October 1) and, if certain events or circumstarnodiate that an impairment loss may have beenriadyon an interim basign Septembe
2011, the FASB issued "Testing Goodwill for Impagm." The standard revises the way in which estitesst goodwill for impairment. V
adopted this standard and applied its provisiormitcannual goodwill impairment test in the Decen2@l1 quarter.

Key Assumptiong.he key assumptions in our impairment tests incld@ur projected revenues, expenses and cashk,f[@yvan estimated
weighted average cost of capital, (3) assumed digtaates depending on the asset and (4) a taxTHaése assumptions are consistent with
those hypothetical market participants would usec&we are required to make estimates and assumsptihen evaluating goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairmethie actual amounts may differ materially from thesgmates.

38




Changes in assumptions or circumstances couldt iesahpairment. Factors which could cause impaintieclude, but are not limited to,
(1) negative trends in our market capitalizatid@),gn increase in fuel prices, (3) declining pagsemile yields, (4) lower passenger deman
a result of the weakened U.S. and global econoB)yinferruption to our operations due to an empdosteike, terrorist attack, or other reasons,
(6) changes to the regulatory environment and ¢Asaclidation of competitors in the airline industry

Goodwill. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 , our goodwilhbet was $9.8 billion . In evaluating goodwill forpairment, we estimate
the fair value of our reporting unit by considerimgrket capitalization and other factors if it isnm likely than not that the fair value of our
reporting unit is less than its carrying valuethié reporting unit's fair value exceeds its caigymalue, no further testing is required. If, howe
the reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its\alue, we then determine the amount of the inmpaitt charge, if any. We recognize an
impairment charge if the carrying value of the mtipg unit's goodwill exceeds its estimated failuea

Identifiable Intangible Asset@ur identifiable intangible assets had a net cag@mount of $4.8 billion at December 31, 201 1defimite-
lived assets are not amortized and consist prignafifoutes, slots, the Delta tradename and assktied to SkyTeam. Definite-lived intangible
assets consist primarily of marketing agreemendiscamtracts and are amortized on a straight-lirséshar under the undiscounted cash flows
method over the estimated economic life of theeeBpe agreements and contracts.

We perform the impairment test for indefinite-livedangible assets by comparing the asset's faieua its carrying value. Fair value is
estimated based on (1) recent market transactidmere available, (2) the lease savings methodddam airport slots (which reflects potential
lease savings from owning the slots rather thasimgathem from another airline at market rateg)tt§8 royalty method for the Delta tradene
(which assumes hypothetical royalties generatem fising our tradename) or (4) projected discoufutde cash flows. We recognize an
impairment charge if the asset's carrying valueeds its estimated fair value.

LongLived Assets

Our flight equipment and other long-lived assetseha recorded value of $20.2 billion at December2BiL1. This value is based on varic
factors, including the assets' estimated usefakland salvage values. We record impairment lasséght equipment and other long-lived
assets used in operations when events and circnoesténdicate the assets may be impaired and tineag¢sd future cash flows generated by
those assets are less than their carrying amdeadsors which could cause impairment include, batet limited to, (1) a decision to
permanently remove flight equipment or other loivgd assets from operations, (2) significant charigghe estimated useful life, (3)
significant changes in projected cash flows, (4p@nent and significant declines in fleet fair vedand (5) changes to the regulatory
environment. For long-lived assets held for sale digcontinue depreciation and record impairmesgds when the carrying amount of these
assets is greater than the fair value less thetccstl.

To determine whether impairments exist for aircuasid in operations, we group assets at the fipetievel (the lowest level for which
there are identifiable cash flows) and then estnfiatture cash flows based on projections of capagassenger mile yield, fuel costs, labor
costs and other relevant factors. If an impairnoecurs, the impairment loss recognized is the amloyimvhich the aircraft's carrying amount
exceeds its estimated fair value. We estimateadirtair values using published sources, appramadsbids received from third parties, as
available.

Income Tax Valuation Allowant

We periodically assess whether it is more likertimot that we will generate sufficient taxableoime to realize our deferred income tax
assets and establish valuation allowances ifribtdikely we will realize our deferred income tagsets. In making this determination, we
consider all available positive and negative evideand make certain assumptions. We consider, aatbeg things, our deferred tax liabiliti
the overall business environment, our historiaaficial results, our industry's historically cyalifinancial results and potential current and
future tax planning strategies. We cannot presatgtgrmine when we will be able to generate swfictaxable income to realize our deferred
tax assets. Accordingly, we have recorded a fuilation allowance totaling $10.7 billion against ot deferred tax assets. If we determine
that it is more likely than not that we will genergufficient taxable income to realize our defélircome tax assets, we will reverse our
valuation allowance (in full or in part), resultiirga significant income tax benefit in the perggth a determination is made.
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Defined Benefit Pension Pla

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for dégimployees and retirees. These plans are closselnt entrants and frozen for future
benefit accruals. As of December 31, 2011 , themadéd benefit obligation for these plans recordedur Consolidated Balance Sheet was
$11.5 billion . During 2011 , we contributed $598lion to these plans and recorded $300 millarexpense in salaries and related costs o
Consolidated Statement of Operations. In 2012 estienate we will contribute approximately $700 roill to these plans and that our expense
will be approximately $370 million. The most criicassumptions impacting our defined benefit penplan obligations and expenses are the
weighted average discount rate and the expectedtenm rate of return on the plan assets.

Weighted Average Discount Rate determine our weighted average discount rateuomeasurement date primarily by reference to
annualized rates earned on high quality fixed inedmvestments and yield-to-maturity analysis spetif our estimated future benefit
payments. We used a weighted average discountorgedue the obligations of 4.94% and 5.69% at Ddwmer 31, 2011 and 201 0espectively
Our weighted average discount rate for net peripditsion benefit cost in each of the past threesyleas varied from the rate selected on our
measurement date, ranging from 5.70% to 6.49% et\2009 and 2011 , due to remeasurements througt®oyear.

Expected Long-Term Rate of RetuFhe expected long-term rate of return on plan assdiased primarily on plan-specific investment
studies using historical market return and volgtitiata. Modest excess return expectations versuge public market indices are incorporated
into the return projections based on the activedyraged structure of the investment programs andrémrds of achieving such returns
historically. We also expect to receive a premiamifivesting in less liquid private markets. Weieswour rate of return on plan asset
assumptions annually. Our annual investment pedage for one particular year does not, by itsahificantly influence our evaluation. Our
actual historical annualized three and five yete odi return on plan assets for our defined bempefitsion plans was approximately 11% and
2%, respectively, as of December 31, 2011 . Ouualized five year return includes a -26% returnrmy2008.The investment strategy for ¢
defined benefit pension plan assets is to utiligévarsified mix of global public and private equgortfolios, public and private fixed income
portfolios, and private real estate and naturalwese investments to earn a long-term investmeuotmehat meets or exceeds our annualized
return target. Our expected long-term rate of retur assets for net periodic pension benefit acosthie year ended December 31, 205 9%

The impact of a 0.50% change in these assumptiosisawn in the table below:

Effect on Accrued

Effect on 2012 Pension Liability at
Change in Assumption Pension Expense December 31, 2011
0.50% decrease in weighted average discount rate -$1 million +$1.2 billion
0.50% increase in weighted average discount rate - $4 million - $1.1 billion
0.50% decrease in expected long-term rate of retnrassets +$39 million —
0.50% increase in expected long-term rate of redbarassets - $39 million —

Funding.Our funding obligations for qualified defined beih@lans are governed by the Employee Retiremestrire Security Act. The
Pension Protection Act of 2006 allows commercidirags to elect alternative funding rules (“Altetiveé Funding Rules”) for defined benefit
plans that are frozen. Delta elected the Altermaiunding Rules under which the unfunded liabflitya frozen defined benefit plan may be
amortized over a fixed 17-year period and is cal@d using an 8.85% interest rate.

While the Pension Protection Act makes our fundibltigations for these plans more predictable, f@ctmitside our control continue to hi
an impact on the funding requirements. Estimatdatafe funding requirements are based on varigsgaraptions and can vary materially from
actual funding requirements. Assumptions includeorg other things, the actual and projected mar&gbrmance of assets; statutory
requirements; and demographic data for participdfas additional information, see Note 10 of thet@éato the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Recent Accounting Standarc

Revenue Arrangements with Multiple DeliverablagOctober 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard ("FASB") issued ASU 2009-
13. The standard (1) revises guidance on whenihgi deliverables may be treated as separate ainiscounting, (2) establishes a selling
price hierarchy for determining the selling prideaaleliverable, (3) eliminates the residual metfadevenue recognition and (4) provides
guidance on allocating consideration among sepdedieerables. It applies only to contracts entened or materially modified after Decemt
31, 2010. We adopted this standard on a prospeuéisis beginning January 1, 2011. We determinddtiesonly revenue arrangements
impacted by the adoption of this standard are tlagseciated with our SkyMiles Program.

Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requireméntslay 2011, the FASB issued "Amendments to Achi€eenmon Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. BAAd IFRSs." The standard revises guidance fovéhie measurement and expands
the disclosure requirements. It is effective prasipely for fiscal years beginning after DecembBr 2011. We are currently evaluating the
impact the adoption of this standard will have an Gonsolidated Financial Statements.

Supplemental Information

We sometimes use information that is derived from@onsolidated Financial Statements, but thabiigresented in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the. YGAAP”). Certain of this information are consigel to be “non-GAAP financial
measures” under the U.S. Securities and Exchangen@ssion rules. The non-GAAP financial measuresikhbe considered in addition to
results prepared in accordance with GAAP, but ghaot be considered a substitute for or superi@A&P results.

The following tables show reconciliations of hon-&A financial measures to the most directly complar&@AAP financial measures.

We exclude the following items from CASM to deten@iCASM-EX:

< Aircraft fuel and related taxeManagement believes the volatility in fuel pricegpacts the comparability of year-over-year finahcia
performance.

« Ancillary businesse. Ancillary businesses are not related to the geier of a seat mile. These businesses includeaftimaintenance
and staffing services we provide to third partied aur vacation wholesale operations.

» Profit sharing.Management believes the exclusion of this item jles a more meaningful comparison of our resultheaairline
industry.

« Restructuring and other itemManagement believes the exclusion of this iterreipflal to investors to evaluate our recurring core
operational performance.

* Mark-to-market ("MTM") adjustments for fuel hedges releal in periods other than the settlement perddnagement believes these
adjustments are helpful to evaluate our finan@allts in the period shown.

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
CASM 14.1%¢ 12.6¢¢
Items excluded:
Aircraft fuel and related taxes (5.00 (3.82)
Ancillary businesses (0.37) (0.2¢)
Profit sharing (0.17) (0.19)
Restructuring and other items (0.10 (0.19)
MTM adjustments for fuel hedges recorded in perioitier than the settlement period (0.09) —
CASM-Ex 8.5%¢ 8.27¢
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The following table reconciles average price pet fiallon to average price per fuel gallon, adjd$te MTM adjustments for fuel hedges
recorded in periods other than the settlement gefibese mark-to-market adjustments are based dketarices as of the end of the reporting
period. Such market prices are not necessarilgatiie of the actual future cash value of the ulyileg hedge in the contract settlement per
Therefore, Delta adjusts fuel expense for thesest® arrive at a more meaningful measure of fast.c

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2008
Average price per fuel galldH $ 3.0¢6 $ 3.1¢€
MTM adjustments for fuel hedges recorded in periottier than the settlement period (0.01) (0.09)
Average price per fuel gallon, adjusted $ 3.0t $ 3.1¢

@ Includes fuel expense incurred under contractee@rrangements and the impact of fuel hedgeitg
Glossary of Defined Terms

ASM- Available Seat Mile. A measure of capacity. AS&tgial the total number of seats available for parting passengers during a
reporting period multiplied by the total numbemoiles flown during that period.

CASM- (Operating) Cost per Available Seat Mile. The amoof operating cost incurred per ASM during aoréipg period.

CASM-Ex The amount of operating cost incurred per ASMriya reporting period, excluding aircraft fuel aethted taxes, ancillary
businesses, profit sharing, restructuring and dteers and MTM adjustments for fuel hedges recoidgzbriods other than the settlement
period.

Passenger Load FacterA measure of utilized available seating capaciticulated by dividing RPMs by ASMs for a reportipeyiod.

Passenger Mile Yield or YieldThe amount of passenger revenue earned per RFRgdureporting period.

PRASM Passenger Revenue per ASM. The amount of passengmue earned per ASM during a reporting pefRiRIASM is also
referred to as “unit revenue.”

RPM- Revenue Passenger Mile. One revenue-paying pgastansported one mile. RPMs equal the numbesva@nue passengers during
a reporting period multiplied by the number of miflown by those passengers during that period. RBiM also referred to as “traffic.”
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We have market risk exposure related to aircragt fuices, interest rates, and foreign currencyharge rates. Market risk is the potential
negative impact of adverse changes in these poicetes on our Consolidated Financial Statemémtsn effort to manage our exposure to
these risks, we enter into derivative contractsrangt adjust our derivative portfolio as market dtinds change. We expect adjustments to the
fair value of financial instruments to result ingming volatility in earnings and stockholders' égui

The following sensitivity analysis does not consitlee effects of a change in demand for air trathed,economy as a whole or actions we
may take to seek to mitigate our exposure to dquéar risk. For these and other reasons, the bggalts of changes in these prices or rates
may differ materially from the following hypothegikresults.

Aircraft Fuel Price Risk

Our results of operations are materially impactgadhanges in aircraft fuel prices. We actively mgaaur fuel price risk through a hedging
program intended to provide an offset against eees in jet fuel prices. This fuel hedging prograitizes several different contract and
commodity types, which are used together to craatsk mitigating hedge portfolio. The economiceetfveness of this hedge portfolio is
frequently tested against our financial targets fiadge portfolio is rebalanced from time to timeaading to market conditions, which may
result in locking in gains or losses on hedge @mtsrprior to their settlement dates .

Our fuel hedge portfolio generally consists of cgitions; put options, combinations of two or moadl options and put options; swap
contracts; and futures contracts. The productsnlyidg the hedge contracts are derivatives ofjet,fsuch as heating oil, crude oil and low
sulfur diesel. Our fuel hedge contracts containgimaiunding requirements, which are driven by chemip price of the underlying commodity
and the contracts used. The margin funding requénts may cause us to post margin to counterpantimay cause counterparties to post
margin to us as market prices in the underlyinggeedtems changelf fuel prices decrease significantly from the lsvexisting at the time w
enter into fuel hedge contracts, we may be requogubst a significant amount of margie may adjust our hedge portfolio from time toe
in response to margin posting requirements.

For the year ended December 31, 2011 , aircralfteiue related taxes, including our contract casrigrder capacity purchase agreements,
accounted for $11.8 billion , or 36% , of our tadglerating expense, including $420 million of netlfhedge gains.

The following table shows the projected cash impadtiel cost, on both an unhedged and hedged, zessiaming 10% and 20% increases
or decreases in fuel prices. The hedge gain (ledi€cts the change in the projected cash settlewane of our open fuel hedge contracts at
December 31, 2011 based on their contract settledates, assuming the same 10% and 20% changes.

Year Ending December 31, 2012 Fuel Hedge Margin

Decrease (Increase) to (Posted to) Received
(in millions) Unhedged Fuel Cost” Hedge Gain (Loss)? Net Impact from Counterparties
+ 20% $ (2,200 $ 12C $ (2,080 $ 40
+ 10% (1,100 90 (1,010 $ 10
- 10% 1,10 (200 1,00C $ =
- 20% 2,20( (230) 1,97C $ (60)

@ Projections based upon the (increase) decreasehtdged fuel cost as compared to the jet fuel grézegallon of $2.94, excluding transportation sastd taxes, at
December 31, 2011 and estimated fuel consumpti@®8obillion gallons for the year ending Decembgr 3012.
@ Projections based on average futures prices byactrgettiement month compared to futures pric&eaember 31, 201
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Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to market risk from adverse changé@dénest rates is primarily associated with oungidgerm debt obligations. Market risk
associated with our fixed and variable rate lorrgatdebt relates to the potential reduction in Yailue and negative impact to future earnings,
respectively, from an increase in interest rates.

At December 31, 2011 , we had $7.7 billion of fixede long-term debt and $6.1 billion of variabtgerlong-term debt. An increase of 100
basis points in average annual interest rates wuaNeé decreased the estimated fair value of oedfate long-term debt by $300 million at
December 31, 2011 and would have increased theahimarest expense on our variable-rate long-tdeint by $40 million, inclusive of the
impact of our interest rate hedge contracts.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchange rateh@&cause we have revenue and expense denomimé&beeign currencies with our
primary exposures being the Japanese yen and Gandollar. To manage exchange rate risk, we exdmitteour international revenue and
expense transactions in the same foreign currentlyetextent practicable. From time to time, we ral@p enter into foreign currency option
and forward contracts. At December 31, 2011 , wkdgen foreign currency forward contracts totakmg$89 million liability position. We
estimate that a 10% increase or decrease in tbe pfithe Japanese yen and Canadian dollar inarlat the U.S. dollar would change the
projected cash settlement value of our open hedgeacts by a $90 million gain or $110 million lpssspectively, for the year ending
December 31, 2012 .
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of DAlitaLines, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgheets of Delta Air Lines, Inc. (the CompanypBBecember 31, 2011 and 2010
and the related consolidated statements of opesttockholders' (deficit) equity, and cash fldarseach of the three years in the period e
December 31, 2011These financial statements are the responsilafithe Company's management. Our responsibility express an opini
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaf8lo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet aodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdimidugcial statements are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tiliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An &
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managementethas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredbove present fairly, in all material respeditg, ¢onsolidated financial position of D¢
Air Lines, Inc. at December 31, 2011 and 2030d the consolidated results of its operationsigncash flows for each of the three years ii
period ended December 31, 2011 , in conformity Wit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Delta Air Line
Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting @sDecember 31, 2011 , based on criteria estadlish Internal Controlategrated Framewo
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiminthe Treadway Commission and our report datelorlgey 10, 2012=xpressed ¢
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgia

February 10, 2012
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

(in millions, except share data) 2011 2010
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 2657 $ 2,89z
Short-term investments 95¢ 71€
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and short-teresiments 30E 40¢
Accounts receivable, net of an allowance for uremible accounts of $33 and $40
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively 1,567 1,45¢
Expendable parts and supplies inventories, net @fllawance for obsolescence of $101 and $104
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively 367 31¢
Deferred income taxes, net 461 35¢E
Prepaid expenses and other 1,41¢ 1,15¢
Total current assets 7,72¢ 7,307
Property and Equipment, Net:
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depfesiand amortization of $5,472 and $4,164
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively 20,22¢ 20,30
Other Assets:
Goodwill 9,79¢ 9,79¢
Identifiable intangibles, net of accumulated anmmation of $600 and $530
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively 4,751 4,74¢
Other noncurrent assets 1,00z 1,031
Total other assets 15,54 15,574
Total assets 43,49¢ $ 43,18¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt and capitakks 1,94¢ % 2,07¢
Air traffic liability 3,48( 3,30¢
Accounts payable 1,60(C 1,71z
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 1,84¢ 1,69(C
Accrued salaries and related benefits 1,367 1,37¢C
Taxes payable 594 51
Other accrued liabilities 1,867 654
Total current liabilities 12,70: 11,38¢
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Long-term debt and capital leases 11,847 13,17¢
Pension, postretirement and related benefits 14,20( 11,49:
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 2,70C 2,771
Deferred income taxes, net 2,02¢ 1,92¢
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,41¢ 1,53¢
Total noncurrent liabilities 32,194 30,90¢
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity:
Common stock at $0.0001 par value; 1,500,000,08€eshauthorized, 861,499,734 and 847,716,723
shares issued at December 31, 2011 and 2010, teghec — —
Additional paid-in capital 13,99¢ 13,92¢
Accumulated deficit (8,39¢) (9,257)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (6,76€) (3,57%)
Treasury stock, at cost, 16,253,791 and 12,993%h@€es at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively (231) (29¢9)
Total stockholders' (deficit) equity (1,396 897
Total liabilities and stockholders' (deficit) equit 43,49¢ $ 43,18¢




The accompanying notes are an integral part oktemsolidated Financial Statements.

47




DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2011 2010 2009
Operating Revenue:
Passenger:
Mainline $ 2386« $ 2140t ¢ 18,52:
Regional carriers 6,39: 5,85( 5,28¢
Total passenger revenue 30,257 27,25¢ 23,807
Cargo 1,027 85C 78¢
Other 3,831 3,641 3,46¢
Total operating revenue 35,11¢ 31,75¢ 28,06:

Operating Expense:

Aircraft fuel and related taxes 9,73( 7,594 7,38¢
Salaries and related costs 6,894 6,751 6,83¢
Contract carrier arrangements 5,47( 4,30¢ 3,82:
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs 1,76t 1,56¢ 1,43¢
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses 1,682 1,50¢ 1,40¢
Contracted services 1,64 1,54¢ 1,59¢
Depreciation and amortization 1,52z 1,511 1,53¢
Landing fees and other rents 1,281 1,281 1,28¢
Passenger service 721 675 63€
Aircraft rent 29¢ 387 48(
Profit sharing 264 313 —
Restructuring and other items 242 45(C 407
Other 1,62¢ 1,64¢ 1,55¢
Total operating expense 33,14( 29,53¢ 28,38
Operating Income (LosS) 1,97¢ 2,215 (329

Other (Expense) Income:

Interest expense, net (901) (969) (881)
Amortization of debt discount, net (293 (21€) (370
Loss on extinguishment of debt (68) (391) (83)
Miscellaneous, net (44 (33 77
Total other expense, net (1,20¢€) (1,609 (1,257)
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes 76¢ 60¢ (1,587
Income Tax Benefit (Provision) 85 (15) 344
Net Income (Loss) $ 854 % 59: $ (1,237)
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ 1.0z  $ 071 % (1.50
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ 1.01 % 0.7¢ % (1.50

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktlEssolidated Financial Statements.
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ 854 $ 592 $ (1,237

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mesthcprovided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,52 1,511 1,53¢€
Amortization of debt discount, net 193 21€ 37C
Loss on extinguishment of debt 68 391 83
Fuel hedge derivative contracts 13E (13€) (149
Deferred income taxes 2 9 (329
Pension, postretirement and postemployment expgesethan) in excess of payments (30¢) (302) 307
Equity-based compensation expense 72 89 10€
Restructuring and other items 142 182 —

Changes in certain assets and liabilities:

Receivables (76) (241) 147
Hedge margin receivables (24) — 1,132
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 152 16 79
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (16) @ (61)

Air traffic liability 174 232 (28€)
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 82 (34%) (29¢)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 303 51€ 143
Other assets and liabilities (3793) (98) (139)
Other, net (66) 10E (29)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,83 % 2832 % 1,37¢

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Property and equipment additions:

Flight equipment, including advance payments (907) (1,055 (951)
Ground property and equipment, including technology (347) (287) (251)
Purchase of investments (1,079 (815) —
Redemption of investments 844 14¢ 25€
Other, net (10) 18 (62)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,499 (2,02€6) (1,00¢)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease digiga (4,172) (3,729 (2,897)
Proceeds from long-term obligations 2,39t 1,13(C 2,96€
Fuel card obligation 31¢ — —
Debt issuance costs (63) (19) —
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (51) — —
Other, net 2 90 (94)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,577 (2,52)) (19)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalent (235) (1,715 352
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,89: 4,607 4,25k
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 2,651 $ 2892 % 4,601
Supplemental disclosure of cash paid for interest $ 92t % 1,03¢ % 867
Non-cash transactions:
Flight equipment under capital leases $ 117 $ 32¢  $ 57
JFK redevelopment project funded by third parties 12€ — —
Debt relief through vendor negotiations — 16C —
Debt discount on American Express agreements — 11C —

Aircraft delivered under seller financing — 20 13¢



The accompanying notes are an integral part oet@mnsolidated Financial Statements.
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' (Deficitrquity

Retained Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Earnings Other Treasury Stock
- Paid-In (Accumulated Comprehensive —

(in millions, except per share data) Shares  Amount Capital Deficit) Income (Loss) Shares  Amount Total
Balance at January 1, 2009 70 $ — $ 13,71« $ (8,60¢) $ (4,080) 8 $ (152) $ 874
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss — — — (1,237 — — — (1,237
Other comprehensive income — — — — 517 — — 517
Total comprehensive loss (720)
Shares of common stock issued to settle bankrug#aisns under

Delta's Plan of Reorganization 36 — — — — — — —
Shares of common stock issued to settle bankrug&ims under

Northwest's Plan of Reorganization 3 — — — — — — —

Shares of common stock issued to pilots in conaeatiith the merger
with Northwest (Treasury shares withheld for paytratiaxes,
$4.55 per sharé)} 50 — — — — — ) )

Shares of common stock issued and compensatiomsg@ssociated
with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld forrpent of taxes,

$6.77 per sharéy 3 — 10¢ — — 3 (20) 88

Stock options exercised — — 5 — — — — 5
Balance at December 31, 2009 79t — 13,827 (9,845) (3,569) 11 (174 24E
Comprehensive income:
Net income — — — 592 — — — 59z
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (15) — — (15
Total comprehensive income 57¢
Shares of common stock issued to settle bankrugéisns under

Delta's Plan of Reorganization 44 — — — — — — —
Shares of common stock issued to settle bankrug&ims under

Northwest's Plan of Reorganization 5 — — — — — — —

Shares of common stock issued and compensatiomse@ssociated
with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld fogrrpant of taxes,

$12.41 per sharé) 3 — 89 — — 2 (25) 64

Stock options exercised 1 — 10 — — — — 10
Balance at December 31, 2010 84¢ — 13,92¢ (9,257) (3,57¢) 13 (199) 897
Comprehensive loss:
Net income — — — 854 — — — 854
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (3,18¢) — — (3,189
Total comprehensive loss (2,339
Shares of common stock issued to settle bankrug&imns under

Delta's Plan of Reorganization 9 — — — — — — —
Shares of common stock issued to settle bankrugéaisns under

Northwest's Plan of Reorganization 1 — — — — — — —

Shares of common stock issued and compensatiomsg@ssociated
with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld forpant of taxes,

$9.63 per share) 3 — 72 — — 3 (32 40
Stock options exercised — — 1 — — — — 1
Balance at December 31, 2011 861 $ — $ 1399 $ (8,39¢) $ (6,76€) 16 $ (231) $ (1,39%)

®  Weighted average price per st

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktl@mnsolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentatiol

Delta Air Lines, Inc., a Delaware corporation, do®s scheduled air transportation for passenget€argo throughout the United States
(“U.S.”) and around the world. Our Consolidateddrfinial Statements include the accounts of Deltd_ies, Inc. and our wholly-owned
subsidiaries and have been prepared in accordaitit@aecounting principles generally accepted inth8. (‘GAAP”). We do not consolidate
the financial statements of any company in whichhaee an ownership interest of 50% or less. Wenat¢he primary beneficiary of, nor do
we have a controlling financial interest in, anyiable interest entity. Accordingly, we have nohsolidated any variable interest entity. We
reclassified certain prior period amounts, none/loich were material, to conform to the current pengpresentation.

We have marketing alliances with other airlinestdance our access to domestic and internation&ietisa These arrangements may
include codesharing, reciprocal frequent flyer paog benefits, shared or reciprocal access to pgsséunges, joint promotions, common use
of airport gates and ticket counters, ticket officelocation and other marketing agreements. We hageived antitrust immunity for certain
marketing arrangements, which enables us to offeore integrated route network and develop comnatessmarketing and discount
programs for customers. Some of our marketing gerarents provide for the sharing of revenues andresgs. Revenues and expenses
associated with collaborative arrangements areepted on a gross basis in the applicable line il@msur Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

On July 1, 2010, we sold Compass Airlines, Inc.dftfpass”) and Mesaba Aviation, Inc. (“Mesaba”), ahiolly-owned subsidiaries, to
Trans States Airlines, Inc. (“Trans States”) anah@cle Airlines Corp. (“Pinnacle”), respectivelypah the closing of these transactions, we
entered into new or amended lotegm capacity purchase agreements with CompassiMeand Pinnacle. Prior to these sales, expenst¢sd
to Compass and Mesaba as our wholly-owned subigidiesere reported in the applicable expense lerast Subsequent to these sales,
expenses related to Compass and Mesaba are reperteditract carrier arrangements expense.

Use of Estimates

We are required to make estimates and assumptibes preparing our Consolidated Financial Statemiardscordance with GAAP. The
estimates and assumptions affect the amounts ezporibur Consolidated Financial Statements an@tlempanying notes. Actual results
could differ materially from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Standarc

Revenue Arrangements with Multiple DeliverablesS{A2009-13")In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard ("FASB")
issued "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Delildes." The standard (1) revises guidance on wheimidual deliverables may be treated
as separate units of accounting, (2) establistsedliag price hierarchy for determining the sellpigce of a deliverable, (3) eliminates the
residual method for revenue recognition and (4yigies guidance on allocating consideration amopausee deliverables. It applies only to
contracts entered into or materially modified afb@cember 31, 2010. We adopted this standard oosp@ctive basis beginning January 1,
2011. We determined that the only revenue arrangemmpacted by the adoption of this standardlawed associated with our frequent flyer
program (the "SkyMiles Program"). See "FrequeneFRrogram” below.

Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requireméntslay 2011, the FASB issued "Amendments to Achi€eenmon Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. BAAd IFRSs." The standard revises guidance fovéhie measurement and expands
the disclosure requirements. It is effective prasipely for fiscal years beginning after DecembBr 2011. We are currently evaluating the
impact the adoption of this standard will have an Gonsolidated Financial Statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investneent
Short-term, highly liquid investments with matuegiof three months or less when purchased ardfiddsas cash and cash equivalents.

Investments with maturities of greater than thremths, but not in excess of one year, when purchaseclassified as short-term investments.
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Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable primarily consist of amounts éhem credit card companies from the sale of pagseairline tickets, customers of our
aircraft maintenance and cargo transportation sesvand other companies for the purchase of milessgtts under our SkyMiles Program.
provide an allowance for uncollectible accountsatdo the estimated losses expected to be incli@sdd on historical chargebacks, wofés,
bankruptcies and other specific analyses. Bad edgitnse was not material in any period presented.

Derivatives

Our results of operations are impacted by changegcraft fuel prices, interest rates and foragmrency exchange rates. In an effort to
manage our exposure to these risks, we enter erfealive contracts and may adjust our derivatigefplio as market conditions change. We
recognize derivative contracts at fair value on©ansolidated Balance Sheets.

Not Designated as Accounting HedgeBective June 2011, we stopped designating neWwdeigvative contracts as accounting hedges and
discontinued hedge accounting for our then exidhire) derivative contracts that previously had bdesignated as accounting hedges. As a
result, we record market adjustments for changéaiiitvalue to earnings in aircraft fuel and rethtaxes. Prior to this change in accounting
designation, gains or losses on these contracts eeferred in accumulated other comprehensiveuotiscontract settlement.

Designated as Cash Flow HedgEsr derivative contracts designated as cash fladgég, the effective portion of the gain or losgtom
derivative is reported as a component of accumdilatieer comprehensive loss and reclassified intoiegs in the same period in which the
hedged transaction affects earnings. The effepidrdon of the derivative represents the chandaiimvalue of the hedge that offsets the ch:
in fair value of the hedged item. To the extent¢hange in the fair value of the hedge does ndepty offset the change in the fair value of
the hedged item, the ineffective portion of thede immediately recognized in other (expense)nme.

Designated as Fair Value Hedgé=or derivative contracts designated as fair vakdgles (interest rate contracts), the gain or loghe
derivative and the offsetting loss or gain on tedde item attributable to the hedged risk are neieed in current earnings. We include the ¢
or loss on the hedged item in the same accouieagftsetting loss or gain on the related derivatientract, resulting in no impact to our
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following table summarizes the risk each typdesivative contract is hedging and the classiforaof related gains and losses on our
Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Derivative Type Hedged Risk Classification of Gains and Losses
Fuel hedge contracts Increases in jet fuel prices Aircraft fuel and related taxes
Interest rate contracts Increases in interesg rate Interest expense, net

Foreign currency exchange contracts  Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates  Passenger revenue

The following table summarizes the accounting tresatt of our derivative contracts:

Impact of Unrealized Gains and Losses

Accounting Designation Effective Portion Ineffective Portion

Not designated as hedges Change in fair value of hedge is recorded in e@snin

Designated as cash flow hedges Market adjustnaeatsecorded in Excess, if any, over effective portion of
accumulated other comprehensive lostiedge is recorded in other (expense) inc

Designated as fair value hedges Market adjustments are recorded in lon Excess, if any, over effective portion of

term debt and capital leases hedge is recorded in other (expense) inc
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We perform, at least quarterly, both a prospedive retrospective assessment of the effectiverfeas aerivative contracts designated as
hedges, including assessing the possibility of tenparty default. If we determine that a derivaiv@o longer expected to be highly effective,
we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively andgnize subsequent changes in the fair valueedfi¢gkige in earnings. We believe our
derivative contracts that continue to be designatededges, consisting of interest rate and foraigrency exchange contracts, will continur
be highly effective in offsetting changes in cashwfattributable to the hedged risk.

Hedge Marginln accordance with our fuel, interest rate andifpreurrency hedge contracts, we may require copatges to fund the
margin associated with our gain position and/om¢erparties may require us to fund the margin aasedt with our loss position on these
contracts. The amount of the margin, if any, igquiically adjusted based on the fair value of tedde contracts. The margin requirements are
intended to mitigate a party's exposure to theafstontracting party default. We do not offset giarfunded to counterparties or margin
funded to us by counterparties against fair valewunts recorded for our hedge contracts.

The hedge margin we receive from counterpartiesdsrded in cash and cash equivalents or restraaed, cash equivalents and short-term
investments, with the offsetting obligation in agots payable. The hedge margin we provide to copatges is recorded in accounts
receivable. All cash flows associated with purchgsind settling hedge contracts are classifiegpasating cash flows.

Passenger Ticket

We record sales of passenger tickets in air tréiffluility. Passenger revenue is recognized whempregide transportation or when the tic
expires unused, reducing the related air traféibility. We periodically evaluate the estimatedteaffic liability and record any adjustments in
our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Thesstatents relate primarily to refunds, exchangesidactions with other airlines and other
items for which final settlement occurs in perieddsequent to the sale of the related tickets auats other than the original sales price.

Taxes and Fees

We are required to charge certain taxes and fe@siopassenger tickets, including U.S. federaldpantation taxes, federal security char
airport passenger facility charges and foreigrvattnd departure taxes. These taxes and feessgesments on the customer for which we act
as a collection agent. Because we are not entitleetain these taxes and fees, we do not include amounts in passenger revenue. We re
a liability when the amounts are collected and cedihe liability when payments are made to theiepbple government agency or operating
carrier.

Frequent Flyer Program

The SkyMiles Program offers incentives to traveDmita. This program allows customers to earn rgieeredits by flying on Delta,
regional air carriers with which we have contraatrier agreements (“Contract Carriers”) and aiditigat participate in the SkyMiles Program,
as well as through participating companies suatredit card companies, hotels and car rental agenée also sell mileage credits to non-
airline businesses, customers and other airlines.

The SkyMiles Program includes two types of trarisastthat are considered revenue arrangementswittiple deliverables. As discussed
below, these are (1) passenger ticket sales eammilegge credits and (2) the sale of mileage csddiparticipating companies with which we
have marketing agreements. Mileage credits arparate unit of accounting as they can be redeemedstomers in future periods for air
travel on Delta and participating airlines, memhgrsn our Sky Club and other program awards.

Passenger Ticket Sales Earning Mileage Creéiitsssenger ticket sales earning mileage credits wneSkyMiles Program provide
customers with two deliverables: (1) mileage ceeddrned and (2) air transportation. Effective dand, 2011, we began applying the
provisions of ASU 2009-13 to passenger ticketsiagrmileage credits. Under ASU 2009-13, we valughedeliverable on a standalone basis.
Our estimate of the standalone selling price oflaage credit is based on an analysis of our sHlesileage credits to other airlines and
customers and is re-evaluated at least annuallyus®eestablished ticket prices to determine thedsiane selling price of air transportation.
We allocate the total amount collected from passetigket sales between the deliverables basetanrelative selling prices.
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We defer revenue from the mileage credit compon&passenger ticket sales and recognize it as pgsseevenue when miles are
redeemed and services are provided. We recordattiep of the passenger ticket sales for air transgpion in air traffic liability and recognize
these amounts in passenger revenue when we prioaitgportation or when the ticket expires unuséw ddoption of ASU 2009-13 did not
have a material impact on the timing of revenu@gedion or its classification with regard to pasger tickets earning mileage credits.

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2009-13, we used tedual method for revenue recognition. Under ésidual method, we determined the
fair value of the mileage credit component basegrires at which we sold mileage credits to otlidinas and then considered the remainder
of the amount collected to be the air transpontatieliverable.

Sale of Mileage Credit€Customers may earn mileage credits through paatiicigp companies such as credit card companiesstentd car
rental agencies with which we have marketing agezgmto sell mileage credits. Our contracts toredage credits under these marketing
agreements have two deliverables: (1) the mileaggits redeemable for future travel and (2) thekei@mg component.

ASU 2009-13 does not apply to contracts to seleagk credits entered into prior to January 1, 201dss those contracts are materially
modified. As of December 31, 2011, we had not ni@tgmodified any of our significant agreementair@ost significant contract to sell
mileage credits relates to our co-brand credit calationship with American Express. For additiomdbrmation about this relationship, see
Note 6. For contracts entered into prior to Jandar3011 that have not been materially modifiedsidanuary 1, 2011, we continue to use
residual method for revenue recognition and vahlg the mileage credits. Under the residual metttioel portion of the revenue from the
mileage component is deferred and recognized aepgsr revenue when miles are redeemed and seaveepsovided. The portion of the
revenue received in excess of the fair value oéagé credits sold, the marketing component, isgr@zed in income as other revenue wher
related marketing services are provided. The falue of a mileage credit is determined based aeprat which we sell mileage credits to o
airlines and is re-evaluated at least annually.

If we enter into new contracts or materially modifisting contracts to sell mileage credits relatedur SkyMiles Program, we will value
the standalone selling price of the marketing comemb and allocate the revenue from the contractdas the relative selling price of the
mileage credits and the marketing component. A riateodification of an existing contract could iaqgi our deferral rate or cause an
adjustment to our deferred revenue balance, whackdanaterially impact our future financial results

Breakage For mileage credits which we estimate are notyiltelbe redeemed (“Breakage”), we recognize thedated value
proportionally during the period in which the remag mileage credits are expected to be redeenfesle$timate of Breakage is based on
historical redemption patterns. A change in assiongtas to the period over which mileage crediégseapected to be redeemed, the actual
redemption activity for mileage credits or the mstied fair value of mileage credits expected todoeemed could have a material impact on
our revenue in the year in which the change ocandsin future years.

Regional Carriers Revenu

During the year ended December 31, 2011 , we hattawi carrier agreements with nine Contract Cegriecluding our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Comair, Inc. (“Comair”). Our Contracii@er agreements are structured as either (1)cdggaurchase agreements where we
purchase all or a portion of the Contract Carriegigacity and are responsible for selling the sr@ntory we purchase or (2) revenue proration
agreements, which are based on a fixed dollar mepéage division of revenues for tickets solddegengers traveling on connecting flight
itineraries. We record revenue related to all af@antract Carrier agreements as regional carpassenger revenue. We record expenses
related to our Contract Carrier agreements, exctydiomair, as contract carrier arrangements expense
Cargo Revenue

Cargo revenue is recognized when we provide tmsprartation.
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Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily comprised of (1) the kesing component of the sale of mileage creditsudised above, (2) baggage fee reve
(3) other miscellaneous service revenue, inclutitiget change fees and (4) revenue from ancillaisifesses, such as the aircraft maintenance
and repair and staffing services we provide tatparties.

Long-Lived Assets

The following table shows our property and equipmen

December 31,

(in millions, except for estimated useful life) Estimated Useful Life 2011 2010

Flight equipment 21-30 years $ 21,00: $ 20,31:
Ground property and equipment 3-40 years 3,25¢ 3,12
Flight and ground equipment under capital leases  Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life 1,127 98¢
Assets constructed for others 30 years 234 —
Advance payments for equipment 77 48
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (5,472) (4,169
Total property and equipment, net $ 20,22: $ 20,30

We record property and equipment at cost and digeeor amortize these assets on a straight-lisis ba their estimated residual values
over their estimated useful lives. The estimatezfuldife for leasehold improvements is the shodklease term or estimated useful life.
Depreciation expense for the years ended Decemhe&0d 1 , 2010 and 2009 was $1.4 billion , $1.4dpiland $1.3 billion , respectively.
Residual values for owned spare parts and simuslai@ generally 5% of cost except when guaranteedthird party for a different amount.

We capitalize certain internal and external castsitired to develop and implement software, and timeothose costs over an estimated
useful life of three to seven years. For the yeaded December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , we red¢&64 million , $71 million and $95
million , respectively, for amortization of capid software. The net book value of these ass&tiet $200 million and $153 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010 , respectively.

We record impairment losses on flight equipment @thetr long-lived assets used in operations whentsvand circumstances indicate the
assets may be impaired and the estimated futureflcags generated by those assets are less tharc#ngying amounts. Factors which could
cause impairment include, but are not limited 19,8 decision to permanently remove flight equipterother long-lived assets from
operations, (2) significant changes in the estichateful life, (3) significant changes in projectadh flows, (4) permanent and significant
declines in fleet fair values and (5) changes ¢orégulatory environment. For long-lived assetsl fiet sale, we discontinue depreciation and
record impairment losses when the carrying amofititase assets is greater than the fair valuethessost to sell.

To determine whether impairments exist for aircuasid in operations, we group assets at the fipetievel (the lowest level for which
there are identifiable cash flows) and then estnfiature cash flows based on projections of capagassenger mile yield, fuel costs, labor
costs and other relevant factors. If an impairnoecurs, the impairment loss recognized is the amloyimvhich the aircraft's carrying amount
exceeds its estimated fair value. We estimateadirtair values using published sources, appramadsbids received from third parties, as
available.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
We apply a fair value-based impairment test tortbiebook value of goodwill and indefinitered intangible assets on an annual basis (
October 1) and, if certain events or circumstarnodiate that an impairment loss may have beenriadyon an interim basign Septembe

2011, the FASB issued "Testing Goodwill for Impagm." The standard revises the way in which estitesst goodwill for impairment. V
adopted this standard and applied its provisiormitcannual goodwill impairment test in the Decen2@l1 quarter.
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We value goodwill and identified intangible asgatsnarily using market capitalization and incom@mgach valuation techniques. These
measurements include the following significant ussetable inputs: (1) our projected revenues, exggeand cash flows, (2) an estimated
weighted average cost of capital, (3) assumed digtaates depending on the asset and (4) a taxTHaése assumptions are consistent with
those hypothetical market participants would usecé&we are required to make estimates and assamsptihen evaluating goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairmethie actual amounts may differ materially from thesémates.

Changes in assumptions or circumstances couldt iesahpairment. Factors which could cause impaintieclude, but are not limited to,
(1) negative trends in our market capitalizatid@),gn increase in fuel prices, (3) declining pagsemile yields, (4) lower passenger deman
a result of the weakened U.S. and global econoB)yinferruption to our operations due to an empdosteike, terrorist attack, or other reasons,
(6) changes to the regulatory environment and ¢Asaclidation of competitors in the airline industry

Goodwill. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 , our goodwilhbet was $9.8 billion . In evaluating goodwill forpairment, we estimate
the fair value of our reporting unit by considerim@rket capitalization and other factors if it isnm likely than not that the fair value of our
reporting unit is less than its carrying valuethié reporting unit's fair value exceeds its caigymalue, no further testing is required. If, howe
the reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its\falue, we then determine the amount of the inmpaitt charge, if any. We recognize an
impairment charge if the carrying value of the mtipg unit's goodwill exceeds its estimated failuea

Identifiable Intangible Asset@ur identifiable intangible assets had a net cag@mount of $4.8 billion at December 31, 201 1defimite-
lived assets are not amortized and consist prignafifoutes, slots, the Delta tradename and assktted to SkyTeam. Definite-lived intangible
assets consist primarily of marketing agreemendiscamtracts and are amortized on a straight-lirséshar under the undiscounted cash flows
method over the estimated economic life of theeeBpe agreements and contracts. Costs incurrezhew or extend the term of an intangible
asset are expensed as incurred.

We perform the impairment test for indefinite-liviedangible assets by comparing the asset's faieva its carrying value. Fair value is
estimated based on (1) recent market transactidmer,e available, (2) the lease savings methodddam airport slots (which reflects potential
lease savings from owning the slots rather thasimgathem from another airline at market rateg)tf{@ royalty method for the Delta tradene
(which assumes hypothetical royalties generated fnsing our tradename) or (4) projected discoufugde cash flows. We recognize an
impairment charge if the asset's carrying valueeds its estimated fair value.

Income Taxes

We account for deferred income taxes under thditiamethod. We recognize deferred tax assetsl@ahdlities based on the tax effects of
temporary differences between the financial statérard tax bases of assets and liabilities, as uneddy current enacted tax rates. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recorded net agntiand noncurrent deferred income taxes. A valoatllowance is recorded to reduce deferred
tax assets when necessary. For additional infoamabout our valuation allowance, see Note 11.

Manufacturers' Credits

We periodically receive credits in connection viltle acquisition of aircraft and engines. Theseitsede deferred until the aircraft and
engines are delivered, and then applied on a padiasis as a reduction to the cost of the relegedoment.

Maintenance Cost:

We record maintenance costs to aircraft maintenaraterials and outside repairs. Maintenance costexpensed as incurred, except for
costs incurred under power-by-the-hour contractsclvare expensed based on actual hours flown. Poyvthe-hour contracts transfer certain
risk to third party service providers and fix the@int we pay per flight hour to the service provigeexchange for maintenance and repairs
under a predefined maintenance program. Modificatibat enhance the operating performance or extendseful lives of airframes or
engines are capitalized and amortized over theirengeestimated useful life of the asset or theamimg lease term, whichever is shorter.
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Inventories

Inventories of expendable parts related to fligitipment are carried at moving average cost antyelao operations as consumed. An
allowance for obsolescence is provided over theaneimg useful life of the related fleet for spagts expected to be available at the date
aircraft are retired from service. We also prowadlewances for parts identified as excess or obsatereduce the carrying costs to the lower of
cost or net realizable value. These parts are asgtohave an estimated residual value of 5% obtlggnal cost.
Advertising Cost:

We expense advertising costs as other selling esgsein the year incurred. Advertising expense v2dgl $nillion , $169 million and $176
million for the years ended December 31, 2011 0281d 2009 , respectively.

Commissions

Passenger commissions are recognized in operatpense when the related revenue is recognized.
NOTE 2. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as an exit price, represgritie amount that would be received to sell antasggaid to transfer a liability in an orde
transaction between market participants. Fair vauwemarket-based measurement that is determisetibon assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or lighiA three-tier fair value hierarchy is usedpnoritize the inputs in measuring fair value as
follows:
» Level 1.0bservable inputs such as quoted prices in actamets
» Level 2. Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markibat are observable either directly or indiggahc

» Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which require the reporting entitgdévelop its own assumptio

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value @seld on one or more of three valuation techniciegtified in the tables below. The
valuation techniques are as follows:

(a) Market approact. Prices and other relevant information generatedharket transactions involving identical or congide assets or
liabilities;

(b) Cost approachAmount that would be required to replace the sere@pacity of an asset (replacement cost)

(c) Income approactTechniques to convert future amounts to a singésgmt amount based on market expectations (ingysiesent value
techniques, option-pricing and excess earnings fapde

Assets (Liabilities) Measured at Fair Value on a &ering Basis

December 31, Valuation

(in millions) 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Technique
Cash equivalents $ 2,351 $ 2,351 $ — $ — (@)
Short-term investments 95¢ 95¢ — — €))
Restricted cash equivalents and short-term invagsne 341 341 — — (a)
Long-term investments 18¢ 55 24 10¢ (a)(c)
Hedge derivatives, net

Fuel hedge contracts 70 — 70 — (@)(c)

Interest rate contracts (92) — (92) — (@)(c)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (89) — (89) — €))
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December 31, Valuation

(in millions) 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Technique
Cash equivalents $ 2,69¢ $ 2,69¢ $ — $ — (@)
Short-term investments 71€ 71¢ — — €)
Restricted cash equivalents and short-term invessne 44C 44C — — €)
Long-term investments 144 — 25 11¢ (a)(c)
Hedge derivatives, net

Fuel hedge contracts 351 — 351 — (a)(c)

Interest rate contracts (74) — (74) — (a)(c)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (96) — (96) — €)

Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and RéstriCash Equivalents and Short-term Investmé&dsh equivalents and short-term
investments generally consist of money market fiardstreasury bills. Restricted cash equivalentssdnort-term investments are primarily
held to meet certain projected self-insurance aliligs and generally consist of money market fiardstime deposits. A portion of our
restricted cash equivalents and short-term investsrere recorded in other noncurrent assets. Gpshagents, short-term investments and
restricted cash equivalents and short-term investsrare recorded at cost, which approximates fdirer Fair value is based on the market
approach using prices and other relevant informagienerated by market transactions involving isahir comparable assets.

Long-term InvestmentBivestments with maturities of greater than one yden purchased are recorded at fair value inratbecurrent
assets. Our long-term investments are comprisedapily of student loan backed auction rate seasitilassified as available-for-sale and
insured auction rate securities classified as tigadiecurities. Any change in the fair value of ¢hescurities is recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive loss or earnings, as appropriatBegember 31, 2011 and 2010 , the fair value ofamgtion rate securities was $109 million
and $119 million , respectively. The cost of thesestments was $133 million and $143 milliorespectively. These investments are class
in other noncurrent assets due to the protracikddan the auction process and long-term natdith@se contractual maturities.

Because auction rate securities are not activatjett, fair values were estimated by discounting#tsh flows expected to be received over
the remaining maturities of the underlying secesitiWe based the valuations on our assessmensefvaible yields on instruments bearing
comparable risks and considered the creditwortBinéshe underlying debt issuer. Changes in mar@edtlitions could result in further
adjustments to the fair value of these securities.

Hedge DerivativeOur derivative contracts are generally privatelgateated with counterparties without going throwgpublic exchange.
Accordingly, our fair value assessments give carsition to the risk of counterparty default (aslwaslour own credit risk).

» Fuel DerivativesOur fuel hedge portfolio generally consists of agitions; put options, combinations of two or moa#l options and put
options; swap contracts; and futures contracts.prbducts underlying the hedge contracts are d@érasof jet fuel, such as heating oil,
crude oil and low sulfur diesel. Option contraats walued under the income approach using optimingrmodels based on data either
readily observable in public markets, derived fromblic markets or provided by counterparties whgutarly trade in public markets.
Volatilities used in these valuations ranged frodfelto 47% depending on the maturity dates, undeglgpmmodities and strike prices of
the option contracts. Swap contracts are value@wthe income approach using a discounted cashrflodel based on data either readily
observable or derived from public markets. Discaatgs used in these valuations ranged from 0.28504676% based on interest rates
applicable to the maturity dates of the respeativgtracts. Futures contracts are traded on a pekdbange and are valued based on quotec
market prices.

* Interest Rate DerivativeOur interest rate derivatives consist of swap @mtsrand are valued primarily based on data rea8ggrvable in
public markets.

» Foreign Currency Derivative:Our foreign currency derivatives consist of Japanen and Canadian dollar forward contracts and are
valued based on data readily observable in pubdikkats.

» Changes in Level During 2011 and 2010, we did not have any hedgeateres classified in Level 3. The following taldbows the
changes in our hedge derivatives, net classifidaeirel 3 during 2009:
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Hedge Derivatives,

(in millions) Net
Balance at January 1, 2009 $ (1,09
Change in fair value included in other comprehem@icome 1,23(
Change in fair value included in earnings:

Aircraft fuel and related taxes (1,269

Miscellaneous, net 31
Purchases and settlements, net 1,19¢
Transfers from Level & (10€)
Balance at December 31, 2009 $ —

@ During 2009, we implemented systems that bettevigeofor the evaluation of certain inputs againsrket data. As a result, we reclassified our optiontracts to Level
2.

For additional information regarding the compositand classification of our derivative contraces dlote 3.
Benefit Plan Asset&enefit plan assets relate to our defined benefisfon plans and certain of our postemploymentfiigsians that are

funded through trusts. The following table shows lmenefit plan assets by asset class. These ineastrare presented net of the related be
obligation in pension, postretirement, and reldtedefits. For additional information regarding biégnadan assets, see Note 10.

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Valuation Valuation

(in millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Technique Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Technique
Common stock

u.s. $ 79€$ 7€ — ¢ — (a) $ 1427 $ 1,40: $ 25 % — €)

Non-U.S. 91C 87t — 35 (a) 1,09C  1,05¢ — 32 (a)
Mutual funds

U.S. 18 — 18 — (a) 1 1 — — (€)

Non-U.S. 24¢€ 21 22F — (a) — — — — (®)

Non-U.S. emerging markets 2 — 2 — (a) 314 — 314 — €)

Diversified fixed income 42€ — 42€ — €)) 222 — 222 — @)

High yield 58 — 58 —  (a)(c) 20¢ — 20¢ —  (a)(c)
Commingled funds

U.S. 917 — 917 — (®) 1,77¢ — 1,77¢ — (&

Non-U.S. 783 — 783 — (a) 514 — 514 — (®)

Non-U.S. emerging markets — — — — (a) 13t — 13t — (€)

Diversified fixed income 77€ — 77€ — (a) 45¢ — 45¢ — €)

High yield 92 — 92 — (@ 93 — 93 — €)
Alternative investments

Private equity 1,62( — — 1,62C (a)(c) 1,55¢ — — 1,55¢  (a)(c)

Real estate and natural resources 424 — — 424 (a)(c) 39¢€ — — 39€  (a)(c)
Hedge Funds 432 — — 43z  (a)(c) — — — —
Fixed income 764 — 758 11 (a)(c) 551 — 511 40  (a)(c)
Foreign currency derivatives

Assets 73€ — 73€ — (a) 87¢ — 87¢ — €)

Liabilities (735) — (735) — €) (874) — (874) — €)
Cash equivalents and other 447 46 401 — (a) 60¢ 52 557 — €)
Total benefit plan assets $ 8,714 $ 1,73t $ 4,45¢ $ 2,52 $ 9,35¢ $ 2,51: $ 4,81¢ $ 2,027
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Common StockCommon stock is valued at the closing price regbote the active market on which the individual sés are traded.

Mutual and Commingled Fundshese funds are valued using the net asset valigediby the number of shares outstanding, which is
based on quoted market prices of the underlyingtagssvned by the fund.

Alternative Investment3he valuation of alternative investments requiigaiicant judgment due to the absence of quotetkatgrices as
well as the inherent lack of liquidity and the let@gm nature of these assets. Accordingly, thesetasre generally classified in Level 3.
Alternative investments include private equity,l restate, energy and timberland. Investments dreedébased on valuation models where one
or more of the significant inputs into the modehicat be observed and which require the developwfeadsumptions. We also assess the
potential for adjustment to the fair value of theseestments due to the lag in the availabilityafa. In these cases, we solicit preliminary
valuation updates at year-end from the investmeartagers and use that information and corroboratétg from public markets to determine
any needed adjustments to fair value.

Fixed Incomelnvestments include corporate bonds, governmentdfiarollateralized mortgage obligations and otlssetibacked securitit
These investments are generally valued at therid pr the average of the bid and ask price. Bréce based on pricing models, quoted prices
of securities with similar characteristics, or beokjuotes.

Hedge FundsOur hedge fund investments are primarily made tiinashares of limited partnerships or similar liditebility structures for
which a liquid secondary market does not exist.déefinds are considered Level 3 assets. Hedge amnedslued monthly by a third-party
administrator that has been appointed by the fugeteral partner.

Foreign Currency Derivative©ur foreign currency derivatives consist of variémsvard contracts and are valued based on datklyea
observable in public markets.

Cash Equivalents and Othérhese investments primarily consist of short temrestment funds which are valued using the net astge.
Cash is not included in the table above.

Changes in Level 3 he following table shows the changes in our beémddin assets classified in Level 3:

Private Common

(in millions) Equity Real Estate Hedge Funds Stock Fixed Income Total
Balance at January 1, 2010 $ 1,21¢ $ 33€ $ — $ 35 $ 46 $ 1,63
Actual return on plan assets:

Related to assets still held at the reporting date 16C 34 — (D) 1 194

Related to assets sold during the period 64 4 — — 4 72
Purchases and settlements, net 53 22 — 2 (12) 62
Transfers to Level 3 66 — — — — 66
Balance at December 31, 2010 1,55¢ 39¢€ — 32 40 2,027
Actual return on plan assets:

Related to assets still held at the reporting date 36 20 ()] 3 (10 41

Related to assets sold during the period 42 5 — (6) 12 53
Purchases and settlements, net a7 3 44C 6 (32) 401
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 1620 % 424 3 432 $ 3k S 11 $ 2,522
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Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Bs

Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

(in millions) December 31, 201 December 31, 201 Valuation Technique
Goodwill @ $ 9,79 $ 9,79¢ (@)(b)(c)
Indefinite-lived intangible assefs(see Note 5) 4,37¢ 4,30% (a)(c)

®  See Note 1, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assetsi,a description of how these assets are testeidfmairment

In the September 2010 quarter, we recorded a $1i6mimpairment charge primarily related to owaision to substantially reduce
Comair's fleet over the two years ending DecemliePB12 by retiring older, less-efficient CRJ-1@050-seat aircraft. In evaluating these
aircraft for impairment, we estimated their faifueby utilizing a market approach consideringgdblished market data generally accepted in
the airline industry, (2) recent market transacjomhere available, (3) the current and projectguply of and demand for these aircraft and (4)
the condition and age of the aircraft. Based onfaiuwvalue assessments, these aircraft had amastil fair value of $97 million and are
classified in Level 3 of the three-tier fair valoierarchy.

NOTE 3. DERIVATIVES

Our results of operations are impacted by changegcraft fuel prices, interest rates and foragmrency exchange rates. In an effort to
manage our exposure to these risks, we enter erivalive contracts and may adjust our derivatiggfplio as market conditions change.

Aircraft Fuel Price Risk

Our results of operations are materially impactgdhmanges in aircraft fuel prices. We actively ngmaur fuel price risk through a hedging
program intended to provide an offset against imees in jet fuel prices. This fuel hedging progrdilizces several different contract and
commodity types, which are used together to craatek mitigating hedge portfolio. The economiceetfveness of this hedge portfolio is
frequently tested against our financial targete fldge portfolio is rebalanced from time to timecading to market conditions, which may
result in locking in gains or losses on hedge @mtérprior to their settlement dates .

Effective June 2011, we stopped designating newdervative contracts as accounting hedges arsbditued hedge accounting for our
then existing fuel derivative contracts that preiy had been designated as accounting hedgesressilh, we record market adjustments for
changes in fair value to earnings in aircraft faedl related taxes. Prior to this change in accogrdesignation, gains or losses on these
contracts were deferred in accumulated other conemsve loss until contract settlement.

The following table shows the impact of fuel hedgéns (losses) for both designated and undesigratgtiacts on aircraft fuel and related
taxes on our Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009

Effective portion reclassified from accumulatedestbomprehensive loss to earnings $ 232 $ (87 $ (1,349
Market adjustments for changes in fair value 187 2 (15)
Gain (loss) recorded in aircraft fuel and relaixks $ 428 (89 % (1,359

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to market risk from adverse changegenest rates is primarily associated with ounglderm debt obligations. Market risk
associated with our fixed and variable rate lorrgatdebt relates to the potential reduction in f@ilue and negative impact to future earnings,
respectively, from an increase in interest rates.

In an effort to manage our exposure to the risk@aged with our variable rate lorigrm debt, we periodically enter into derivativetacts
comprised of interest rate swaps and call optiorements. We designate our interest rate contuaets to convert our interest rate exposul
a portion of our debt portfolio from a floating eab a fixed rate as cash flow hedges, while tlvosg¢racts converting our interest rate exposure
from a fixed rate to a floating rate are designaedair value hedges.
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We also have exposure to market risk from advenseges in interest rates associated with our cadltash equivalents and benefit plan
obligations. Market risk associated with our casti eash equivalents relates to the potential dedfinnterest income from a decrease in
interest rates. Pension, postretirement, postemptay, and worker's compensation obligation ris&tes to the potential increase in our future
obligations and expenses from a decrease in intertes used to discount these obligations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchange ratebécause we have revenue and expense denomimébeeign currencies with our
primary exposures being the Japanese yen and Gandaliar. To manage exchange rate risk, we exdmitteour international revenue and
expense transactions in the same foreign currentlyetextent practicable. From time to time, we ralsp enter into foreign currency option
and forward contracts. These foreign currency exgbaontracts are designated as cash flow hedges.
Hedge Positior

The following tables reflect the fair value asdielity) positions, notional balances and matudates of our hedge contracts:

As of December 31, 2011:

Prepaid Other Other Other Hedge
Final Expenses and Noncurrent Accrued Noncurrent  Derivatives,
(in millions) Notional Balance Maturity Date Other Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities net
Designated as hedges
Interest rate contracts (cash $ 98¢ U.S. dollars May 2019 $ — $ — $ 27 % (57 $ (84)
flow hedges)
Interest rate contracts (fair $ 50C U.S. dollars August 2022 — — — ) )
value hedges)
Foreign currency exchange 126,99 Japanese yen April 2014 7 5 (58) (43) (89)
contracts 312 Canadian dollars
Not designated as hedges
Fuel hedge contracts 1,22t gallons - heating oll, December 57C — (500) — 70
crude oil, and jet fuel 2012
Total derivative contracts $ 577 $ 5% (58¢f) $ (107 $ (110
As of December 31, 2010:
Prepaid Other Other Other Hedge
Final Expenses and Noncurrent Accrued Noncurrent  Derivatives,
(in millions) Notional Balance Maturity Date Other Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities net
Designated as hedges
Fuel hedge contracts 1,50C gallons - crude oil February $ 32¢ % 24 $ — % — 3 352
2012
Interest rate contracts (cash $  1,14: U.S. dollars May 2019 — — (35) (39 (74)
flow hedges)
Foreign currency exchange  141,10( Japanese yen November — — (60) (36) (96)
contracts 23Z Canadian dollars 2013
Not designated as hedges
Fuel hedge contracts 19z gallons - crude oiland ~ June 2012 27 14 (19 6)) 14
crude oil products
Total derivative contracts $ 358 $ 38 $ (119 ¢ (83) $ 19¢
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Hedge Gains (Losse:!

Gains (losses) related to our designated hedgeamtstincluding those previously designated aswtting hedges, are as follows:

Effective Portion Reclassified from

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss to Effective Portion Recognized in Other
Earnings Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Fuel hedge contracts $ 23¢ % B87N$ (1,349 $ (16€) $ 152 $  1,26¢
Interest rate contracts — (5) — (8) (28) 51
Foreign currency exchange contracts (62) (32) (6) 7 (73 11
Total designated $ 17z $ (1239 $ (1,350 $ (167) $ 52§ 1,33(

As of December 31, 2011 , we recorded in accumdilatieer comprehensive loss $36 million of net less® our hedge contracts scheduled
to settle in the next 12 months.

Credit Risk

To manage credit risk associated with our airdtadt price, interest rate and foreign currency lieglgprograms, we select counterparties
based on their credit ratings and limit our expedorany one counterparty. We monitor our relathagket position with each counterparty.

Our hedge contracts contain margin funding requimrisy which are driven by changes in the pricdefunderlying hedged items and the
contracts used. The margin funding requirements caage us to post margin to counterparties or rmagecounterparties to post margin to us
as market prices in the underlying hedged itemaghaDue to the fair value position of our hedget@rts, we paid $30 million and received
$119 million of net hedge margin from counterpartis of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Our accounts receivable are generated largely fhansale of passenger airline tickets and cargsprartation services. The majority of
these sales are processed through major creditoanganies, resulting in accounts receivable theat be subject to certain holdbacks by the
credit card processors. We also have receivabes fine sale of mileage credits under our SkyMilesggFam to participating airlines and non-
airline businesses such as credit card compani¢sishand car rental agencies. The credit risk@ated with our receivables is minimal.

Self-Insurance Risk

We self-insure a portion of our losses from clamglated to workers' compensation, environmentakissproperty damage, medical
insurance for employees and general liability. lessare accrued based on an estimate of the ulteggregate liability for claims incurred,
using independent actuarial reviews based on stdnddustry practices and our historical experiescgortion of our projected workers'
compensation liability is secured with restrictedlt collateral.

NOTE 4. JFK REDEVELOPMENT
During 2010, we began a redevelopment projectlat Fo Kennedy International Airport (“JFK”). At JEKve currently operate domestic
flights primarily at Terminal 2 and internationfights at Terminal 3 under leases with the Porthauty of New York and New Jersey (“Port

Authority”), which operates JFK. We also condudltits from Terminal 4, which is operated by JFkehmiational Air Terminal LLC (“IAT”),a
private party, under its lease with the Port Auitilyor
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We estimate the redevelopment project, which vélcbmpleted in stages over five years, will cogrrapimately $1.2 billion . The project
currently includes the (1) enhancement and exparaiderminal 4, including the construction of nimew international gates; (2) construction
of a passenger connector between Terminal 2 ardifial 4; (3) demolition of the outdated Terminalsich was constructed in 1960; and
development of the Terminal 3 site for aircrafthpag positions. Construction at Terminal 4 has canoed and is scheduled to be completed
in 2013. Upon completion of the Terminal 4 expansiwe will relocate our operations from Terminab3Terminal 4, proceed with with the
demolition of Terminal 3, and thereafter conduatrdinated flight operations from Terminals 2 and#ce our project is complete, we expect
that passengers will benefit from an enhanced oust@xperience and improved operational performanckiding reduced taxi times and
better on-time performance.

In December 2010, the Port Authority issued appnately $800 million principal amount of special jeit bonds to fund the substantial
majority of the project. Also in December 2010, evgtered into a 33 year agreement with IAT (“SulB€pt sublease space in Terminal 4.
IAT is unconditionally obligated under its leasetwthe Port Authority to pay rentals from the rewes it receives from its operation and
management of Terminal 4, including among othersental payments under the Sublease, in an ansuofffitient to pay principal and intere
on the bonds. We do not guarantee payment of thddad@ he balance of the project costs will be gtediby Port Authority passenger facility
charges, Transportation Security Administrationding, and our contributions. Our future rental pays will vary based on our share of total
passenger and baggage counts at Terminal 4, thberwhgates we occupy in Terminal 4, IAT's acexenses of operating Terminal 4 and
other factors.

We will be responsible for the management and coason of the project and bear construction riskluding cost overruns. We record an
asset for project costs as construction takes ptgardless of funding source. These costs inaledegn fees, labor, and construction permits,
as well as physical construction costs such asmgasgystems, utilities, and other costs generaypeiated with construction projects. The
project will also include capitalized interest bdie®m amounts we spend calculated based on our te€igliverage incremental borrowing rate.
The related construction obligation is recorded asn-current liability and is equal to projecttsdsinded by parties other than us. Future
rental payments will reduce the construction olti@aand result in the recording of interest exgemsiculated using the effective interest
method. During the construction period, we willealscur costs for construction site ground renigense and any remediation and abatement
activities, all of which will be expensed as inadr As of December 31, 2011, we have recorded #ilién as a fixed asset as if we owned
the asset and $170 million as the related construcbligation.

We have an equity-method investment in the enthjctv owns IAT, our sublessor at Terminal 4. Thel8ae requires us to pay certain
fixed management fees. We determined the investimenvariable interest and assessed whether weedagntrolling financial interest in IA
Our rights under the Sublease with respect to mamagt of Terminal 4 are consistent with rights ggdrto an anchor tenant under a standard
airport lease. Accordingly, we do not consolid&e éntity in which we have an investment in our €&didated Financial Statements.

NOTE 5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Carrying Amount at December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010

International routes and slots $ 2,24( $ 2,29(C
Delta tradename 85C 85C
SkyTeam 661 661
Domestic slots 624 50z
Total $ 437 $ 4,30%

International Routes and Slots. evaluating these assets for impairment, we ed#échtheir fair value by utilizing an excess eagsin
method, which is an income approach. In the Decer®&l quarter, we reduced flight frequencies betwhe U.S. and Moscow. Based
primarily on our recent expectations regardingube of our Moscow routes and slots, the carryirigevaf these routes and slots exceeded the
estimated fair value. As a result of this decisiwa,recorded a $50 million impairment charge irirceturing and other items on our
Consolidated Statement of Operations related tardgarnational routes and slots. As of December2B1,1, our remaining international routes
and slots relate to our Japanese routes and slots.
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In October 2010, the U.S. and Japan signed a tilsagreement, which allows U.S. air carriers uitkieh flying to and from Japan under
route authorities granted by the U.S. Departmenftrafsportation. Access to the primary Japanepems (Haneda and Narita airports in
Tokyo) continues to be regulated through allocatiohslots, which limit the rights of carriers tpavate at these airports. The U.S. and Japan
have agreed on plans for a limited number of aolddti slots at these airports. The substantial numbgots we hold at Tokyo Narita Airport,
combined with limited-entry rights we hold in ott@untries, enables us to operate a hub at Tokwyingethe Asia-Pacific region.

We currently believe that the current U.S.-Japéatdrial agreement and the March 2011 earthquakésandmi will not have a significant
long-term impact on our Pacific routes and sldierefore, these assets continue to have an intéefii@ and are not presently impaired.
Negative changes to our operations could reswhiimpairment charge or a change from indei-lived to definite-lived in the period in
which the changes occur or are projected to occur.

Domestic SlotdDuring December 2011, we closed the transactionteagplated under an agreement with US Airways oy the
exchange of takeoff and landing rights at LaGuakdiport ("LaGuardia") and Reagan National airpoldsder the agreement, (1) Delta
acquired 132 slot pairs at LaGuardia from US Airgig2) US Airways acquired from Delta 42 slot pat&fReagan National; the rights to
operate additional daily service to Sao Paulo, BBna2015; and $66.5 million in cash. Additionglipelta divested 16 slot pairs at LaGuardia
and eight slot pairs at Reagan National to airliwigk limited or no service at those airports aadaived $90 million in cash proceeds from the
sale of the divested slot pairs. The divestituréheke slot pairs resulted in the recognition $#3 million gain during the December 2011
quarter in restructuring and other items on oursotidated Statement of Operations.

As of December 31, 2011, the 132 slot pairs acduatd.aGuardia were recorded at fair value. Weregtd their fair value using a
combination of limited market transactions andl#ase savings method, which is an income apprddese assets are classified in Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value redaie the 42 slot pairs at Reagan National acquisedS Airways was removed from our
indefinite-lived intangible assets. In approving thansaction, the Department of Transportatiotrioésd our use of the exchanged slots
through July 2012. We recorded a deferred gainvtilbbe recognized in 2012 as these restrictiapsé.

Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(in millions) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Marketing agreements $ 73C $ (48¢) $ 73C $ (429)
Contracts 19z (62) 19z (49
Other 53 (53 53 (53
Total $ 97€¢ $ (600) $ 97€¢ $ (530)

Total amortization expense for the years ended mDbee 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 was $70 million , &#Bion and $97 million,
respectively. The following table summarizes thiinested aggregate amortization expense for eathedfive succeeding fiscal years:

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions)

2012 $ 69
2013 68
2014 67
2015 67
2016 9
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NOTE 6. AMERICAN EXPRESS RELATIONSHIP

General.Our agreements with American Express provide fmt jmarketing, grant certain benefits to Delta-Arcan Express co-branded
credit card holders ("Cardholders™) and Americapriess Membership Rewards Program participantsathod American Express to market
our customer database. Cardholders earn mileadéscfer making purchases on their co-branded ¢andy check their first bag for free on
every Delta flight and enjoy other benefits whilaveling with Delta. Additionally, participants the American Express Membership Rewards
program may exchange their points for mileage tsathider the SkyMiles Program. As a result, wersdftage credits at agreed upon rates to
American Express for provision to their customearder the co-brand credit card program and the Meshige Rewards program.

Advance Purchase of SkyMilés.2008, we entered into a multi-year extensionwf American Express agreements and received $1.0
billion from American Express for an advance purchase pi8&s (the "prepayment”). The 2008 agreement mtedithat our obligations wi
respect to the advance purchase would be satifidtnerican Express uses the purchased miles mpdfied future period (“SkyMiles
Usage Period”), rather than by cash payments freto American Express. Due to the SkyMiles Usag®&eand other restrictions placed
upon American Express regarding the timing andafiske SkyMiles, we classified the $1.0 billion vexeived, the prepayment, as long-term
debt.

In 2010, we amended our 2008 American Express agmee The amendments, among other things, (1) geawiat Cardholders may check
their first bag for free on every Delta flight tlugh June 2013 ("Baggage Fee Waiver Period"), (2hgld the SkyMiles Usage Period to a
three-year period beginning in the December 20Ektqufrom a two-year period beginning in Decen?@&t0 quarter, and (3) gave American
Express the option to extend our agreements withntfor one year.

During the SkyMiles Usage Period, which commenagihg the December 2011 quarter, American Expresiiaw down on the
prepayment instead of paying cash to Delta for Slgdvused. As of December 31, 2011, $952 milliotheforiginal $1.0 billion debt (or
prepayment) remained, including $333 million whisttlassified in current maturities of long-termbtland capital leases. As SkyMiles are
used by American Express, we recognize the tworagpeevenue components of these SkyMiles consigligim our accounting policy
discussed in Note 1. We defer revenue relatedet@dtintion of the mileage credits redeemable farrkitravel and recognize it as passenger
revenue when miles are redeemed and services@riglpd. The value of the marketing component igieined under the residual method
recognized as other revenue as related marketmgss are provided.

Annual Sale of SkyMilekh December 2011, we further amended our Ameriogrdss agreements and sold American Ex$68 million
of SkyMiles. Under the December 2011 amendmentntieipate American Express will make additionalghases of $675 million of
SkyMiles in each of 2012, 2013, and 2014. The Ddmam2011 amendment also extends the Baggage FeeMpariod. The SkyMiles
purchased pursuant to the December 2011 amendnagnivenused immediately by American Express. Thgaisfthese SkyMiles is not
restricted in any way. These annual purchases yi¥18&s will be recorded as deferred revenue wittlinrent liabilities. The portion of each
purchase of SkyMiles related to mileage creditgesdable for future travel will be classified witlirequent flyer deferred revenue and the
portion related to the marketing component willdessified within other accrued liabilities.

The December 2011 amendment does not change thHeenaimiles that we expect American Express teipase from us over the next
four years. It only impacts the timing of thoseqhases. The December 2011 amendment did not mgks&gmificant changes to the
deliverables (the mileage credits sold and the starg component). Therefore, it is not a materiatification of the American Express
agreements under the accounting guidance. A fumaterial modification of the American Express agreats could impact our deferral rate
cause an adjustment to our deferred revenue balaméeh could materially impact our future finariaiasults. For additional information, see
"Frequent Flyer Program" in Note 1.

Fuel Card Obligation In December 2011, we also obtained a purchasirdjwith American Express for the purpose of buyatduel. The

card currently carries a maximum credit limit ofl®6million and must be paid monthly. As of Decem®&r 2011, we had $318 million
outstanding on this purchasing card, which wassifiesl as other accrued liabilities.
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NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following table summarizes our long-term debt:

Interest Rate(s) per Annum

December 31,

(in millions) at December 31, 2011 2011 2010
Senior Secured Credit Facilities:

Term Loan Facility, due 2017 5.50%  variablé 1,36¢ $ —

Revolving Credit Facility, due 2016 undrawn variable® — —
Senior Secured Exit Financing Facilities, due 284@ 2014 n/a — 1,45(C
Senior Secured Pacific Facilities:

Pacific Routes Term Facility, due 2016 4.25%  variablé) 24¢ 247

Pacific Routes Revolving Facility, due 2013 undrawn variable® — —
Senior Secured Notes, due 2014 9.50% fixed 60C 67t
Senior Second Lien Notes, due 2015 12.25% fixed 30¢€ 397
Bank Revolving Credit Facilities, due 2012 undrawn  variablé€” — —
Other Secured Financing Arrangements:

Certificates, due in installments from 2012 to 2023 0.92% to 9.75% 4,67 5,31(C

Aircraft financings, due in installments from 20tt22025%? 0.86% to 6.76% 4,57( 5,17(

Other secured financings, due in installments f&fh2 to 2031® 2.25% to 6.12% 721 81C
Total secured debt 12,49( 14,05¢
American Express - Advance Purchase of SkyMfles 952 1,00(
Other unsecured debt, due in installments from 2012035 3.00% to 9.07% 35& 383
Total unsecured debt 1,307 1,38
Total secured and unsecured debt 13,79 15,44:
Unamortized discount, net (737) (93%)
Total debt 13,06( 14,50°
Less: current maturities (1,827%) (1,959
Total long-term debt $ 1123t $ 12,55

@ Interest rate equal to LIBOR (subject to a floarraother index rate, in each case plus a speaifigayin

@ Secured by an aggregate of 269 aircraft

®  Primarily includes manufacturer term loans secimgdpare parts, spare engines and aircraft, ahesese loan
@ For additional information about our debt assodatéth American Express, see Noti

Senior Secured Credit Facilitie

In 2011, we entered into senior secured first-timdit facilities (the “Senior Secured Credit Faigit”) to borrow up to $2.6 billion . The
Senior Secured Credit Facilities consist of a $illlibn first-lien term loan facility (the “Term Lan Facility”) and a $1.2 billion first-lien
revolving credit facility, up to $500 million of vitch may be used for the issuance of letters ofic(dte “Revolving Credit Facility”).

Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility must beaid@mnnually in an amount equal to 1% of the oagprincipal amount (to be paid in
equal quarterly installments), with the balance itupril 2017 . Borrowings under the Revolving @iteFacility are due in April 2016 . At
December 31, 2011 , the Revolving Credit Faciligswandrawn.

Our obligations under the Senior Secured Credillifas are guaranteed by substantially all of domestic subsidiaries (the “GuarantQrs”
The Senior Secured Credit Facilities and the rdlgtearantees are secured by liens on certain cdmdithe Guarantors' assets, including
accounts receivable, inventory, flight equipmemnbumd property and equipment, certain non-Paaifiernational routes, domestic slots, real
estate and certain investments (the “Collateral”).
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The Senior Secured Credit Facilities contain evehtiefault customary for similar financings, inding cross-defaults to other material
indebtedness and certain change of control evéhtsSenior Secured Credit Facilities also includengs of default specific to our business,
including the suspension of all or substantiallyoélour flights and operations for more than fa@secutive days (other than as a result of a
Federal Aviation Administration suspension duexwaordinary events similarly affecting other majiS. air carriers). Upon the occurrenc
an event of default, the outstanding obligationy i@ accelerated and become due and payable imielgdigor a discussion of related
financial covenants, see "Key Financial Covenabé&tbw.

Senior Secured Exit Financing Facilitie:

In connection with entering into the Senior SecuCeedit Facilities, we retired the outstanding lwamder our $2.5 billion senior secured
exit financing facilities and terminated those liéieis as well as an existing undrawn $100 millrexrolving credit facility. These retired senior
secured exit financing facilities consisted of:

e $914 million first-lien revolving credit faciltand an $86 million first-lien term loan due AR2D12;
e $600 million first-lien synthetic revolving fdity due April 2012; anc
e $900 million second-lien term loan facility dAeril 2014.

Senior Secured Pacific Facilitie

In 2009, we entered into a first-lien term loanilfcin the aggregate principal amount of $250lmil (the “Pacific Routes Term Facility”)
and a first-lien revolving credit facility in theygregate principal amount of $500 million (the “FiadRoutes Revolving Facility”), collectively
the “Senior Secured Pacific Facilities.” The SerSecured Pacific Facilities are guaranteed by thar&tors and are secured by a first lien on
our Pacific route authorities and certain relatesess (the “Pacific Collateral”). Lenders under 8®mior Secured Pacific Facilities and holders
of the Senior Secured Notes (described below) bgual rights to payment and the Pacific Collateral.

During 2011, we refinanced and amended the PaRdittes Term Facility to, among other things, (Huee the interest rate, (2) extend the
maturity date from September 2013 to March 2016(&8hanhodify certain negative covenants and defandvisions to be substantially similar
to those described above under “Senior SecuredtCGradlities.”

Borrowings under the Pacific Routes Term Facilitysinbe repaid in an amount equal to 1% of the maigdrincipal amount of the term
loans annually (to be paid in equal quarterly ilhstants), with the balance due in March 2016 . Batings under the Pacific Routes Revolving
Facility are due in March 2013 and can be repaéraborrowed without penalty. As of December 311, 20the Pacific Routes Revolving
Facility was undrawn.

The Senior Secured Pacific Facilities contain mé&mggprepayment provisions that require us in ¢efitasstances to prepay obligations
under the Senior Secured Pacific Facilities in emtion with dispositions of collateral. For a dission of related financial covenants, see "Key
Financial Covenants" below.

Senior Secured Note

In 2009, we issued $750 million principal amounSehior Secured Notes that mature in September 20felmay redeem some or all of
these notes at specified redemption prices. Ifellecertain of our assets or if we experience djuekinds of changes in control, we must offer
to repurchase the Senior Secured Notes. During,204 Yoluntarily redeemed $75 million principal aumé of Senior Secured Notes. We also
voluntarily redeemed $75 million principal amoufitSenior Secured Notes in 2010.

The Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed by thea@oas and are secured by the Pacific Collateraldéts of the Senior Secured Notes
and lenders under the Senior Secured Pacific Easilidiscussed above) have equal rights to payarehtollateral.

The Senior Secured Notes contain events of defastbmary for similar financings, including crossfalilts to other material indebtedness.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default, thetanting obligations may be accelerated and beclhra@nd payable immediately. For a
discussion of related financial covenants, see "Riegncial Covenants"” below.
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Senior Second Lien Note

In conjunction with the issuance of the Senior $edWNotes, we issued $600 million principal amafBenior Second Lien Notes that
mature in March 2015 . We may redeem some or dii@Senior Second Lien Notes on or after Marchi2D32 at specified redemption prices.
If we sell certain of our assets or if we expereespecific kinds of changes in control, we musgiofd repurchase the Senior Second Lien
Notes. During 2010, we repurchased in a cash tesfteEr$171 million principal amount of Senior Second Liéates.

Our obligations under the Senior Second Lien Natesguaranteed by the Guarantors, and our obligatiad the related guarantees are
secured on a junior basis by security interesthenPacific Collateral. The Senior Second Lien Natelude default provisions that are
substantially similar to the ones described un&@eamior Secured Notes due 2014” above. For a digcus§related financial covenants, see
"Key Financial Covenants" below.

Key Financial Covenant:

Our secured debt instruments discussed above mélfiimative, negative and financial covenants tkatrict our ability to, among other
things, make investments, sell or otherwise dispds®llateral if we are not in compliance with thalateral coverage ratio tests described
below, pay dividends or repurchase stock. We wemmmpliance with all covenants in our financingesgnents at December 31, 2011 . The
financial covenants require us to maintain the minn levels shown in the table below:

Senior Secured Credit Senior Secured Senior Secured Senior Second Lien

Facilities Pacific Facilities Notes Notes
Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratid 1.20:1 1.20:1 n/a n/a
Minimum Unrestricted Liquidity
Unrestricted cash and permitted investments $1.0 billion n/a n/a n/a
Unrestricted cash, permitted investments, and undra
revolving credit facilities $2.0 billion $2.0 bdn n/a n/a
Minimum Collateral Coverage Rati® 1.67:1® 1.60:1 1.60:1 1.00:1

@ Defined as the ratio of (a) earnings before inteteges, depreciation, amortization and aircrafitrand other adjustments to net income to (bjtime of gross cash interest

expense (including the interest portion of our tajzied lease obligations) and cash aircraft repease, for the 1aonth period ending as of the last day of eaclafigoarter
Defined as the ratio of (a) certain of the collatéhat meets specified eligibility standards tptfie sum of the aggregate outstanding obligatéontscertain other obligatiot
Excluding the norRacific international routes from the collateral purposes of the calculation, the required mininagttateral coverage ratio is 0.7

@
@)

Minimum Collateral Coverage RatitUinder the Senior Secured Credit Facilities andtaeior Secured Pacific Facilities, if the collatera
coverage ratios are not maintained, we must efifride additional collateral to secure our obligas, or we must repay the loans under the
facilities by an amount necessary to maintain cé@mnpk with the collateral coverage ratios. Under3lenior Secured Notes and Senior Seconc
Lien Notes, if the collateral coverage ratios asémaintained, we must generally pay additionariest on the notes at the rate of 2% per
annum until the collateral coverage ratio equalsadt the minimum. The value of the collaterat thes been pledged in each facility may
change over time, which may be reflected in applaisf collateral required by our credit agreemeams indentures. These changes could
result from factors that are not under our contotlecline in the value of collateral could redulf situation where we may not be able to
maintain the collateral coverage ratio.

Availability Under Revolving Credit Facilitie:

The table below shows our availability under reuadvcredit facilities as of December 31, 2011 :

December 31,

(in millions) 2011

Revolving Credit Facility, due 2016 $ 1,22t
Pacific Routes Revolving Facility, due 2013 50C
Bank Revolving Credit Facility, due 2012 10C
Total availability under revolving credit facilige $ 1,82¢
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Other Secured Financing Arrangements

During 2011, we retired $502 million of existingadeinder our other secured financing arrangemetas fo scheduled maturity. During
2010, we (1) repurchased in cash tender offers #li@n of Pass-Through Trust Certificates, (2hewved $160 million of debt relief through
vendor negotiations and (3) prepaid or repurch&d@®3 million of other existing debt.

In 2010, we also restructured $820 million of érgtdebt, including changes in applicable interagts and other payment terms. To
account for debt restructurings, we compare th@restent value of future cash flows for each nelt destrument to the remaining cash flows
of the existing debt. If there is at least a 10%ngfe in cash flows, we treat the restructuring dsta extinguishment. We record losses on
extinguishment of debt for the difference betwdenftir value of the new debt and the carrying @afithe existing debt. The carrying value
of the existing debt includes any unamortized dist® or premiums, unamortized issuance costs, mpg@r@miums paid to retire the existing
debt.

Certificates.Pass-Through Trust Certificates and Enhanced Eanpifrust Certificates (“EETC”) (collectively, tfi€ertificates”) are
secured by 262 aircraft . During the three yeadedrDecember 31, 2011, we received proceeds fréemnimjs of EETC as shown in the table
below.

Proceeds Received

(In millions, unless Total Fixed Interest Offering Completion

otherwise stated) 2011 2010 2009 Principal Rate Date Final Maturity Date Collateral
2011-1A $ 29 § — $ — 9 29z 5.300% April 2011 April 2019 26 aircraft
2011-1B 10z — — 10z 7.125% August 2011 October 2014 26 aircraft®
2010-2A 204 27C — 474 4.950% November 2010 May 2019 28 aircraft
2010-2B 13t — — 13t 6.750% February 2011 November 2015 28 aircraft®
2010-1A — 45C — 45C 6.200% July 2010 July 2018 24 aircraft
2010-1B 10C — — 10C 6.375% February 2011 January 2016 24 aircraft®
2009-1A — 28¢ 281 56¢ 7.750% November 2009 December 2019 27 aircraft
2009-1B — 59 61 12C 9.750% November 2009 December 2016 27 aircrafi®
Total $ 834 $ 1,067 $ 34z $ 2,24:%

@ Each of the B tranches are secured by the samafaiticat secure related A tranct

As of December 31, 2010, $204 million held in esctmder the 201@A EETC was not recorded on the balance sheet dmd/@o right tc
these funds until the equipment notes securingehtficates were issued. We assessed whetheagetprough trusts were variable interest
entities required to be consolidated. Because olyrabligation with respect to the trusts is to mahkterest and principal payments on the
equipment notes held by the trusts and becauseawesrio current rights to the escrowed funds, welcded we do not have a variable interest
in the related trusts. Accordingly, we did not calidate them. As of December 31, 2011 , no amorentsgined in escrow.

Unamortized Discount, Net

Our unamortized discount, net results from faiueshdjustments recorded in 2008 to reduce theiogrmalue of our long-term debt due to
purchase accounting and an advance purchase ofifglsyy American Express (see Note 6). As describélde table below, we amortize
these adjustments over the remaining maturitighefespective debt to amortization of debt distouet on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations. During the years ended December 31, Zm10 and 2009, we recorded $68 million , $39%Migniand $83 million in losses,
respectively, from the early extinguishment of deldtich primarily related to the write-off of dethiscounts.
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Future Maturities

The following table summarizes scheduled maturibfesur debt, including current maturities, at Deter 31, 2011:

Years Ending December 31, Total Secured and ~ Amortization of Debt

(in millions) Unsecured Debt Discount, net

2012 $ 1,928 $ (199)

2013 1,55¢ (157)

2014 2,28¢ (104)

2015 1,347 (75)

2016 1,24( (66)

Thereafter 5,441 (13€)

Total $ 13,797 $ (7370 $ 13,06(

Fair Value of Debt

Market risk associated with our fixed and variatalee long-term debt relates to the potential redadn fair value and negative impact to
future earnings, respectively, from an increasatierest rates. In the table below, the aggregatesélue of debt was based primarily on
reported market values, recently completed marketstctions and estimates based on interest nagsrities, credit risk and underlying
collateral:

December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010

Total debt at par value $ 13,797 $ 15,44
Unamortized discount, net (737) (93%)
Net carrying amount $ 13,06( $ 14,507
Fair value $ 13,60C $ 15,40(

NOTE 8. LEASE OBLIGATIONS

We lease aircraft, airport terminals, maintenaradifies, ticket offices and other property andiipgnent from third parties. Rental expense
for operating leases, which is recorded on a ditdige basis over the life of the lease term, lats$1.1 billion , $1.2 billion and $1.3 billidior
the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2@8pectively. Amounts due under capital leasesem@rded as liabilities, while assets
acquired under capital leases are recorded asnyapel equipment. Amortization of assets recomgeder capital leases is included in
depreciation and amortization expense. Many ofainaraft, facility, and equipment leases includetatescalation clauses and/or renewal
options. Our leases do not include residual valusrantees and we are not the primary beneficiaoy lmave other forms of variable interest
with the lessor of the leased assets. As a raselhave not consolidated any of the entities thasé to us.
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The following tables summarize, as of December2B1,1 , our minimum rental commitments under capéases and noncancelable
operating leases (including certain aircraft un@dentract Carrier agreements) with initial or reniggnterms in excess of one year:

Capital Leases

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions) Total

2012 $ 221
2013 19¢
2014 16¢
2015 15t
2016 165
Thereafter 32¢
Total minimum lease payments 1,22¢
Less: amount of lease payments representing interes (489
Present value of future minimum capital lease payme 737
Plus: unamortized premium, net (6)
Less: current obligations under capital leases (117)
Long-term capital lease obligations $ 614

Operating Leases

Contract Carrier

Years Ending December 31, Delta Lease Aircraft Lease

(in millions) Payments® Payments® Total
2012 $ 92¢ $ 53€ $ 1,462
2013 912 52¢ 1,441
2014 862 51¢ 1,38(
2015 76E 50€ 1,271
2016 677 44¢ 1,12¢
Thereafter 6,66( 92¢ 7,58¢
Total minimum lease payments $ 10,80z $ 3,46¢ $ 14,26¢

@ Includes payments accounted for as constructioigatibns. See Note
@ Represents the minimum lease obligations undeCoutract Carrier agreements with ExpressJet Aislimec. (formerly Atlantic Southeast Airlines, Ij\aChautauqua
Airlines, Inc. (“Chautauqua”), Compass, MesabanRate, Shuttle America Corporation (“Shuttle Amatjcand SkyWest Airlines, Inc.

At December 31, 2011 , we and our wholly-owned gliaigy Comair operated 111 aircraft under capitakles and 90 aircraft under
operating leases. Our Contract Carriers under dggaerchase agreements (excluding Comair) operab@daircraft under operating leases.

NOTE 9. PURCHASE COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Aircraft Purchase Commitment

Future aircraft purchase commitments at DecembgP@11 are estimated to total approximately $6l®hiand include 100 B-737-900ER
aircraft, 18 B-787-8 aircraft and nine previouslyreed MD-90 aircraft. The following table shows tivaing of these commitments:
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Years Ending December 31,

(in millions) Total

2012 $ 21t
2013 53C
2014 74&
2015 76C
2016 76C
Thereafter 3,81(
Total $ 6,82(

During 2011, we entered into an agreement with Bbeing Company to purchase 100 B-737-900ER airerilft deliveries beginning in
2013 and continuing through 2018 . We have obtagmedmitted long-term financing for a substantiattfpm of the purchase price of these
aircraft.

Our aircraft purchase commitments do not includkers for five A319-100 aircraft and two A320-20€ceft because we have the right to
cancel these orders.

Contract Carrier Agreements

During the year ended December 31, 2011 , we hattaxd carrier agreements with nine contract cesri@cluding our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Comair. Our third-party contract caragreements have expiration dates ranging froné 202022 .

Capacity Purchase AgreementSuring the year ended December 31, 2011 , sewair&tt Carriers operated for us (in addition tor@@)
under capacity purchase agreements. Under theseragnts, the Contract Carriers operate some of tieir aircraft using our flight
designator codes, and we control the schedulingngr, reservations, ticketing and seat inventooiethose aircraft and retain the revenues
associated with those flights. We pay those aisliae amount, as defined in the applicable agreem#nth is based on a determination of tl
cost of operating those flights and other factoterided to approximate market rates for those sesvi

The following table shows our minimum fixed obligats under these capacity purchase agreementsi@fxglComair). The obligations set
forth in the table contemplate minimum levels gfrf by the Contract Carriers under the respeaiye@ements and also reflect assumptions
regarding certain costs associated with the minirteyrals of flying such as the cost of fuel, labogintenance, insurance, catering, property
tax and landing fees. Accordingly, our actual pagtaeinder these agreements could differ matetfiediy the minimum fixed obligations set
forth in the table below.

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions) Amount @

2012 $ 2,34(
2013 2,42(
2014 2,43(
2015 2,40(
2016 2,10(
Thereafter 5,70(
Total $ 17,39(

@ These amounts exclude Contract Carrier lease pagmatounted for as operating leases, which areridesl in Note 8. The contingencies described belowle
“Contingencies Related to Termination of Contraati@r Agreements” are also excluded from thiseabl

Revenue Proration Agreementas of December 31, 2011 , we had a revenue pooragreement with American Eagle Airlines, Inc. In
addition, a portion of our Contract Carrier agreatneith SkyWest Airlines, Inc. is structured asaenue proration agreement. These revenue
proration agreements establish a fixed dollar ocgr@tage division of revenues for tickets solddegengers traveling on connecting flight
itineraries.

73




Contingencies Related to Termination of Contractriea Agreements

We may terminate without cause the Chautauqua agneteat any time and the Shuttle America agreemteany time after January 20bg
providing certain advance notice. If we termindther the Chautauqua or Shuttle America agreemeititi®ut cause, Chautauqua or Shuttle
America, respectively, has the right to (1) as$@uos leased aircraft that the airline operatesifpiprovided we are able to continue the leases
on the same terms the airline had prior to thegagsént and (2) require us to purchase or leasaiatraft the airline owns and operates for us
at the time of the termination. If we are requiteghurchase aircraft owned by Chautaugua or Shéittierica, the purchase price would be
equal to the amount necessary to (1) reimburse t@hgua or Shuttle America for the equity it prodde purchase the aircraft and (2) repay in
full any debt outstanding at such time that isb&ihg assumed in connection with such purchasee lére required to lease aircraft owned by
Chautauqua or Shuttle America, the lease would (BHva rate equal to the debt payments of Chautaogq®huttle America for the debt
financing of the aircraft calculated as if 90% loé aircraft was debt financed by Chautauqua ortlehAimerica and (2) other specified terms
and conditions . Because these contingencies dependr termination of the agreements without caquis® to their expiration dates, no
obligation exists unless such termination occurs.

We estimate that the total fair values, determimedf December 31, 2011, of the aircraft ChautawguShuttle America could assign to us
or require that we purchase if we terminate with@aise our contract carrier agreements with thiokees (the "Put Right") are approximately
$134 million and $536 million , respectively. Thetwal amount we may be required to pay in thesmigistances may be materially different
from these estimates. If the Put Right is exergisgmust also pay the exercising carrier 10% @stiefcompounded monthly) on the equity the
carrier provided when it purchased the put aircitfiese equity amounts for Chautauqua and Shuttieriga total $25 million and $52
million , respectively.

Legal Contingencie:

We are involved in various legal proceedings relateemployment practices, environmental issuetityast matters and other matters
concerning our business. We record liabilitieslésses from legal proceedings when we determirntdttisaprobable that the outcome in a le
proceeding will be unfavorable and the amount s locan be reasonably estimated. We cannot reagasilvhate the potential loss for certain
legal proceedings because, for example, the litigds in its early stages or the plaintiff does specify the damages being sought. Although
the outcome of the legal proceedings in which veeitavolved cannot be predicted with certainty, nggamaent believes that the resolution of
these matters will not have a material adverseceéfie our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Credit Card Processing Agreements

Our VISA/MasterCard and American Express creditlqgapcessing agreements provide that no cash eeg¢#eserve") is required, and no
withholding of payment related to receivables amitte will occur, except in certain circumstances|uding when we do not maintain a
required level of unrestricted cash. In circumséasnio which the credit card processor can establRkserve or withhold payments, the am
of the Reserve or payments that may be withhelddvoe equal to the potential liability of the credard processor for tickets purchased with
VISA/MasterCard or American Express credit cardsapplicable, that had not yet been used for traedre was no Reserve or amounts
withheld as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 .

Other Contingencies
General Indemnifications

We are the lessee under many commercial real detees. It is common in these transactions foasighe lessee, to agree to indemnify the
lessor and the lessor's related parties for takirenmental and other liabilities that arise ofiborelate to our use or occupancy of the leased
premises. This type of indemnity would typically keaus responsible to indemnified parties for ligieis arising out of the conduct of, among
others, contractors, licensees and invitees at, connection with, the use or occupancy of thedelgpremises. This indemnity often extends to
related liabilities arising from the negligencetioé indemnified parties, but usually excludes aalilities caused by either their sole or gross
negligence or their willful misconduct.

Our aircraft and other equipment lease and finanagreements typically contain provisions requitisgas the lessee or obligor, to

indemnify the other parties to those agreementddiing certain of those parties' related persagajnst virtually any liabilities that might ar
from the use or operation of the aircraft or suttfebequipment.
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We believe that our insurance would cover mostusfexposure to liabilities and related indemnitissociated with the commercial real
estate leases and aircraft and other equipmerd &atfinancing agreements described above. Wailinsurance does not typically cover
environmental liabilities, we have certain insurapolicies in place as required by applicable emrirental laws.

Certain of our aircraft and other financing trangats include provisions, which require us to mapkgments to preserve an expected
economic return to the lenders if that economiarrets diminished due to certain changes in lawegulations. In certain of these financing
transactions, we also bear the risk of certain gbarn tax laws that would subject payments to dd®-lenders to withholding taxes.

We cannot reasonably estimate our potential fytaggnents under the indemnities and related pravisitescribed above because we
cannot predict (1) when and under what circumstatioese provisions may be triggered and (2) theuattbat would be payable if the
provisions were triggered because the amounts wueilthsed on facts and circumstances existingchttgue.

Employees Under Collective Bargaining Agreem:

At December 31, 2011 , we had approximately 78fa08ime equivalent employees. Approximately 16¥leese employees were
represented by unions, including the following dsticeemployee groups.

Date on which Collective

Approximate Number of Bargaining Agreement
Employee Group Active Employees Represented Union Becomes Amendable
Delta Pilots 10,85( ALPA December 31, 2012
Delta Flight Superintendents (Dispatchers) 34C PAFCA December 31, 2013
Comair Pilots 79C ALPA March 2, 2011
Comair Maintenance Employees 28C 1AM December 31, 2010
Comair Flight Attendants 55C IBT December 31, 2010

All of our agreements with workgroups at our aelisubsidiary, Comair, are currently amendable. Goimén discussions with
representatives of the respective unions and weatgredict the outcome of those discussions.

Labor unions periodically engage in organizing gffdo represent various groups of our employees,ding at our airline subsidiary, that
are not represented for collective bargaining pseso

War-Risk Insurance Contingency

As a result of the terrorist attacks on SeptemheP001, aviation insurers significantly (1) redditee maximum amount of insurance
coverage available to commercial air carriers ifaility to persons (other than employees or pagses) for claims resulting from acts of
terrorism, war or similar events and (2) increattedpremiums for such coverage and for aviationrigasce in general. Since September 24,
2001, the U.S. government has been providing Utlhes with war-risk insurance to cover losses]uning those resulting from terrorism, to
passengers, third parties (ground damage) andrttrafahull. The coverage currently extends thito&geptember 30, 2012 , and we expect the
coverage to be further extended. The withdrawaasernment support of airline war-risk insuranceuldaequire us to obtain war-risk
insurance coverage commercially, if available. Scmmmercial insurance could have substantially dessrable coverage than that currently
provided by the U.S. government, may not be adeqgiegprotect our risk of loss from future actsefdorism, may result in a material increase
to our operating expenses or may not be obtairetldé, resulting in an interruption to our opeoas.

Other
We have certain contracts for goods and servicsdiguire us to pay a penalty, acquire inventpscgic to us or purchase contract
specific equipment, as defined by each respectméract, if we terminate the contract without capsger to its expiration date. Because these

obligations are contingent on our termination @& tontract without cause prior to its expiratiotedao obligation would exist unless such a
termination occurs.
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NOTE 10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor defined benefit and defined contribupiension plans, healthcare plans, and disabilitysamvivorship plans for eligible
employees and retirees and their eligible familyrhers.

Defined Benefit Pension PlanAle sponsor defined benefit pension plans for diégdmployees and retirees. These plans are clossein
entrants and frozen for future benefit accruale Phnsion Protection Act of 2006 allows comme&iidines to elect alternative funding rules
(“Alternative Funding Rules”) for defined benefiaps that are frozen. Delta elected the Alterndtivading Rules under which the unfunded
liability for a frozen defined benefit plan may &mortized over a fixed 17-year period and is cal@d using an 8.85% interest rate. We
estimate the funding requirements under these pldhtotal approximately $700 million in 2012.

Defined Contribution Pension PlariBelta sponsors several defined contribution pld@hgse plans generally cover different employee
groups and employer contributions vary by plan. Ebst associated with our defined contribution pEmplans is shown in the tables below.

Postretirement Healthcare Pland/e sponsor healthcare plans that provide benefidigible retirees and their dependents who adeun
age 65 . We have generally eliminated company-pasi age 65 healthcare coverage, except for (kidiel available to a limited group of
retirees and their dependents and (2) a grouptioées who retired prior to 1987. Benefits underseaplans are funded from current assets and
employee contributions.

Postemployment Plang/e provide certain other welfare benefits to eligitormer or inactive employees after employmenthmfore
retirement, primarily as part of the disability asutvivorship plans. Substantially all employeesaligible for benefits under these plans in the
event of a participant's death and/or disability.

Benefit Obligations, Fair Value of Plan Assets, aflinded Status

Other Postretirement and

Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits
December 31, December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 1750¢ $ 17,030 $ 3,29¢ $ 3,427
Service cost — — 52 58
Interest cost 96¢ 982 18C 19¢
Actuarial loss (gain) 1,86( 57C 311 (115)
Benefits paid, including lump sums and annuities (1,042 (1,019 (329) (333
Participant contributions — — 54 59
Plan amendments — — — 6
Special termination benefits — — 3 —
Settlements — (64) — —
Benefit obligation at end of peridt $ 19,29 $ 17,50¢ % 357C $ 3,29¢
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $ 8,24¢ $ 7,627 % 1,12C $ 1,152
Actual (loss) gain on plan assets (16) 97t (37) 14C
Employer contributions 59¢ 72¢ 23t 171
Participant contributions — — 54 59
Benefits paid, including lump sums and annuities (1,047) (1,019 (400) (403
Settlements — (64) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of period $ 7,78¢ $ 8,24¢ % 97z $ 1,12(
Funded status at end of period $ (11,509 $ (9,257 $ (2,59¢) $ (2,179

@ At each periocend presented, our accumulated benefit obligafionsur pension plans are equal to the benefitgaltibons shown abov
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Balance Sheet Positio

Other Postretirement and

Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits
December 31, December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Current liabilities $ (16) $ 13 ¢ (137 $ (144)
Noncurrent liabilities (11,489 (9,249 (2,460 (2,039
Total liabilities $ (11,509 $ (9,257 $ (2,597) $ (2,179
Net actuarial (loss) gain $ (5,844 $ (3,299) ¢ (40€) $ 44
Prior service cost — — ®) (©)]
Total accumulated other comprehensive (loss) incqmretax $ (5,849 $ (3,299 ¢ (411 $ 41

During 2011, the net actuarial loss recorded iuandated other comprehensive income related tdenefit plans increased to $6.3 billion
from $3.3 billion . This increase is primarily dtee(1) the decrease in discount rates from 201Did and (2) a lower than expected actual
return on plan assets in 2011.

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from acglated other comprehensive income into net peribditefit cost in 2012 are a net
actuarial loss of $163 millionAmounts are generally amortized into accumulatbér comprehensive income over the expected flifetene
of plan participants.

Net Periodic Cos

Other Postretirement and

Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Service cost $ — $ — $ — % 52 $ 58 $ 53
Interest cost 96¢ 982 1,00z 18C 19¢ 207
Expected return on plan assets (724) (677) (615) (90) (90 (79)
Amortization of prior service benefit — — — 3) 4 18
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 55 48 33 (12) 4) (18)
Settlements — 14 9 — — —
Special termination benefits — — — — — 6
Net periodic cost $ 30C $ 367 $ 42¢ 3 12¢ $ 15€ $ 187
Defined contribution plan costs 377 334 30¢€ — — —
Total cost $ 677 $ 701 $ 738 % 12 $ 15€ $ 187

Assumptions

We used the following actuarial assumptions tormieitge our benefit obligations and our net periarhst for the periods presented:

December 31,
Benefit Obligations ®® 2011 2010

Weighted average discount rate 4.92% 5.6%
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Year Ended December 31,

Net Periodic Cost®® 2011 2010 2009

Weighted average discount rate - pension benefit 5.7(% 5.9:% 6.4<%
Weighted average discount rate - other postretintinenefit 5.55% 5.75% 6.4€%
Weighted average discount rate - other postemplayimenefit 5.65% 5.88% 6.5(%
Weighted average expected long-term rate of regarplan assets 8.9:% 8.82% 8.8:%
Assumed healthcare cost trend réte 7.0(% 7.5(% 8.0(%

@ Our 2011 and 2010 benefit obligations are measusaty a mortality table projected to 2015 and 20&8pectively

@ Future compensation levels do not impact our frakefined benefit pension plans or other postretinenplans and impact only a small portion of otnrentpostemployment
liability.

®  Assumed healthcare cost trend rate at Decembe2(31, is assumed to decline gradually to 5.0822020 and remain level thereaf

@ Our assumptions reflect various remeasurementsredio portions of our obligations and represeatwieighted average of the assumptions used formaelsurement da

Healthcare Cost Trend RatAssumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effeitte amounts reported for the other postretir¢rinenefit
plans. A 1% change in the healthcare cost trereduseéd in measuring the accumulated plan bendiifation for these plans at December 31,
2011, would have the following effects:

(in millions) 1% Increase 1% Decrease
Increase (decrease) in total service and inteaedt ¢ $ 5% (5)
Increase (decrease) in the accumulated plan beiwifjation $ 63 $ (69

Expected Long-Term Rate of Retufhe expected long-term rate of return on plan adsdiased primarily on plan-specific investment
studies using historical market return and volgtitiata. Modest excess return expectations versus public market indices are incorporated
into the return projections based on the activedyhaged structure of the investment programs andrémords of achieving such returns
historically. We also expect to receive a premimmifivesting in less liquid private markets. Weiesv our rate of return on plan asset
assumptions annually. Our annual investment pedaga for one particular year does not, by itsahificantly influence our evaluation. The
investment strategy for our defined benefit pengilam assets is to utilize a diversified mix oflgdbpublic and private equity portfolios, public
and private fixed income portfolios, and privatelrestate and natural resource investments tosefarmg-term investment return that meets or
exceeds our annualized return target.

Plan Asset:
We have adopted and implemented investment polioiesur defined benefit pension plans and disgbénd survivorship plan for pilots
that incorporate strategic asset allocation mirémnided to best meet the plans' long-term obligati@his asset allocation policy mix utilizes a

diversified mix of investments and is reviewed pditally. The weightedverage target and actual asset allocations fqoléres are as follow

December 31, 2011

Target Actual
Diversified fixed income 22% 23%
Domestic equity securities 21 20
Alternative investments 20 23
Non-U.S. developed equity securities 20 18
Non-U.S. emerging equity securities 6 5
Hedge funds 5 5
Cash equivalents 5 4
High yield fixed income 1 2
Total 100% 100%

The overall asset mix of the portfolios is morevilgaveighted in equity-like investments. Active magement strategies are utilized where
feasible in an effort to realize investment retimsxcess of market indices. For additional infation regarding the fair value of pension
assets, see Note 2.
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Benefit Payment:

Benefit payments in the table below are based erséime assumptions used to measure the relatefit lobligations and are paid from bt
funded benefit plan trusts and current assets.a\&tenefit payments may vary significantly fromgbesstimates. Benefits earned under our
pension plans and certain postemployment benedfitsphre expected to be paid from funded benefit fplests, while our other postretirement
benefits are funded from current assets.

The following table summarizes, the benefit payra¢hét are scheduled to be paid in the years ergegmber 31:

Other Postretirement and

(in millions) Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits
2012 $ 1,06C $ 264
2013 1,07(¢ 263
2014 1,08(C 261
2015 1,097 261
2016 1,11¢ 264
2017-2021 5,92¢ 1,39¢
Other

We also sponsor defined benefit pension plansligibee employees in certain foreign countries. S&@lans did not have a material impact
on our Consolidated Financial Statements in anipggresented.

Profit Sharing Program

Our broad based employee profit sharing programiges that, for each year in which we have an ahpreatax profit, as defined, we will
pay a specified portion of that profit to employe®ased on our pre-tax earnings for the years ebdegmber 31, 2011 and 2010, we accrued
$264 million and $313 million under the profit simay program, respectively. We did not record amraaicunder the profit sharing program in
2009.
NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES
Income Tax (Provision) Benefi

Our income tax (provision) benefit consisted of

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009

Current tax (provision) benefit $ 83 $ @) 15
Deferred tax (provision) benefit (349 (265) 85C
Decrease (increase) in valuation allowance 351 257 (521
Income tax (provision) benefit $ 85 $ (15) $ 344
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The following table presents the principal reasionghe difference between the effective tax rate the U.S. federal statutory income tax
rate:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 35.C% 35.C% (35.0%
State taxes 34 2.3 (1.9
(Decrease) increase in valuation allowance (45.7) (42.9) 32.¢
Release of uncertain tax position reserve (9.0 — —
Income Tax Allocation") — — (20.2)
Other, net 5.3 7.€ 2.4
Effective income tax rate (11.0% 2.€% (21.7%

®  We consider all income sources, including other g@hensive income, in determining the amount ofozmefit allocated to continuing operations (thectime Tax
Allocation”). For the year ended December 31, 2@39a result of the Income Tax Allocation, we releata non-cash income tax benefit of $321 milliarttee loss from
continuing operations, with an offsetting non-castome tax expense of $321 million in other comprative income.

Deferred Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe¢enfporary differences between the carrying amooidéssets and liabilities for financial
reporting and income tax purposes. The followirgeahows significant components of our deferradatssets and liabilities:

December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 6,647 $ 6,47:
Pension, postretirement and other benefits 5,70z 4,52
AMT credit carryforward 40z 424
Deferred revenue 2,297 2,202
Rent expense 284 28C
Reorganization items, net 39t 674
Other 564 49t
Valuation allowance (20,709 (9,632
Total deferred tax assets $ 5581 $ 5,44:
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation $ 5,09 $ 4,837
Debt valuation 20¢€ 33C
Intangible assets 1,75k 1,731
Fuel hedge derivatives 32 73
Other 68 40
Total deferred tax liabilities $ 7,15¢ $ 7,011

The following table shows the current and noncurdsfierred tax assets (liabilities):

December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010

Current deferred tax assets, net $ 461 $ 35&
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities, net (2,028 (1,924
Total deferred tax liabilities, net $ (1,567 $ (1,569
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The current and noncurrent components of our dedeiax balances are generally based on the badtwees classification of the asset or
liability creating the temporary difference. If tHeferred tax asset or liability is not based @omponent of our balance sheet, such as our net
operating loss (“NOL") carryforwards, the classifiion is presented based on the expected reveatabfithe temporary difference. Our
valuation allowance has been allocated betweeruar noncurrent based on the percentages ofrtuanel noncurrent deferred tax assets to
total deferred tax assets.

At December 31, 2011 , we had (1) $402 millionexfdral alternative minimum tax (“AMT") credit cafoywards, which do not expire and
(2) $16.8 billion of federal pretax NOL carryforvas:, substantially all of which will not begin topse until 2022 .

Uncertain Tax Positions

The following table shows the amount of and charnigesirecognized tax benefits on our Consolidateldice Sheets:

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of period $ 839 $ 66 $ 29
Gross increases-tax positions in prior period 1 — 1
Gross decreases-tax positions in prior period 3 3 (D)
Gross increases-tax positions in current period 1 29 40
Lapse of statute of limitations (D) 2 —
Settlements (65) (@H)] 3
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of perfod $ 22 $ 89 $ 66

@ Unrecognized tax benefits on our Consolidated Bada®heets as of December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 200Ride tax benefits of $5 million , $72 milliormand $47 million ,
respectively, which will affect the effective taate when recognized.

We accrue interest and penalties related to unrézed tax benefits in interest expense and opeyatkpense, respectively. Interest and
penalties are not material in any period presented.

We are currently under audit by the IRS for the@8td 2011 tax years.
Valuation Allowance

We periodically assess whether it is more likertimot that we will generate sufficient taxableoime to realize our deferred income tax
assets and establish valuation allowances ifribtdikely we will realize our deferred income tassets. In making this determination, we
consider all available positive and negative evigeand make certain assumptions. We consider, aotbeg things, our deferred tax liabiliti
the overall business environment, our historiaaficial results, our industry's historically cyaliéinancial results and potential current and
future tax planning strategies. We cannot presefgtgrmine when we will be able to generate sfictaxable income to realize our deferred
tax assets. Accordingly, we have recorded a fullation allowance against our net deferred taxtasffewve determine that it is more likely
than not that we will generate sufficient taxalsleame to realize our deferred income tax assetsyilveeverse our valuation allowance (in f
or in part), resulting in a significant income taenefit in the period such a determination is made.

The following table shows the balance of our vaaraallowance and the associated activity:

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009

Valuation allowance at beginning of period $ 9632 % 9897 % 9,83
Income tax (provision) benefit (351 (257) 521
Other comprehensive income tax benefit (provision) 1,241 6 (308)
Other 18z 19 (14€)
Valuation allowance at end of periét $ 10,708 $ 9,63: $ 9,897

@ At December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 , $2.5 billig.2 billion and $1.2 billion of these balaneesre recorded in accumulated other comprehensageda our

Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively.
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NOTE 12. EQUITY AND EQUITY COMPENSATION
Equity

We are authorized to issue 2.0 billion shares pfitabstock, of which up to 1.5 billion may be sésof common stock, par value $0.0001
per share, and up to 500 million may be sharesefepred stock.

Preferred StockWe may issue preferred stock in one or more sefies.Board of Directors is authorized (1) to fixe thescriptions, powers
(including voting powers), preferences, rights, liications, limitations and restrictions with res to any series of preferred stock and (2) to
specify the number of shares of any series of predestock. We have not issued any preferred stock.

Treasury StockWe generally withhold shares of Delta common stockover employees' portion of required tax witliiogs when
employee equity awards are issued or vest. Theseshre valued at cost, which equals the mariez pf the common stock on the date of
issuance or vesting. The weighted average costasks held in treasury was $14.19 and $15.33 Becémber 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Equity-Based Compensation

Our broad based equity and cash compensation ptaidps for grants of restricted stock, stock apgioperformance awards, including ¢
incentive awards, and other equity-based award@s'@b07 Plan"). Shares of common stock issued uth@e2007 Plan may be made available
from authorized but unissued common stock or comstock we acquire. If any shares of our commonkstwe covered by an award that is
canceled, forfeited or otherwise terminates withaelivery of shares (including shares surrenderedithheld for payment of the exercise pi
of an award or taxes related to an award), sucteshvill again be available for issuance under2®@7 Plan. The 2007 Plan authorizes the
issuance of up to 157 million shares of commonkstés of December 31, 2011 , there were 34 milsbares available for future grants.

We make long term incentive awards annually toildigemployees under the 2007 Plan. Generally, dsveest over time, subject to the
employee's continued employment. Equity compensatigpense for these awards is recognized in saland related costs over the employ
requisite service period (generally, the vestinggaeof the award) and totaled $72 million , $89lioim and $108 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 , 2010, and 2009 , respectiVédyrecord expense on a straight-line basis fordsvaith installment vesting. As of
December 31, 2011 , unrecognized costs relatedvested shares and stock options totaled $36 millWe expect substantially all unvested
awards to vest.

Restricted StockRestricted stock is common stock that may natddé or otherwise transferred for a period of tamel is subject to
forfeiture in certain circumstances. The fair vabfigestricted stock awards is based on the clogiitg of the common stock on the grant date.
As of December 31, 2011 , there were four milliowested restricted stock awards.

Stock OptionsStock options are granted with an exercise priecgktp the closing price of Delta common stock le& grant date and
generally have a 10-year term. We determine threvédiie of stock options at the grant date using@ion pricing model. As of December 31,
2011 , there were 18 million outstanding stock@ptwards with a weighted average exercise pri¢&iafl5 , and 17 milliowere exercisabl

Performance Share®erformance shares are long-term incentive oppitiegarwhich are payable in common stock or cashardyenerally
contingent upon our achieving certain financiallgoa

Other.There was no tax benefit recognized in 2011 , 2812009 related to equity-based compensation, azegrd a full valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets dueetartbertainty regarding the ultimate realizatiothofse assets.
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NOTE 13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

The following table shows the components of accated other comprehensive income (loss):

Deferred Tax

Pension and Other Derivative Valuation

(in millions) Benefits Liabilities Contracts @ Allowance Total

Balance at January 1, 2009 $ (1,702) $ (869 $ (1,515 $ (4,080
Changes in value (540 (20 — (560)
Reclassification into earnings 48 1,35( — 1,39¢
Income Tax Allocation — (321 — (321
Tax effect 182 (497 30¢ —
Balance at December 31, 2009 (2,017 (34%) (1,20%) (3,567%)
Changes in value (121) (72) — (192)
Reclassification into earnings 54 12¢ — 177
Tax effect 25 (19 (6) —
Balance at December 31, 2010 (2,059 (312) (1,219 (3,57%)
Changes in value (3,062 5 — (3,057%)
Reclassification into earnings 41 172 — (131
Tax effect 1,17t 66 (2,247 —
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ (3,899 $ (413 $ (2,459 $ (6,76€)

@ Includes $321 million of deferred income tax expeetigt will remain in accumulated other comprehemgiss until all amounts in accumulated other cahgnsive loss that
relate to fuel derivatives which are designated@®unting hedges are recognized in the Consotidatiztement of Operations. All amounts relatinguo fuel derivative
contracts that were previously designated as at¢tmuhedges will be recognized by June 2012 (oabgettlement date of those contracts). As a reauibn-cash income tax
expense of $321 million will be recognized in thumd 2012 quarter unless we enter into and desigumitigional fuel derivative contracts as accountiegges prior to June
2012.

NOTE 14. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as componentsearitamprise whose separate financial informaticedggilarly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker and used in resourcealtwtand performance assessments.

We are managed as a single business unit thatde®wiir transportation for passengers and carge.allows us to benefit from an
integrated revenue pricing and route network. Qghtf equipment forms one fleet, which is deployleugh a single route scheduling system.
When making resource allocation decisions, ourfaperating decision maker evaluates flight prdiiity data, which considers aircraft type
and route economics, but gives no weight to thanfaial impact of the resource allocation decisioran individual carrier basis. Our objective
in making resource allocation decisions is to oft@ur consolidated financial results.

Operating revenue is assigned to a specific gebgrapgion based on the origin, flight path andtidesion of each flight segment. Our
operating revenue by geographic region (as defayetthe DOT) is summarized in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009

Domestic $ 22,64¢ $ 20,74¢ $ 19,04:
Atlantic 6,49¢ 5,931 4,97(
Pacific 3,94: 3,28: 2,48t
Latin America 2,02¢ 1,797 1,56t
Total $ 35,11¢ $ 31,75 $ 28,06:

Our tangible assets consist primarily of flight gopent, which is mobile across geographic mark&tsordingly, assets are not allocated to
specific geographic regions.
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NOTE 15. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER ITEMS

The following table shows charges recorded in vestiring and other items on our Consolidated Statgmof Operations:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2011 2010 2009

Facilities and fleet $ 13t $ 20z $ 13
Severance and related costs 10C 15 11¢
Intangible asset impairments (see Note 5) 50 — —
Gain on divestiture of slots (see Note 5) (43 — —
Merger-related items — 238 27E
Total restructuring and other items $ 24z $ 45C $ 407

Facilities and Fleet During 2011, we recorded charges related to acitities consolidation and fleet assessments0lk02we recorded
asset impairment charges related to the Comairféekiction initiative and our retired dedicateeidhter aircraft. For additional information
related to the Comair fleet reduction initiativeedNote 2.

Severance and Related CosBuring 2011, we recorded charges associated ghnth voluntary workforce reduction programsabgn
staffing with expected future capacity. In 2009, neeorded charges associated primarily with volymiorkforce reduction programs,
including special termination benefits relateddtiree healthcare. We do not expect to record dditianal material charges related to these
severance initiatives.

Merger-Related ItemsMerger-related items are costs associated wittthM@st and the integration of Northwest operatiohs Delta.

The following table shows the balances and actifatyrestructuring charges:

Severance and related costs Lease restructuring
(in millions) 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Liability at beginning of period $ 20 $ 69 $ 50 $ 85 $ 74 $ 54
Additional costs and expenses 10C 15 112 — 20 13
Other — — — — 14 19
Payments (74) (64) (99) (22) (23 12
Liability at end of period $ 46 $ 20 $ 68 $ 64 $ 85 $ 74
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NOTE 16. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

We calculate basic earnings (loss) per share higidiy the net income (loss) by the weighted averagaber of common shares
outstanding. Shares issuable upon the satisfagfioartain conditions are considered outstandirggiacluded in the computation of basic
earnings (loss) per share. Accordingly, the cataieof basic earnings (loss) per share for thesreaded December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
assumes there was outstanding at the beginningcbf & these periods all 386 million shares of ®etimmon stock contemplated by Delta's
Plan of Reorganization to be distributed to holdsrallowed general, unsecured claims and nineéanihares of Delta common stock reset
for issuance in exchange for shares of Northwesingon stock that, but for our merger with Northwéstines in 2008, would have been
issued under Northwest's Plan of Reorganizatiamil&ily, the calculation of basic loss per sharnetfe year ended December 31, 2009
assumes there was outstanding at January 1, 2008illion shares of Delta common stock we agreeidgoe on behalf of pilots in connection
with the merger.

The following table shows our computation of baid diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2011 2010 2009

Net income (loss) $ 854 $ 59 $ (1,237)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 83¢ 834 827
Dilutive effects of share based awards 6 9 —
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 844 843 827
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 1.0Z2 $ 0.71 $ (2.50
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.01 $ 0.7C $ (1.50
Antidilutive common stock equivalents excluded frdituted earnings (loss) per share 17 22 35

NOTE 17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table summarizes our unaudited rasodtoperations on a quarterly basis. The quareatyings (loss) per share amounts
year will not add to the earnings (loss) per stiar¢hat year due to the weighting of shares usezhiculating per share da

Three Months Ended

(in millions, except per share data) March 31 June 30% September 307® December 31?
2011

Operating revenue $ 7,747 $ 9,15¢ $ 9,81¢ $ 8,39¢
Operating income (loss) (92 481 86( 72€
Net income (loss) (318 19¢ 54¢ 42k
Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.3¢) 0.24 0.6€ 0.51
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.3%) 0.2% 0.6% 0.5C
2010

Operating revenue $ 6,84¢ $ 8,16¢ $ 8,95( $ 7,78¢
Operating income 68 852 1,00¢ 294
Net income (loss) (25€) 467 363 19
Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.31) 0.5¢€ 0.43 0.0z
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.3]) 0.5t 0.4: 0.0z

@ During the June 2011 quarter, we recorded $144amitif charges related to severance and related codtsw facilities consolidation and fleet assesss

@ During the September 2011 quarter, we recorded $#0®n of fuel hedge losses for mark-to-markejustinents recorded in periods other than the setttet period and in
the December 2011 quarter, we recorded $164 mitiidoel hedge gains for mark-to-market adjustmeet®rded in periods other than the settlemenbgeri

®  During the September 2010 quarter, we recorded 360 million loss associated with the primariynrcash loss on extinguishment of debt, includhegwrite-off of
unamortized debt discount and (2) a $146 millioarge related to the Comair fleet reduction initieti
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, performed an evabraof our disclosure controls a
procedures, which have been designed to permd afectively identify and timely disclose importanformation. Our management, includ
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0fr, concluded that the controls and proceduree wéective as of December 31, 20bl
ensure that material information was accumulatedl @mmunicated to our management, including ourefCEkecutive Officer and Chi
Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timeloisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control

During the three months ended December 31, 2044 did not make any changes in our internal abmtver financial reporting that ha
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenglly affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaimg adequate internal control over financigdasing, as such term is definec
Rules 13a-15(f) and 1585(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934t {bternal control over financial reporting is dgséd to provid
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability imdincial reporting and the preparation of financtdtements for external purpose:
accordance with accounting principles generallyeptad in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies may riletate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effentise of our internal control over financial repagtias of December 31, 200i%ing th
criteria issued by the Committee of Sponsoring @izgtions of the Treadway Commission (COSO) inrimaé Controlintegrated Framewor
Based on that evaluation, management believeothanternal control over financial reporting wdteetive as of December 31, 2011 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over fio@l reporting as of December 31, 2011 has beditealiby Ernst & Young LLP, an

independent registered public accounting firm, Wwhitso audited our Consolidated Financial Statestemtthe year ended December 31,
2011 . Ernst & Young LLP's report on our internahtrol over financial reporting is set forth below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Delta Air Lines, Inc.

We have audited Delta Air Lines, Inc.'s internahtrol over financial reporting as of December 312, based on criteria establishe(
Internal Controlntegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissibe @OSO criteria
Delta Air Lines, Inc.'s management is responsibtenfiaintaining effective internal control over fir@al reporting, and for its assessment o
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying Managementiaugl Report on Internal Control O
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exggen opinion on the Company's internal controf émancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsd of the Public Company Accounting Oversight lofUnited States). Tho
standards require that we plan and perform thetdadbbtain reasonable assurance about whethectigeinternal control over financ
reporting was maintained in all material respe€@ar audit included obtaining an understanding ¢érimal control over financial reportir
assessing the risk that a material weakness etéstting and evaluating the design and operatifegtéfeness of internal control based on
assessed risk, and performing such other procediwese considered necessary in the circumstancesbéNeve that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantte geinerally accepted accounting princig
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thapétfpin to the maintenance of records
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbet transactions and dispositions of the assettseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assul
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgr@paration of financial statements in accor@éamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dcompany are being made only in accordance withogéizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalskurance regarding prevention or timely deteaifounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détamisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Delta Air Lines, Inc. maintained, all material respects, effective internal contreér financial reporting as @fecember 3:
2011 , based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@nited States), the consolida
balance sheets of Delta Air Lines, Inc. as of Ddmen31, 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of dpes
stockholders' (deficit) equity, and cash flows éach of the three years in the period ended Dece&ih@011of Delta Air Lines, Inc. and o
report dated February 10, 2012 expressed an ufigdadipinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgia

February 10, 2012
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE OF THE REGISTRANT

Information required by this item is set forth untlee headings “Corporate Governance Matters,” pBsal 1 - Election of Directors -
Certain Information About Nominees” and “Other Mgt - Section 16 Beneficial Ownership Reporting @liamce” in our Proxy Statement to
be filed with the Commission related to our AnniMigeting of Stockholders (“Proxy Statement”), anéhisorporated by reference. Pursuant to
instruction 3 to paragraph (b) of ltem 401 of Ragjoh S-K, certain information regarding executficers is contained in Part | of this Form
10-K.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is set forth untlee headings “Director Compensation,” “Corpor@tevernance Matters - Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” d&etecutive Compensation” in our Proxy Statemerd enincorporated by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table provides information about thember of shares of common stock that may be isanddr the 2007 Plan, Delta's ¢
equity compensation plan, as of December 31, 2011 .

(c) No. of Securities

(a) No. of Securitiesto  (b) Weighted- Remaining Available for
be Issued Upon Average Exercise Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Price of Outstanding Equity Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, Options, Warrants (Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights and Rights Reflected in Column (a))®
Equity compensation plans approved by securitiédens 13,169,93 $ 10.4¢ 33,768,71
Equity compensation plans not approved by secarit@ders — — —
Total 13,169,93 $ 10.4¢ 33,768,71

@ Up to 157 million shares of common stock are awddldor issuance under the 2007 Plan. If any shafresir common stock are covered by an award uthge2007 Plan that
is canceled, forfeited or otherwise terminates authdelivery of shares (including shares surrendlerewithheld for payment of the exercise pricenfaward or taxes related
to an award), then such shares will again be adailfor issuance under the 2007 Plan. In additiotiné 13,169,932 stock options outstanding, 3, 00dhares of restricted
stock remain unvested and a maximum of 3,534,486estof common stock may be issued upon the aahievieof certain performance conditions under onthitey
performance share awards as of December 31, 2011 .

Other information required by this item is set fiouhder the heading “Beneficial Ownership of Se@st in our Proxy Statement and is
incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by this item is set forth untiee headings “Corporate Governance Matters,” Hatiee Compensation - Post-

Employment Compensation - Other Benefits - PredibigsMedical Benefits Agreement Between Northwexst Br. Anderson,” “Proposal 1 -
Election of Directors” and “Pre-Existing Agreementith Northwest Airlines, Inc.” in our Proxy Statemt and is incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is set forth untlee heading “Proposal 4 - Ratification of the Apgment of Independent Auditors” in
our Proxy Statement and is incorporated by refegenc

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (1). The following is an index of the financg&htements required by this item that are includeHtis Form 10-K:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm

Consolidated Balance Sheets— December 31, 201 2@t

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yerded December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yerailed December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' (Defigif)ity for the years ended December 31, 2011 , 2002009
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(2). The schedule required by this item is includedliotes 11 and 15 to the Consolidated Finandi@e®nents. All other financial statem
schedules are not required or are inapplicabletlzefore have been omitted.

(3). The exhibits required by this item are listedhe Exhibit Index to this Form 1R- The management contracts and compensatory
or arrangements required to be filed as an extolitiis Form 10-K are listed as Exhibits 10.9(aptigh 10.26 in the Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&6{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized, on the 10th day of February, 2012

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

By: /s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belothe 10th day of February, 206y
the following persons on behalf of the registramd & the capacities indicated.

Signature Title
/s/ Richard H. Anderson Chief Executive Officer and Director
Richard H. Anderson (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Hank Halter Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and

Hank Halter Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Edward H. Bastian
Edward H. Bastian

President and Director

/s/ Roy J. Bostock
Roy J. Bostock

Director

/s/ John S. Brinzo

- Director
John S. Brinzo

/s/ Daniel A. Carp
Daniel A. Carp

Chairman of the Board

/s/ David G. DeWalt

- Director
David G. DeWalt
/s/ John M. Engler )
Director
John M. Engler
/sl Mickey P. Foret )
- Director
Mickey P. Foret
/s/ Shirley C. Franklin )
- - Director
Shirley C. Franklin
/s/ David R. Goode )
- Director
David R. Goode
/s/ Paula Rosput Reynolds )
Director

Paula Rosput Reynolds

/s/ Kenneth C. Roge



Kenneth C. Rogers Director

/s/ Kenneth B. Woodrow .
Director

Kenneth B. Woodrow
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Note to Exhibits: Any representations and warrastié a party set forth iany agreement (including all exhibits and schedtiheseto) file:
with this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been nwalely for the benefit of the othparty to the agreement. Some of those represent
and warranties were made only as of the date ofitireement or such other date as specified imatireement, may be subject to a contrac
standard of materiality different from what may\wewed as material to stockholders, or may havenhesed fothe purpose of allocating ri
between the parties rather than establishing mates facts. Such agreements are included withfilitig only to provideinvestors wit
information regarding the terms of the agreemeats] not to provide investors with any other factoatisclosure information regardinte
registrant or its business.

3.1 Delta's Certificate of Incorporation (FiledEhibit 3.1 to Delta's Current Report on ForrK &s filed on April 30, 2007)
3.2 Delta's By-Laws (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to D&t@urrent Report on Formi8as filed on May 22, 2008)

Delta is not filing any instruments evidencing angebtedness because the total amount of secuati®rized under any single s
instrument does not exceed 10% of the total asdfeBelta and its subsidiaries on a consolidatedsb&opies of such instruments will
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commisgiam request.

10.1(a) First Lien Revolving Credit and Guarangyrdement, dated as of April 30, 2007, among Deitd_#es, Inc., as Borrower, the
subsidiaries of the Borrower named, as Guarantéash of the Lenders from time to time party, JPMar@hase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent and as collateral agent,MdPgan Securities, Inc. and Lehman Brothers Ircc@lead arrangers and joint
bookrunners, UBS Securities LLC, as syndicatioméaged as joint bookrunner, and Calyon New Yorkri8rand RBS Securities
Corporation, as co-documentation agents (Filedxasbi 10.1(a) to Delta's Quarterly Report on Far®Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2009).*

10.1(b) Second Lien Term Loan and Guaranty Agregnaated as of April 30, 2007, among Delta Airgsninc., as Borrower, the
subsidiaries of the Borrower named, as Guaranta) of the Lenders from time to time party, GoldrBachs Credit Partners L.P.
(“GSCP"), as administrative agent and as collatagaint, GSCP and Merrill Lynch Commercial FinanoepC as co-lead arrangers
and joint bookrunners, Barclays Capital, as syridinaagent and as joint bookrunner, and Creditsuecurities (USA) LLC and
C.L.T. Leasing Corporation, as co-documentatiomegyé-iled as Exhibit 10.1(b) to Delta's QuartdRigport on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2009).*

10.2 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of 29, 2011, among Delta Air Lines, Inc., as Bovay, the subsidiaries of the Borrower
named as Guarantors, each of the several Lenaenstime to time party thereto, JPMorgan Chase BBEnK,, as administrative agent
for the Lenders, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, GoldiBachs Lending Partners LLC, UBS Securities LL&rckys Capital, the
investment banking division of Barclays Bank PL@ &terrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorpordtas joint lead arrangers,
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Barclays Capital, Caigp Global Markets Inc., Credit Suisse AG, Cayrsands Branch, Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., Goldman Sachs Lending PastriérC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inparated, Morgan Stanley
Senior Funding, Inc. and UBS Securities LLC, astjbookrunners, Goldman Sachs Lending Partners, am@CUBS Securities LLC,
as co-syndication agents, and Barclays Bank an# BBAmerica, N.A., as co-documentation agentse(és Exhibit 10.1 to Delta's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endlate 30, 2011).*

10.3 Transaction Framework Agreement among DBktdta Master Executive Council, Northwest Masteeé&ixive Council and Air Line
Pilots Association, International dated as of J28e2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10 to Delta's Quart&port on Form 1@ for the quarte
ended June 30, 2008).*

104 Letter Agreement, dated April 14, 2008, byaarong Delta Air Lines, Inc., the Master Execu@@uncil of Delta, and Air Line Pilots
Association, International dated April 14, 2008€Bias Exhibit 10.2 to Delta's Quarterly Reportcamm 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2008).*

10.5 Anchor Tenant Agreement dated as of Dece®h2®10 between JFK International Air Terminal La@d Delta Air Lines, Inc. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.4 to Delta's Annual Report on FornKlfor the year ended December 31, 2010).*

10.6 Supplemental Agreement No. 13 to Purchaseékxgent Number 2022, dated August 24, 2011, betWwberBoeing Company and
Delta relating to Boeing Model 737NG Aircraft (tH&-737NG Purchase Agreement”) (Filed as Exhibitll Delta's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe@®e2011).*/**
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10.7 Letter Agreements, dated August 24, 2014tirg] to the B-737NG Purchase Agreement (Filedxdstit 10.2 to Delta's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe@®e2011).*/**

10.8(a) Aircraft General Terms Agreement, datetbler 21, 1997, between Boeing and Delta (FileBxdsbit 10.6 to Delta's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended DecerBbgt 997).*/**

10.8(b) Letter Agreement, dated August 24, 20&lhting to Revisions to Aircraft General Terms Agreent dated October 21, 1997 and the
B-737NG Purchase Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 10.8(Delta's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for ¢uarter ended September 30,
2011).%/**

10.9(a) Benefit waiver agreement dated OctobeR@08 between Delta Air Lines, Inc. and RichardNAdderson (Filed as Exhibit 10.11(b) to
Delta's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeareh®ecember 31, 2008).*

10.9(b) Benefit waiver agreement dated Octobe2R09 between Delta Air Lines, Inc. and RichardAdderson (Filed as Exhibit 10.8(c) to
Delta's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yearezh®ecember 31, 2009).*

10.10 Form of Benefit Waiver agreement dated Mdrc?011 between Delta and each of Edward H. Bastiichael H. Campbell, Stephen
E. Gorman, Hank Halter, Glen W. Hauenstein and &ittB. Hirst (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Delta's Amh&Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2011).*

10.11(a) Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performance @emsation Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Delta'sré€ut Report on Form 8-K filed on
March 22, 2007).*

10.11(b)First Amendment to the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2008tlBrmance Compensation Plan (Filed as Exhibit2@)lto Delta's Annual Repc
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2608).

10.11(c)Form of Delta 2007 Performance Compensation Plaardvagreement for Officers (Filed as Exhibit 10010¢elta’'s Current Report «
Form 8-K filed on April 30, 2007).*

10.12(a) Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer and Directdeverance Plan, as amended and restated as afy@)2009, as further amended October
20, 2009 (Filed as Exhibit 10.11(a) to Delta's AalnReport on Form 10-K for the year ended Decer8ef009).*

10.12(b)Amendment to the Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer abaector Severance Plan, as amended and restatédlasuary 2, 2009, as further
amended October 20, 2009 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1t(lbelta’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2009).*

10.13 Description of Certain Benefits of Members of theaBl of Directors and Executive Officers (Filedeadhibit 10.2 to Delta's Quarter
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jun@@D1).*

10.14(a) Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2011 Long Term Inttea Program (Filed as Exhibit 10.10(a) to Deltarswual Report on Form 1B-for the yea
ended December 31, 2010).*

10.14(b)Model Award Agreement for the Delta Air Lines, 18011 Long Term Incentive Program (Filed as ExHilitLO(b) to Delta's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembe310).*

10.15 Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2012 Long Term Incentive Pragg

10.16 Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2011 Management IncenPlan (Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Delta's AnnRalport on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010).*

10.17 Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2012 Management Incentiverk

10.18(a) Delta Air Lines, Inc. Merger Award Progréfiled as Exhibit 10.20(a) to Delta's Annual Repor Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2008).*

10.18(b)Model Award Agreement for Delta Air Lines, Inc. Mgr Award Program (Filed as Exhibit 10.20(b) totB'sl Annual Report on Fot
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).*
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10.19(a) Management Compensation Agreement datefiSeptember 14, 2005 between Northwest Airlites, and Douglas M. Steenland
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Northwest's Quarterly Begmn Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septembgp@05).*

10.19(b)Retention Agreement and Amendment to Managementp@osation Agreement dated as of April 14, 2008 betwNorthwest
Airlines, Inc. and Douglas M. Steenland (Filed abibit 10.13 to Northwest's Quarterly Report onrfRdr0-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2008).*

10.20 Letter Agreement dated as of June 11, 2e@08den counsel for and on behalf of Mickey P. Faret Aviation Consultants, LLC, and

counsel for and on behalf of Northwest Airlines;.I(Filed as Exhibit 10.22 to Delta's Annual RegmrtForm 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2008).*

10.21(a)Northwest Airlines, Inc. Excess Pension Plan fdaBed Employees (2001 Restatement) (Filed as Exhih28 to Northwest's Annu
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembe306).*

10.21(b)First Amendment of Northwest Airlines Excess Pengttan for Salaried Employees (2001 Restatemeiigd(Bs Exhibit 10.3 to
Northwest's Quarterly Report on Formr-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005).*

10.21(c) Third Amendment of Northwest Airlines Egsd?ension Plan for Salaried Employees (2001 FRestait) (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Northwest's Quarterly Report on Forr-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008).*

10.22(a) 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed as Ext8Bi2 to Northwest's Current Report on Forid 8led on May 29, 2007).

10.22(b)Amendment No. 1 to the Northwest Airlines CorparatR007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 1t0.Xorthwest's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jun@Q07).*

10.22(c) Amendment No. 2 to the Northwest Airliirporation 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed asiBixi 0.5 to Northwest's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March2808).*

10.22(d)Form of Award Agreement for Non-Qualified Stock @ps Granted to Employees under the NorthwestgdiCorporation 2007
Stock Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 99.5 to Merést's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2907).*

10.22(e) Amendment No. 1 to Form of Award AgreenfentNon-Qualified Stock Options Granted to Emplegeinder the Northwest Airlines
Corporation 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed asikixi10.7 to Northwest's Quarterly Report on FordaQ for the quarter ended
March 31, 2008).*

10.22(f) Form of Award Agreement for NoQualified Stock Options Granted to Directors unither Northwest Airlines Corporation 2007 St
Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to NorthweQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quartereehdune 30, 2007).*

10.22(g)Amendment No. 1 to Form of Award Agreement for N@ualified Stock Options Granted to Directors unitier Northwest Airlines
Corporation 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed asikixi10.6 to Northwest's Quarterly Report on FordaQ for the quarter ended
March 31, 2008).*

10.23  Form of Offer of Employment dated October3108 between Delta Air Lines, Inc. and RichardiBst (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
Delta's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the geraehded June 30, 2009).*

10.24 Delta Air Lines, Inc. Restoration Long febisability Plan
10.25 Letter Agreement, dated February 2, 2@t&éen Delta Air Lines, Inc. and Richard H. Anderso
10.26 Letter Agreement, dated February 2, 2it®een Delta Air Lines, Inc. and Richard B. Hirst

12.1 Statement regarding computation of ratioashigs to fixed charges for each fiscal year enfthe-year period ended December 31,
2011.

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registre
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23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15t4(a) Certification of Chief Executive Offic

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15t4(a) Certification of Chief Financial Offic

32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section@,3% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasaxiey Act 2002
* Incorporated by referenc

**  Portions of this exhibit have been omitted anddfiseparately with the Securities and Exchange Cagioni pursuant to requests
confidential treatment.
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EXHIBIT 10.15

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
2012 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM

1. Purpose.The 2012 Long-Term Incentive Program (th2012 LTIP ) is a long term incentive program sponsored by [
Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta” or the “Company ") that is intended to closely: (a) link pay and perfance by providing managem
employees with a compensation opportunity basedelta's achieving key business objectives; anda(lgn the interests
management employees with the Company's other eegdoand stakeholders.

The 2012 LTIP is being adopted under the Deltaldies, Inc. 2007 Performance Compensation Pld2007 Performance Pla
"). It is subject to the terms of the 2007 Perfomoe Plan and an individual's 2012 LTIP Award Agream(* Award
Agreement”).

Capitalized terms that are used but not definetién2012 LTIP shall have the meaning ascribed émtin the 2007 Performar
Plan. For purposes of the 2012 LTIP, the defingioh“ Good Reason” and “ Retirement” as set forth in the 2007 Performa
Plan are hereby replaced or modified under Se@itelow, and shall apply as set forth in Sectidn Beu of the definitions ¢
these terms in the 2007 Performance Plan or asfimddas applicable.

2. Plan Administration . (a) The Personnel & Compensation Committee oBibard of Directors (the Committee ™) shall bt
responsible for the general administration andrpregation of the 2012 LTIP and for carrying owt jirovisions. The Committ
shall have such powers as may be necessary toadigeits duties hereunder, including, without latiiin, the following powe
and duties, but subject to the terms of the 201[PLT

() authority to construe and interpret tharterof the 2012 LTIP, and to determine eligibiliggwvards and tt
amount, manner and time of payment of any awardsuineler;

(i)  authority to prescribe forms and procedufer purposes of the 2012 LTIP participation aistribution o
awards; and

(i)  authority to adopt rules and regulaticensd to take such actions as it deems necessargsiadle for th
proper administration of the 2012 LTIP.

(b)  Any rule or decision by the Committee tl&tnot inconsistent with the provisions of the 20IRIP shall b
conclusive and binding on all persons, and shagjiben the maximum deference permitted by law.

(c) Notwithstanding anything contained in thé@2@erformance Plan to the contrary, the Commitesl not have tt
authority to increase or decrease the actual pagbany Performance Award (as defined below) gmrite any Participa
pursuant to Section 4(b) hereunder.




3. Individual Award Agreements. Any person offered an Award under the 2012 LTIF W required to sign an individt
Award Agreement. Execution by such person of hisier Award Agreement will be a prerequisite to #ffectiveness of tt
Award under the 2012 LTIP and to the person's béogia Participant in the 2012 LTIP.

4.  Awards.
(@) Restricted Stock.

() Award Grant. A Participant may receive Restricted Stock as $igekin the Participant's Award Agreem
(the “ Restricted Stock”).

(i) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the Restricted Stock will be dateed by the Committee in accorda
with the Company's Equity Award Grant Policy, asefifiect from time to time, and set forth in a Rapant's Awar
Agreement.

(i)  Restrictions. Until the restrictions imposed by this Section 4(#)e “ Restrictions ") have lapse
pursuant to Section 4(a)(iv), (v) or (vi) belowParticipant will not be permitted to sell, exchangssign, transfer, pled
or otherwise dispose of the Restricted Stock aedRibstricted Stock will be subject to forfeituresas forth below.

(iv) Lapse of Restriction€ontinued EmploymentSubject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Ptahtlae
2012 LTIP, the Restrictions shall lapse and be wffurther force or effect with respect to ohad of the Shares
Restricted Stock on February 1, 2013Ftst Installment Date ") and the remaining one-half on February 1, 2014 (
Second Installment Date’). *

(v) Lapse of Restrictions/Forfeiture upon TerminatidriEmployment The Restricted Stock and the Restrict
set forth in this Section 4(a) are subject to tikwing terms and conditions:

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasddpon a Participant's Termination of Employment by
Company without Cause or by the Participant for GBeason (including the Termination of Employmeithe
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate aettime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitsklsuct
Affiliate), with respect to any portion of the Rested Stock subject to the Restrictions, the Rafins sha
immediately lapse on the Pro Rata RS Portion ashefdate of such Termination of Employment. Upc
Participant's Termination of Employment by the Camyp without Cause or by the Participant for Goodse
any Restricted Stock that remains subject to thetriRdons, other than the Pro Rata RS Portion|l ghe
immediately forfeited.

“ Pro Rata RS Portion” means, with respect to any portion of Restricsdck that is subject to the Restrictions
at the time of a Participant's Termination of Enyph@nt, the number of Shares with respect to whieh t
Restrictions would have lapsed on each future lins¢émt Date multiplied by a fraction (i) the numenaof which

is the number

! If this formula results in any fractional Shatcation to any Installment Date, the numbe8béres with respect to which the Restrictions lapsthe Firs

Installment Date will be rounded up, and the nundfeshares with respect to which the Restricti@psé on the Second Installment Date will be rourthbedh
to the nearest whole Share so that only full Sharesovered by each Installment Date.




of calendar month&rom the Grant Date to the date of such TerminatbEmployment, rounded up for any
partial month and (ii) the denominator of whichviglve (12) for the First Installment Date and tiyefour (24)
for the Second Installment Dafe.

(B) Voluntary ResignationUpon a Participant's Termination of Employment bgson of a volunta
resignation (other than for Good Reason or Retirgjneany portion of the Restricted Stock subjectthe
Restrictions shall be immediately forfeited.

(C) RetirementSubject to Section 4(a)(v)(F) below, upon a Paytiot's Termination of Employment
reason of Retirement, with respect to any portibthe Restricted Stock subject to the Restrictiding,Restrictior
shall immediately lapse on the Pro Rata RS Pod®iwf the date of such Termination of Employmend. Rat:
RS Portion has the meaning set forth in Sectiof(}{@) above. Upon a Participant's Terminatioreofploymen
by reason of Retirement, any Restricted Stock idaaiains subject to the Restrictions, other tharPiteeRata R
Portion, shall be immediately forfeited.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant's Termination of Employment tiudeath or Disability, tf
Restrictions shall immediately lapse and be of mah&r force or effect as of the date of such Taatidon o
Employment.

(E) For Cause.Upon a Participant's Termination of Employment bg tCompany for Cause, ¢
portion of the Restricted Stock subject to the Retgins shall be immediately forfeited.

(F) Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasoifsa
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is, oowld be, terminated by the Company without Causel
Participant shall be considered to have been tatmihby the Company without Cause for purposef@201.
LTIP rather than having retired, but only if therfRapant acknowledges that, absent Retirement,Ptheicipan
would have been terminated by the Company withausge. If, however, the employment of a Participeimd i<
eligible for Retirement is terminated by the Compdor Cause, then regardless of whether the Ppatiti i
considered as a retiree for purposes of any ottugram, plan or policy of the Company, for purposgthe 201
LTIP, the Participant's employment shall be congideo have been terminated by the Company for €aus

(vi) Change in Control. Notwithstanding the forgoing and subject to Secttobelow, upon a Participar
Termination of Employment by the Company withoutu€a or by the Participant for Good Reason (inclgidtine
Termination of Employment of the Participant ifiseemployed by an Affiliate at the time the Compaeils or otherwis
divests itself of such Affiliate) on or after a Glgge in Control but prior to the second anniversairysuch Change
Control, any Restrictions in effect shall immediatiapse on the date of such Termination of Emplegiand be of r
further force or effect as of such date.

(vii) Dividends. In the event a cash dividend shall be paid witlpeesto Shares at a time the Restrictions o
Restricted Stock have not lapsed, the Participiaailt be eligible to receive the dividend upon tapde of the Restrictiot
The Restrictions shall apply to any such dividend.

2 For purposes of the 2012 LTIP, one calendartmisncalculated from the date of measurementecstime or closest numerical date occurring duhiag t

following month. For example, one calendar montmfrJanuary 31, 2012 will elapse as of Februar®2, two months will elapse on March 31, 2012, and
so on.

® If this formula results in any fractional Shattee Pro Rata RS Portion will be rounded up tortbarest whole Share.




(b)  Performance Awards.

(@ Award Grant. A Participant may receive a Performance Award fepacified target cash amount as
forth in the Participant's Award Agreement (Bérformance Award").

(i) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the Performance Award will beedmsined by the Committee and set fi
in the Participant's Award Agreement.

(i)  Payout Criteria and Form of PaymentExcept as otherwise expressly set forth in thesti®n 4(b)
payment, if any, of a Performance Award will be dzh®n the following factors as described and ddfinelow: (A) th
Average Annual Operating Income Margin during trerférmance Period of the Company relative to thenQasite
Performance of the members of the Industry Comedsibup; (B) Customer Service Performance duriegrt@rformanc
Period of the Company; and (C) Return on Investepit@l during the Performance Period of the Company

The payout, if any, of a Performance Award will imade (A) in Shares, calculated based on the Coiown
Formula (as defined below), to each Participant ishemployed by the Company as an executive viesigent or mol
senior officer or holds the position of general meel or chief financial officer of the Company Executive Officer
Participant ") at the time of such payout; and (B) in cashllrother circumstances.

(iv)  Definitions.

(A) In General.

D) “ Composite Performance” means, for purposes of determining the total Averdginua
Operating Income Margin of the Industry Composit®up, the result obtained by treating
members of the Industry Compaosite Group as if theye one combined entity.

2) The “Conversion Formula” will apply to convert from cash to Shares the payduany, of ¢
Performance Award to a person who is an Executiffie€d Participant at the time of such pay:
First, the cash amount of the payout is calculatethe same manner as if the payout is Lt
made in cash. Next, the cash amount is convertedaimumber of Shares based on the follo
formula: A + B, where:

A = the amount of the payout for the Performanceafdnif it is paid in cash; and

B = the closing price of a Share on the New Yoric8tExchange on the later of (1) ¢
that the Committee approves the payouts, if anythef Performance Awards to the ExecL
Officer Participants following the Committee's detaation of the achievement of the pay
criteria described in Section 4(b)(iii) and (2) thé&d business day following the date on whict
Company publicly announces its annual financialltesif this date is scheduled in the si
month that the Committee approves such payoudsyif

3) “GAAP " means accounting principles generally accepteldarunited States of Americ

4) “ Industry Composite Group” means Alaska Air Group, Inc., AN




(®)

(B)
(1)

)

®3)

©
(1)

(D)
(1)

Corporation, JetBlue Airways Corporation, Southwaislines Co., United Continental Holdiny
Inc., and US Airways Group, Inc.

“ Performance Period” means the period beginning on January 1, 2012 adéh@ on an
including December 31, 2013.

Average Annual Operating Income Margin

The “Average Annual Operating Income Margin” for Delta and each member of the Indu
Composite Group shall be calculated by using theesti company's Operating Income and 1
Operating Revenue for the applicable periods aaddtiowing formula: (A + B ), where:

A = Operating Income for 2012 and 2013; and
B = Total Operating Revenue for 2012 and 2013.

“ Operating Income " means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, thejesttbcompany
consolidated operating income for the applicableoge based on its regularly prepared
publicly available statements of operations preghaneaccordance with GAAP, but excluding:
any material asset write downs; (ii) gains or Igsséh respect to unusual or nogcurring event
including, without limitation, changes in accoumgfiprinciples, bankruptcyelated reorganizatis
items, restructuring charges, mergelated costs, extinguishment of debt and otherobyterioc
adjustments; and (iii) expenses accrued with rdsfmeany annual broadased employee prc
sharing plan, program or arrangement.

“ Total Operating Revenue” means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, thgextihcompany
total operating revenue for the applicable peribdsed on its regularly prepared and pub
available statements of operations prepared inrdaocge with GAAP.

Customer Service Performance

The “ Customer Service Performance’ for Delta shall be measured based on the perce
point improvement in Delta's average monthly NebrRoter Score (“NPS ") from the 201
calendar year to the average monthly NPS over @réoinance Period, with (A) Delta’'s N
performance attributable to domestic travel acdogrfor 60% of the measure and (ii) Delta's |
performance attributable to international travetamting for 40% of the measure. The crit
and methodology used to determine Delta's NPSderiteed in a document titled Net Promoter
Measuring Customer Satisfaction at Deltafiich was previously reviewed by the Commit
Company management will periodically report to tbempany's Board of Directors regarc
Delta's NPS.

Return on Invested Capit.
The “ Return on Invested Capital ” for Delta shall be calculated by using Delta's Awg

Operating Income and Average Invested Capital far applicable periods and the follow
formula, (A+B), where:




)

®3)

(4)

(®)

(6)

A = Average Operating Income for 2012 and 2013; and
B = Average Invested Capital for 2012 and 2013.

“Average Operating Income ” means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, Del@a®rag
annual Total Operating Income over the Performderéod.

“ Total Operating Income ” means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, Deltassolidate
operating income for the applicable periods bagsedsoregularly prepared and publicly availe
statements of operations prepared in accordande®@AAP, but excluding: (i) any material as
write downs; and (ii) gains or losses with respectinusual or nomecurring events, includin
without limitation, changes in accounting princiglebankruptcyrelated reorganization iten
restructuring charges, mergalated costs, extinguishment of debt and other afufperioc
adjustments.

“ Average Invested Capital” means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, Deltatal investe
capital averaged monthly over the Performance Bednd shall be calculated using the follov
formula, (A+B), where:

A = Market Value of Equity; and
B = Adjusted Net Debt.

“ Market Value of Equity ” means the total number of Shares of Common Stot¢tanding o
December 30, 2011 multiplied by $8.09 (the clogmige of a Share of Common Stock on
New York Stock Exchange on that date), which vahkhall remain constant during -
Performance Period; providedhowever, in the event that the Company issues or repues
additional Common Stock for cash during the Peréoroe Period (but excluding the exercis
any employee stock option for cash), the Marketugadf Equity shall be adjusted to include
gross cash proceeds of the equity issuance or axdlue gross cash payments for the e
repurchase, before adjustment for any applicalde ¢ charges associated therewith.

“Adjusted Net Debt” for Delta shall be calculated monthly based onrégularly prepare
internal financial statements using the followimgnhula (A+B-C), subject to Section 4(b)(v)(l
where:

A = Total gross long term debt and capital leaseslyding current maturities) tt
reflects Delta's actual obligations to lenderseassbrs, including any adjustments from the |
value to reflect premiums or discounts that mantmertizing;

B = Annual aircraft rent expense multiplied by seyé); and

C = Unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-investments.

(v) Vesting.

(A)

General.Subject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Ridna#l other conditions included in ¢

applicable Award Agreement, the Performance Awdiall svest, as described in this Section 4(b)(v)pfathe en
of the Performance Period to the extent




that the Company's actual performance results meeikceed Threshold level with respect to Averagmua
Operating Income Margin Customer Service Perforraaartd/or Return on Invested Capital, as applicabtea
described below. For purposes of Average Annualr@pey Income Margin, the Company's performanc
compared against the Composite Performance ohitgstry Composite Group.

(B) Committee's Authorityn determining the Average Annual Operating Incdwergin for Delta an
each member of the Industry Composite Group andRétern on Invested Capital for Delta, the Comritshal
make such adjustments with respect to any sub@upany as is necessary to ensure the results arpacable
including, without limitation, differences in acaaing policies (for example, fuel hedging, purchaseountin
adjustments associated with mergers, acquisitiondivestures, fresh start accounting as a resutnoérgenc
from bankruptcy). Without limiting the generalityf ahe forgoing, the Committee shall (i) make s
determinations based on financial data filed byshigject company with the U.S. Department of Transpion o
otherwise, and (ii) exclude from any calculatiory @em of gain, loss or expense to be extraordirmarynusual i
nature or infrequent in occurrence.

(C) Impact of Certain Event$\ company shall be automatically removed from théulstry Composi
Group in the event that any of the following ocduring or with respect to the Performance Perigdsict
company ceases to maintain or does not timely peepablicly available statements of operations areg ir
accordance with GAAP; (ii) such company is not slieviving entity in any merger, consolidation, dher non-
bankruptcy reorganization (or survives only as bsaliary of an entity other than a previously wialiwnec
subsidiary of such company); (iii) such companyssédéases, or exchanges all or substantially fallsoassets 1
any other person or entity (other than a previowdtplly owned subsidiary of such company); (iv) suwompan
is dissolved and liquidated; or (v) more than 2006wch company's revenues (determined on a corsgetidbas
based on the regularly prepared and publicly abkdlstatements of operations of such company peepa
accordance with GAAP) for any fiscal year of sucdmpany are attributable to the operation of busiesothe
than such company's airline business and such apmpaes not provide publicly available statement
operations with respect to its airline businesgs tra separate from the statements of operatiomgdmed witt
respect to its other businesses.

(D) Transactions Between Airline3.o the extent reasonably practicable, in the ewdnad merge
consolidation or similar transaction during thefBenance Period between Delta and any other ajriruding
member of the Industry Composite Group, or betwaagnmember of the Industry Composite Group andathg!
airline, including another member of the Industrgn@posite Group (an Airline Merger "), Average Annu:
Operating Income Margin for such company will bécakated on a combined basis as if the Airline Merbar
occurred on January 1, 2012.

(E) Vesting/Performance Measureghe payment, if any, a Participant will receivecionnection wit
the vesting of the Performance Award will be basedhe following:




Average Annual Operating Customer Service Customer Service
Income Margin + Performance--Domestic + Performance--International +| Returnon Invested Capital
% of % of % of % of
Target Target Target Target
Earned Earned Earned Earned
Performance] X Performance] X Performance] X Performance] X
Measure Weight Measure Weight Measure Weight Measure Weight
33.0% above +3% +3% 10.0%
Composite 200% points or| 200% points or| 200% or 200%
Maximum Performance | x50% Maximum higher | x15% Maximum higher | x10% Maximum | higher | x25%
Composite 100% +1.50% | 100% +1.50% | 100% 100%
Target Performance | x50% Target points | x15% Target points | x10% Target 0.08 | x25%
33.0% below
Composite 50% +0% 50% +0% 50% 50%
Threshold Performance | x 50% Threshold points | x 15% Threshold points | x 10% Threshold 0.06 | x 25%

Any portion of a Performance Award that does nddt\a the end of the Performance Period will imratsdy lapse and becol
void. Payouts based on the above performance memasvill be straightine interpolated when actual performance resutt
above Threshold and below Target or above Targkbatow Maximum.

(vi) Timing of Payment The payout, if any, of any Performance Awards trest under Section 4(b)(v) w

be made as soon after the end of the PerformantedRes the payment amount can be finally deterdhibat in no evel
later than March 15, 2014, unless it is administedy impracticable to do so, and such impractitigbiwas no
foreseeable at the end of 2013, in which case pagiment shall be made as soon as administrativelgtipable afte
March 15, 2014.

(vii)  Accelerated Vesting/Forfeiture upon TerminatiorEafiployment The Performance Awards are subjec

the following terms and conditions.

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasddpon a Participant's Termination of Employment by
Company without Cause or by the Participant for &8eason (including the Termination of Employmeithe
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate atethime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitsklsuct
Affiliate), the Participant's target Performance a&wa will be recalculated and will be the resulttioé following
formula (the “Adjusted Performance Award”): S x (T + 24) where,

S = the Participant's target Performance Awardf éiseoGrant Date; and

T = the number of calendar months from January0122o the date of such Termination of Employmeotiider
up for any partial month).

Thereafter, the Participant will be eligible to ea@ a payment, if any, in cash based on the Ad§uBterformanc
Award which will vest and become payable under iBact(b)(v) in the same manner and to the samenezatei
the Participant's employment had continued.

(B) Voluntary ResignationUpon a Participant's Termination of Employment bgson of a volunta
resignation (other than for Good Reason or Retirgjaior to the end of the workday on December2i11,3, th:
Participant will immediately forfeit any unpaid pion of the Performance Award as of the date ofh
Termination of Employment. In the event that a iegrant incurs a Termination of Employment by reasd ¢
voluntary resignation (other than for Good ReasoRe&tirement) on or after January 1, 2014, theiépant will
remain eligible for any unpaid Performance Awarthjokh award will vest and become payable under Seect{b)
(v) in the same manner and to the same extenttas Participant's employment had continued.

(C) RetirementSubject to Section 4(b)(vii)(F) below, upon a Raptnt's
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Termination of Employment due to Retirement, thetiBipant's target Performance Award will be recédted ir
accordance with the formula set forth in Sectiom)@(i)(A) above. Thereafter, the Participant wik eligible t
receive a payment, if any, in cash based on theiskejl Performance Award which will vest and becqangabl
under Section 4(b)(v) in the same manner and tedhge extent as if the Participant's employmentdoatinued.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant's Termination of Employment ttueeath or Disability, t
Participant's Performance Award will immediatelycbme vested at the target level and such amouhbwipaic
in cash as soon as practicable thereafter to theipant or the Participant's estate, as applieabl

(E) For Cause.Upon a Participant's Termination of Employment bg Company for Cause, -
Participant will immediately forfeit any unpaid pion of the Performance Award as of the date ofh
Termination of Employment.

(F) Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasoifsa
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is, oowd be, terminated by the Company without Cause}
Participant shall be considered to have been tetmihby the Company without Cause for purposefef201.
LTIP rather than having retired, but only if therfRapant acknowledges that, absent RetirementPhricipan
would have been terminated by the Company withausg. If, however, the employment of a Participemo i<
eligible for Retirement is terminated by the Compdor Cause, then regardless of whether the Ppatiti i
considered as a retiree for purposes of any ottogram, plan or policy of the Company, for purposéthe 201
LTIP, the Participant's employment shall be congiddo have been terminated by the Company for €aus

(viii)  Change in Control Notwithstanding the forgoing and subject to Sectiobelow, upon a Participar
Termination of Employment by the Company withoutu€a or by the Participant for Good Reason (inclgdihe
Termination of Employment of the Participant ifiseemployed by an Affiliate at the time the Compaeyls or otherwis
divests itself of such Affiliate) on or after a Gige in Control but prior to the second anniversairysuch Change
Control, the Participant's outstanding PerformafAwaard shall immediately become vested at the talesdl and suc
amount will be paid in cash to the Participant asnsas practicable. With respect to any Participaho incurs
Termination of Employment by the Company withouti€&a or who resigns for Good Reason prior to a Chamgontrol
if a Change in Control occurs thereafter during Bregformance Period, such Participant's AdjustadoReance Awar
will immediately become vested and be paid in dagthe Participant as soon as practicable.

(c) Restricted Stock Units

() Award Grant. A Participant may receive Restricted Stock Unitsspecified in the Participant's Awi
Agreement (the RSU").

(i)  Grant Date. The Grant Date of the RSUs will be determined inocadance with the Company's Eq!
Award Grant Policy, as in effect from time to tinamd set forth in the Participant's Award Agreement

(i)  Risk of Forfeiture. Until an RSU becomes vested, a Participant will betpermitted to sell, exchan
assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise disposeeoRBU and the RSU will be subject to forfeituresasforth below.

(iv)  Vesting. Subject to the terms of 2007 Performance Plan la@@®12 LTIP, the
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RSUs will vest with respect to one-half of the RSWgsFebruary 1, 2013 (First RSU Installment ") and the remainir
one-half on February 1, 2014 $econd RSU Installment’). * As soon as practicable after any RSUs become vetbte
Company shall pay to Participant in cash a lump sumount equal to the number of RSUs vesting migtipby th
closing price of a Share of Common Stock on the B8 the vesting date or, if the Common Stock wadnaded on tt
NYSE on the vesting date, the last date prior éoutbsting date that the Common Stock was tradetieNY SE.

(v) Accelerated Vesting; ForfeitureThe RSUs and the vesting provisions set forth in Section 4(c) a
subject to the following terms and conditions:

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasddpon a Participant's Termination of Employment by
Company without Cause or by the Participant for GBeason (including the Termination of Employmeithe
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate aettime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitsklsuct
Affiliate), a number of RSUs equal to the Pro RR&U Portion will become immediately vested as ef date ¢
such termination. Upon a Participant's TerminatddrEmployment by the Company without Cause or bg
Participant for Good Reason, any unvested RSUsrdtian the Pro Rata RSU Portion, shall be immely
forfeited.

“ Pro Rata RSU Portion” means, with respect to any RSU Installment thabisvested at the time o
Participant's Termination of Employment, the numbeRSUs covered by such RSU Installment multiplgde
fraction (i) the numerator of which is the numbércalendar monthsfrom the Grant Date to the date of s
Termination of Employment, rounded up for any @gmnonth and (ii) the denominator of which is twel{d2) fo
the First RSU Installment and twenty-four (24) floe Second RSU Installmefit.

(B) Voluntary ResignationUpon a Participant's Termination of Employment bgson of a volunta
resignation (other than for Good Reason or Retirgjn@any unvested portion of the RSUs shall be idliately
forfeited.

(C) RetirementSubject to Sectiofd)(c)(v)(F) below, upon a Participant's Terminatiaf Employmer
by reason of Retirement, with respect to any RS&fallment that is not then vested, a number of R&¢isl t«
the Pro Rata RSU Portion will become immediatelgted as of the date of such Termination of Emplayim@rc
Rata RSU Portion has the meaning set forth in &edtic)(v)(A) above. Upon a Participant's Termioatof
Employment by reason of Retirement, any unvestetURSther than the Pro Rata RSU Portion, sha
immediately forfeited.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant's Termination of Employment tudeath or Disability, ¢
unvested RSUs will immediately vest as of the dditeuch Termination of Employment.

4 If this formula results in any fractional RSlbaation to any RSU Installment, the number of R3t/the First RSU Installment will be rounded apd the
number of RSUs in the Second RSU Installment véltrdunded down, to the nearest whole RSU, so thigtfoll RSUs are covered by each Installment.

®  For purposes of this Agreement, one calendantimis calculated from the date of measuremerttésaime or closest numerical date occurring duhiag

following month. For example, one calendar montmfiJanuary 31, 2012 will elapse as of Februan2@92, two months will elapse on March 31, 201%5a@s
on.

® If this formula results in any fractional RSWtlse Pro Rata RSU Portion will be rounded up tortbarest whole RSU.
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(E) For Cause.Upon a Participant's Termination of Employment hg iCompany for Cause, ¢
unvested portion of the RSUs shall be immediatetfefted.

(F) Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasan$ a
Participant who is eligible for Retirement, is, would be, terminated by the Company without Casg}
participant shall be considered to have been tetaith by the Company without Cause for purposeshia
Agreement rather than having retired, but only hé tParticipant acknowledges, that absent Retirentie
Participant would have been terminated by the Cowypaithout Cause. If, however, the employment
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is tenaiied by the Company for Cause, then regardlessefher th
Participant is considered a retiree for purposesngfother program, plan or policy of the Compédny,purpose
of this Agreement, the Participant's employmentldi& considered to have been terminated by the 2o fo
Cause.

(vi) Change in Control Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to Sectobelow, upon a Participar
Termination of Employment by the Company withoutu€a or by the Participant for Good Reason (inclgidiine
Termination of Employment of the Participant ifiseemployed by an Affiliate at the time the Compaeils or otherwis
divests itself of such Affiliate) on or after a Glggee in Control, but prior to the second anniversairsuch Change
Control, any unvested portion of the RSUs will indiadely vest as of the date of such Terminatio&mwfloyment.

(d) Stock Option

() Award Grant. A Participant may receive a Non-Qualified Stogition covering the number of Shares as
specified in the Participant's Award Agreement (tl@ption ”).

(ii) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the Option will be determinedisy Committee in accordance with the
Company's Equity Award Grant Policy, as in effeoni time to time, and set forth in a ParticipaAtgard Agreement.

(i )  Exercise Price The exercise price of the Option is the closing@wf a Share on the New York Stock
Exchange on the Grant Date.

(iv) Exercise Period The exercise period of the Option shall be spetiiiethe Participant's Award
Agreement.

(v) Change in Exercisability and Exercise Period up@nriination of EmploymentThe exercisability of the
Option and the exercise period set forth in Sec3i@h)(iv) is subject to the terms and conditionsdfied in the
Participant's Award Agreement.

Potential Reduction in Payments Due to Excise Taxn the event that a Participant becomes entitleldetoefits under tt

2012 LTIP, then such benefits, together with anynpant or consideration in the nature of value anpensation to or for tl
Participant's benefit under any other agreemert witplan of Delta, shall be subject to reductiersat forth in Section 4(e) of 1
2009 Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer and Director Sgance Plan, which relates to the excise tax ugdetion 4999 of the Code.

Definitions. For purposes of the 2012 LTIP, the following ddforis are hereby modified as set forth below aritiapiply in

lieu of the definitions set forth in the 2007 Penfi@nce Plan or as modified, as applicable.

(@) For purposes of the 2012 LTIPGbod Reason’shall have the meaning set forth in the 2007 Perdoice Pla

except the following will be ignored for purposelsdetermining whether a Participant has sufferagduction that constitut
Good Reason under the 2012 LTIP: (i) any long-tamward made
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to a Participant under the 2007 Performance Pidrany other equitypased awards or other incentive compensation awaadk
to a Participant by Delta (or any Affiliate or foemAffiliate), (iii) any retention payment or spattravel benefits provided tc
Participant as a result of his or her initial enypi@nt with Delta or any Affiliate and (iv) the elimation of postretiremen
coverage under the Company's executive life insugrgmogram.

(b) For purposes of the 2012 LTIP Retirement” means a Termination of Employment (other thanGause or
death) either: (i) on or after a Participant's'@firthday provided that such Participant has coneglett least 5 years service since
his or her most recent hire date with the Companyf( Affiliate or former Affiliate); or (ii) on oafter a Participant's 32birthday
provided that such Participant has completed at [E@ years service since his or her most receatdsite with the Company (or
Affiliate or former Affiliate).

7. Clawback. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the 2QTTIP and subject to further amendment of thisti8acr tc
the extent required to be in compliance with angliapble law or regulations or Delta's internalvadieck policy, as it may |
amended from time to time, if the Committee deteenithat a vice president or more senior officeell®articipant has engac
in fraud or misconduct that caused, in whole gpant, the need for a required restatement of Bditaancial statements filed w
the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Comenitiill review all incentive compensation awardedot earned by tt
Participant, including, without limitation, any Awhunder the 2012 LTIP, with respect to fiscal pdsi materially affected by t
restatement and may recover from the Participanswath incentive compensation to the extent that @ommittee deer
appropriate after taking into account the relevfants and circumstances. Any recoupment hereundgr be in addition to at
other remedies that may be available to Delta uagplicable law, including, disciplinary action tgpand including termination
employment.
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EXHIBIT 10.17

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
2012 MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purpose.The 2012 Management Incentive Plan (thdIP ") is an annual incentive program sponsored by Deiitd ides.
Inc. (“ Delta” or the “Company ") that is intended to closely: (a) link pay and parfance by providing management emplo
with a compensation opportunity based on Deltalsieatng key business plan goals in 2012; and (nathe interests !
management employees with the Company's other gmgtoand stakeholders. The MIP is being adoptedruadd is subject
the terms of, the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Pemfance Compensation Plan (th@007 Plan”). Capitalized terms that are u:
but not defined in the MIP shall have the meanisgriaed to them in the 2007 Plan.

2.  Plan Administration . (a) The Personnel & Compensation Committee oBibard of Directors (the Committee ™) shall bt
responsible for the general administration andrpretation of the MIP and for carrying out its pisiens. The Committee sh
have such powers as may be necessary to dischardeties hereunder, including, without limitatiadghe following powers ar
duties, but subject to the terms of the MIP:

(i) authority to construe and interpret tharterof the MIP, and to determine eligibility, awartsd the amour
manner and time of payment of any awards hereunder;

(i)  authority to prescribe forms and procedufer purposes of MIP participation and distribotaf awards;

(i)  authority to adopt rules and regulaticarsd to take such actions as it deems necessargsoalle for th
proper administration of the MIP; and

(iv) authority at any time prior to a ChangeQontrol to eliminate or reduce the actual payouwing Participat
in the MIP.

(b)  Any rule or decision by the Committee tlgahot inconsistent with the provisions of the MilRall be conclusive a
binding on all persons, and shall be given the maxi deference permitted by law.

(c) Notwithstanding anything contained in the@d2®lan to the contrary, the Committee shall natehtthe authority 1
increase the actual payout to any ParticipanténMihP.

3.  Eligibility. All Delta employees worldwide who are officers, ragimg directors (grade 13), directors (grade 12nega
managers (grade 11), grade 10 or grade 8 (otheretimployees who participate in a sales incentiae)pare eligible to participe
in the MIP (“Participants ).

4., MIP Awards.

(@) General.The MIP award (the MIP Award ") each Participant receives, if any, will be based(rihe Participant
Target MIP Award, as defined below; (ii) the lewal achievement within each applicable performan@asare;and (iii) the
occurrence of a payout for 2012 under the Compabgosd-based employee profit sharing program (therdfit Sharing
Program "), as described below. Certain additional requiremeitsapply to any Participant who is employed I tCompany ¢
an executive vice president or more senior offaenolds the position of general counsel or chiwdiricial officer of the Compa
(* Executive Officer Participant ), as discussed in Section 7(b) below.

(b) Performance MeasuresThe performance measures used will be one or ofdieancial (“Financial
Performance”), operational (“Operational Performance”), revenue (“Revenue Performance€), leadership effectiveness (*
Leadership Effectiveness Performancé) and individual




performance (‘Individual Performance ”). Achievement under each performance measure may rfaogn below threshold,
which there is no payout, to the maximum perfornealevel, at which the payout will be greater thiae target level, subject
Section 4(c) below.

(c) Interaction with Profit Sharing Program and Individl Performance Measurd. there is no payout under the Pr
Sharing Program for 2012, (i) no amount will bedpaiith respect to Financial Performance to any i€ipent regardless
whether Delta meets exceeds that performance measure and (ii) for génenager (grade 11) Participants and above,diva
MIP Award, if any, will not exceed such ParticipanTarget MIP Award (as defined below). In additigha Participant
performance under the Individual Performance Meagapplicable to Participants who are not officdedls below the fmeet:
expectations’performance rating, no amount will be paid withpes to Financial Performance, Operational Perfocaaand/c
Revenue Performance to such Participant regardfesbether Delta meets or exceeds those performaueaesures.

(d) Target MIP Awards.The Target MIP Award for each Participant will bepessed as a percentage of
Participant's Annual Base Salary (therdrget MIP Award ") as determined by the Committee and will be commateit t
Participants in such manner as the Committee degpopriate. Subject to Section 8 belowArinual Base Salary” means th
Participant's 2012 annual base salary as in effe@ecember 31, 2012.

5.  Weighting of Performance MeasuresSubject to Section 8 below, a percentage of eacticant's Target MIP Award
allocated to one or more of Financial Performar@perational Performance, Revenue Performance, kslaigeEffectivenes
Performance and/or Individual Performance basettherfrarticipant's employment level, as follows:

Employment % of Target MIR

Level Award allocateq% of Target MIA % of Target MIH% of Target MIH
to Award allocated tg Award allocated tqAward allocated tq
Financial Operational % of Target MIP Awar{Leadership Individual
Performance Performance Allocated to RevenyEffectiveness Performance

Performance Performance

(A) (B) © (D) (E) (F

CEO 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

President 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

COO 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

EVP 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

CFO and General

Counsel 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

ClO 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

SVPp* 50% 25% 15% 10% 0%

VP* 50% 25% 15% 10% 0%

Managing

Director  (Grads

13)* 35% 15% 10% 0% 40%

Director (Grads

12)* 35% 15% 10% 0% 40%

General Managg

(Grade 11) 25% 15% 10% 0% 50%

Grade 10 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%

Grade 8 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%




* Notwithstanding the weightings set forth above, @enmittee has delegated to the Chief Executivéic@fof the Company, tl
authority to reallocate up to an aggregate ofwgrty percentage points for Senior Vice PresidantsVice Presidents, and (ii)
percentage points for Managing Directors and Diex;tof the Target MIP Award allocated to Finand®&rformance to one
both of the Operational Performance and Revenuefggince weightings.

6. The Performance Measures-Threshold, Target and Marium Payout Levels.The Target MIP Award, and the amot
paid in connection with target levels of Financ@perational, Revenue, Leadership Effectiveness lragividual Performance, ¢
based on the achievement of the target performémad with respect to each applicable performan@asuare (except tt
Financial Performance also requires a payout utideProfit Sharing Program for 2012). A Participaattual MIP Award may |
greater or less than the target amount based othethperformance under one or more of the perfoomameasures applicable
the Participant exceeds or is below target perfocaasubject to Section 4(c) above. This is expldim more detail below.

(@) Financial Performance MeasuresThe Financial Performance measures for 2012 ased on Delta's PrEax
Income, as defined below. The following table déms the performance ranges and award payout Iggel2012 Financii
Performance, subject to Section 4(c) above:

Threshold Target Maximum
% of Target Financial Performance Measure Paid [50% 100% 200%
Required 2012 Pre-Tax $837 Million $1,674 Million $2,227 Million
Income

Payouts will be straight-line interpolated when-Pex Income results fall above Threshold and bel@ngé&t or above Target ¢
below Maximum.

“Pre-Tax Income” will be the amount of Pre-Tax Income, if any, detgred under the Profit Sharing Program for 2012.

(b) Operational Performance MeasureBhe Operational Performance measures for 2012 agedoon both Delta a
Delta Connection operational performance, withD@lta's operational performance accounting for @%he measure and |
Delta Connection performance accounting for 25%hef measure. Delta's Operational Performance isdban the humber
times during 2012 that Delta meets or exceeds @sthly goals under the broad-based employee shrakeards program (the
Shared Rewards Program”). Delta Connection's Operational Performance is basetthe number of times during 2012 that
Delta Connection carriers meet or exceed their higrdperational goals for (x) completion factor afy)l ontime performanc
(the “ Delta Connection Goals’). The Delta Connection Goals and the methodologylé&ermining whether these goals are
are described irExhibit A hereto. The following table describes the perforogananges and award payout levels for :
Operational Performance, subject to Section 4(oyab

! The Profit Sharing Program for 2012 defines*Pax Income” as follows: for any calendar yeae, @®ompany's consolidated pre-tax income calcuiated
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Rpies in the United States and as reported in th@@any's public securities filings but excluding) &ll
asset write downs related to long term assetgdins or losses with respect to employee equityritess, (c) gains or losses with respect to extiaxary, one-
time or non-recurring events, and (d) expense accwith respect to the profit sharing plan andNHE.




Below Threshold Threshold Target Maximum
Shared Rewards Program

% of Target Payout for thi

Performance Measure (7596 37.5% 75% 150%
Weighting)

Number of monthly Shared Rewa

Program goals actually met duri15 or less 16 21 26 or more
2012

Delta Connection Goals

% of Target Payout for this
Performance Measure (2590 12.5% 25% 50%
Weighting)

Number of Delta Connection Go
actually met during 2012

8 or less 9 14 19 or more

Payouts based on the Shared Rewards Program and Oehnection Goals will be straiglne interpolated when actt
performance results fall above Threshold and béllavget or above Target and below Maximum.

(c) Revenue Performance Measurd@he Revenue Performance measures for 2012 will basared based on
comparison of Delta's TRASM for the 2012 calendearyover the 2011 calendar year relative to theidtrgl Group Averac
TRASM for the 2012 calendar year over the 2011 ruide year. The following table describes the pentorce ranges and aw
payout levels for 2012 Revenue Performance, sutgesection 4(c) above:

Threshold Target Maximum
% of Target Revenue Performance Measure &% 100% 200%

Delta's 2012 TRASM over 2011 TRASM relat
to Industry Group Average TRASM for the sg2011 TRASM
period

2011 TRASM + 0.5092011 TRASM + 1.09
points points or more

Payouts based on Revenue Performance will be btriig interpolated when actual performance resuallisabove Threshold a
below Target or above Target and below Maximuymmgvided, however if 2012 Financial Performance equals or exceéd
Maximum performance level, payouts based on Rev@eumrmance will not be less than the Target arhmgardless of wheth
the actual performance results fall below Target.

“ Available Seat Mile " means the consolidated scheduled and swireduled total number of seats available
transporting passengers during a reporting perioltiplied by the total number of miles flown duritigat period.
“ Industry Group " means Air Tran Holdings, LLC, Alaska Air Group, InAMR Corporation, JetBlue Airwa
Corporation, Southwest Airlines Co., United Contite¢ Holdings, Inc., and US Airways Group, Inc.

“ Industry Group Average TRASM " means the aggregate Total Operating Revenue fanathbers of the Indusi
Group divided by the aggregate Available Seat Mileall members of the Industry Group.

“ Total Operating Revenue” means, for Delta and each member of the Industourthe applicable company's ti
operating revenue for a calendar year based argdtdarly prepared and publically available statets@f operations preparec
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States of America.

In determining the Total Operating Revenue for ®alhd each member of the Industry Group, the Cotaenithall mak
such adjustments with respect to any subject cognparis necessary to ensure the




results are comparable, including, without limiati differences in accounting policies (for exampientecurring adjustments
deferred revenue resulting from (i) initial apptica of accounting policies; (ii) the applicatiohaccounting policies to materia
modified contracts or (iii) significant accountiegtimate changes associated with mergers, acqusitdivestitures or fresh si
accounting as a result of emergence from bankripttithout limiting the generality of the forgointhe Committee shall (i) ma
such determinations based on publicly audited firnstatements filed by the subject company with U.S. Securities a
Exchange Commission, and (ii) exclude from any dakion any item of gain, loss or expense to beaextinary or unusual
nature or infrequent in occurrence.

“ TRASM " means Total Operating Revenue divided by AvadaBeat Miles.

(d) Leadership Effectiveness Performance Measurbe Leadership Effectiveness Performance medapicable t
Participants who are Vice Presidents or Senior \Reesidents (other than any Executive Officer Padints) for 2012 will b
based on an evaluation of whether a Participantdeasonstrated leadership attributes and resulisgl@012 including, amot
other things, supporting diversity, providing talemanagement, meeting financial budget, and beirggeamodel for the Rules
the Road. The performance ranges and award pagieeisiwill be determined by the Committee, subjecection 4(c) above.

(e) Individual Performance Measur&he Individual Performance measure (applicable aoti@pants who are n
officers) is generally determined by each ParticijsaLeader Performance Management evaluatidtP{ ") at the end of 201
The performance ranges and award payout leveldwitletermined by the Committee, subject to Seet{opabove.

7. Timing of Award Payments.

(& In General.Subject to Sections 7(b) and 8(a) below, any paytmuta Participant under the MIP for 2012 will
made in cash, as soon as practicable after (i)Cimamittee certifies the achievement of the requiFathncial Performanc
Operational Performance and Revenue Performanoégesd (i) where applicable, Leadership Effeetigss Performance res
have been determined and an LPM evaluation has bespleted, but in no event later than March 15132Qunless it |
administratively impracticable to do so, and suctpriacticability was unforeseeable at the end of220d which case su
payment shall be made as soon as administrativelgtipable after March 15, 2013. Further, unlegayout for 2012 under t
Profit Sharing Program occurs after March 15, 2@i8; payout under the 2012 MIP will not be mademptd a payout for 20:
under the Profit Sharing Prograprovided, however if it is determined there will be no payout fd@12 under the Profit Shari
Program, any MIP Awards that are payable based pera@dional Performance, Revenue Performance, LehigeEffectivenes
Performance or Individual Performance will be pagisoon as practicable thereafter, but in no ea¢et than March 15, 201
unless it is administratively impracticable to dg and such impracticability was unforeseeablédatend of 2012, in which ce
such payment shall be made as soon as adminisisafivacticable after March 15, 2013.

(b) Executive Officer Participant®ayouts under the MIP to Participants who, as afebeber 31, 2012, are Execu
Officer Participants (as such term is defined int®a& 4(a) above) will be subject to the followitegms and conditions:

() Paymentin Restricted StocK there is no payout under the Profit SharinggPam for 2012, any payout under the MIP t
Executive Officer Participant will be made in shsof Restricted Stock rather than in cash, withrilmaber of shares of Restrict
Stock being equal to the result of the followingrfiaila (“ MIP Restricted Stock”): A = B, where:*

A = the amount of the payout to the Executivéidef Participant under the MIP had the payout bemde il
cash; and

2 |f this formula results in any fractional shareg MIP Restricted Stock will be rounded up to thamet whole share.




B = the closing price of a Share on the New Y8tkck Exchange on the later of (1) the date the
Committee approves the payouts, if any, to the Hxee Officer Participants under the MIP followirte
Committee's certification of the achievement oftbguired performance measures as described ilo8é&gh) an
(2) the third business day following the date orickithe Company publicly announces its annual fonmresult
if this date is scheduled in the same month thebmmittee approves such payouts, if any.

(i) Lapsing of Restrictions; ForfeiturdJntil the restrictions imposed by this Sectiob){i{) (the “ Restrictions
") have lapsed pursuant to the terms below, an ExecQtfficer Participant will not be permitted to Iseixchange, assic
transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of the MIBtiRded Stock and the MIP Restricted Stock willdokject to forfeitur
as set forth below.

(A) The Restrictions shall lapse and be of mthier force or effect on the earlier of the datetfiere is
payout under the Profit Sharing Program unles®rgo such payout, the Executive Officer Participancurs i
Disqualifying Termination of Employment or (2) andeutive Officer Participant incurs a Qualifyingrirenatior
of Employment. The MIP Restricted Stock will be irdmately forfeited if, prior to the lapsing of tRestrictions
the Executive Officer Participant incurs a Disqfyatig Termination of Employment.

(B) *“ Disqualifying Termination of Employment " means an Executive Officer Participa
Termination of Employment by the Company for Cause.

(A) “ Qualifying Termination of Employment ” means an Executive Officer Participa
Termination of Employment (1) by the Company with@ause; or (2) due to death or Disability.

(D) For purposes of this Section 7(b)(ii), if &xecutive Officer Participant incurs a Terminatiof
Employment by reason of (1) a voluntary resignatianluding the Termination of Employment by thetizapan
if he is employed by an Affiliate at the time ther@pany sells or otherwise divests itself of sucfiliafe); or (2]
Retirement, the Restrictions shall lapse and beoofurther force or effect on the date there isagopit under tt
Profit Sharing Program as if such Executive OffiParticipant's employment had continued througin siate.

(E) For purposes of the MIP Retirement” means a Termination of Employment (other than faug
or death) either: (1) on or after a Participan2s$’®irthday provided that such Participant has coneplett least
years service since his or her most recent hire wah the Company (or an Affiliate or former Afite); or (2) o
or after a Participant's 52birthday provided that such Participant has coneglett least 10 years service since
or her most recent hire date with the Company (oAfiiliate or former Affiliate).

(i)  Dividends. In the event a cash dividend shall be paid ipeesof Shares at a time the Restrictions o
MIP Restricted Stock have not lapsed, the Partitihall be eligible to receive the dividend uptwe 1apse of tt
Restrictions. The Restrictions shall apply to angtsdividend.

(iv) 2007 Plan; Written Notice The MIP Restricted Stock will otherwise be subjecthe terms of the 20
Plan. In the event any Executive Officer ParticifmMIP Award is converted to MIP Restricted Stoskch Participal
will receive a written notice of such conversiorttwihe details thereof as soon as practicable HfeeMIP Payment Date.




8. Change in Employment Status.
(@) Termination of Employment .

() A Termination Event in 2012--Generdixcept as expressly set forth in this Section 8thi@ event
Participant's employment with Delta terminatesdny reason prior to the end of the workday on Ddxm31, 2012, su
Participant will be ineligible for any award undére MIP. In other words, if a Participant is emmgdyaccording 1
Company records through the end of the workday enelnber 31, 2012, the Participant will be eligifde any awar
earned under the MIP for 2012, including, if applite, MIP Restricted Stock.

(i) ~ Termination on or after January 1, 2018ubject to Section 7(b) above, a Participant whaurg ¢
Termination of Employment for any reason other tf@mCause on or after January 1, 2013 will rerr&ligible for an
unpaid MIP Award, which award will be paid accoglito the terms of Section 7(a) above. A Participemb is terminate
by the Company for Cause on or after January 13 24l forfeit any unpaid MIP Award.

(i)  Pro Rata MIP Payment.

(A) Disability or Retirement. This Section 8(a)(iii))(A) applies to any Participawho incurs
Termination of Employment prior to January 1, 2@L@ to the Participant's Disability or Retiremeas such ter
is defined in Section 7(b)(ii)(D)). Subject to tRarticipant's execution of a waiver and releaselams in a forr
and manner satisfactory to the Company, such Raatit will be eligible to receive a MIP Award based at
adjusted annual base salary amount, but otherwitfeei same manner, to the same extent and at ite thae a
the Participant would have received such MIP Awiirduch Participant's employment had continued ugr
December 31, 2012if., based on achievement of applicable performanasuares). The most recent LPM p
to the Termination of Employment will generally &ppo the Individual Performance measure, if amyplecable
to the Participant. The Participant's Annual Baata§ will be the result of the following formuld x Y/12,
where:

X = the Participant's annual base salary as irce#fe of the date of Termination of Employment; and

Y = the number of calendar months the Participaad actively employed by Delta during 2012 in a MIP-
eligible position, rounded up for any partial marith

(B) Termination of Employment Without Cause or RegyitnBenefits under the Severance Pldarhis
Section 8(a)(iii)(B) applies to any Participant wimeurs a Termination of Employment prior to Jaryuay 201:
due to either (1) a Termination of Employment bg tBompany without Cause, or (2) for any other reaba
entitles such Participant to benefits under the@alr Lines, Inc. 2009 Officer and Director Seveca Plan (the “
Severance Plar). Subject to the Participant's execution of a waamd release of claims in a form and ma
satisfactory to the Company, such Participant beélleligible to receive a MIP Award based on an stéjgi annui
base salary amount, but otherwise in the same mammthe same extent and at the same time asatteiPan
would have received such MIP Award if such Partiaifs employment had continued through Decembe? &I
(i.e., based on achievement of applicable performan@suares). The Participant's

®  For purposes of the MIP, one calendar montalsulated from the date of measurement to the sarosest numerical date occurring during théofeing
month. For example, one calendar month from JanBir2012 will elapse as of February 29, 2012, twemths will elapse on March 31, 2012, and so on.
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Annual Base Salary will be determined in accordamitle the formula set forth in Section 8(a)(iii)(Apove.

(C) Death. This Section 8(a)(iii)(C) applies to any Partanip who incurs a Termination of Employm
prior to January 1, 2013 due to the Participardatiil The Participant's estate will be eligibledoeive a Pro Ra
MIP Payment made in cash as soon as practicaldeaParticipant's Termination of Employment, luho ever
later than 2¥2 months following the end of the yimawhich the Termination of Employment occursPfo Rata
MIP Payment” means the result of the following formula: W x Z/Yhere:

W = the Participant's Target MIP Award; and

Z = the number of calendar months the Participaad actively employed by Delta during 201
a MIP-eligible position, rounded up for any partianth.

(b) Other Changes in Employment Status The terms of this Section 8(b) shall apply to ansances involving ne
hires, promotions, demotions, transfers or leavesbgence during 2012. After a Participant's TalgE® Award is determine
under this Section 8(b), the appropriate weightihgerformance measures will apply to each portibsuch Target MIP Award
set forth in Section 5 above. For partial calendanths, the change in employment status will besictemed effective as of the™1
day of the month in which there is a change inustgirovided, however in the event that a Participant was (i) on a Di#g
leave of absence for a period of less than onendatemonth during 2012 and (ii) actively at work & least one full day durii
such calendar month, the Participant will be deemoetave been employed in a M#Hgible position for the entire calen:
month. The end of year LPM will apply to any Indival Performance measure applicable to the Paatitipnless the Particip:
is no longer subject to the LPM process after thenge in employment status, in which case the necgint LPM will apply. An
MIP Awards payable under this Section 8(b) willgzd at the same time and in the same manner hsasuards are paid to act
Participants, subject to Section 7(b) above.

() New Hires.With respect to any individual who becomes emploggdelta as a grade 8 or any more s¢
MIP-eligible position during 2012 but after January2@12, such individual will be a Participant in thP and will be
eligible to receive an award under the MIP for 2Qdr@vided,that such Participant's Annual Base Salary wiltheeresu
of the following formula: X x Y/12, where:

X = the Participant's annual base salary as of Dbee 31, 2012; and

Y = the number of calendar months the Participaas &ctively employed by Delta in a Méfgible positiol
during 2012, rounded up for any partial month.

(i)  Promotions.Participants who are either promoted into a Mligible job level or promoted into a higl
level of MIP participation during 2012 will havestin Target MIP Award calculated based on their @hinase salary
each MIPeligible job level (measured as of the date imntetijgorior to the date the promotion is considezédctive fo
purposes of the MIP, if applicable, as describethinfirst paragraph of Section 8(b) above, andfddecember 31, 201
and the number of calendar months they were emgloyeach such capacity, multiplied by the relevatdl! target awal
percentage applicable to their position or posgidaring the relevant period.

(i)  DemotionsParticipants who are either demoted to a positiai is not eligible to participate in the MIF
demoted to a lower level of MIP participation dgrip012 will have their
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Target MIP Award calculated based on their ann@alebsalary at each Mi#igible job level (measured as of the (
immediately prior to the date the demotion is cdesed effective for purposes of the MIP, as descriin the firs
paragraph of Section 8(b) above, and, if applicagteof December 31, 2012) and the number of calenmbnths the
were employed in each such capacity, multipliedhgyrelevant total target award percentage appédabtheir position ¢
positions during the relevant period.

(iv) Transfers and Leaves of Absenbethe event that during 2012 a Participant trarsstEamployment froi
Delta to a Delta subsidiary or affiliate that doed participate in the MIP, other than a transéethte Delta Communi
Credit Union (the “DCCU "), the Participant will forfeit any eligibility for amward under the MIP. Except as provi
under Section 8(b)(v) below, any Participant whe@gon any type of leave or who transfers to the DGE any tim
during 2012 will have his Target MIP Award calceldtbased on his annual base salary (measured e aat
immediately prior to the date the transfer or le@/e€onsidered effective for purposes of the MIRY ghe number
calendar months he was employed in a MlBible position during 2012, multiplied by theleeant total target awa
percentage applicable to his MIP-eligible position.

(v) Military Leave.In the event that at any time during 2012 a Padiat is on a Military Leave of Absence,
or her Annual Base Salary shall be equal to theeggde annual base salary the Participant recdioga Delta durin
2012 plus any amount of base salary such Partitipanld have received had he or she been activelyl@yed by Delt
in any corresponding MIP-eligible position duringch leaveMilitary Leave of Absence ” means a Participant's abse
from his or her position of employment at any tichging 2012 because of service in the uniformedices, as define
under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reeynpémt Rights Act of 1994, as amendedJSERRA ™); provided
that a Participant must provide the Company apjatgrevidence that his or her absence was duerticsein the
uniformed services and the period of such servicerder to be considered to be on a Military LeafeAbsence fc
purposes of the MIP. For purposes of the MIP, aagtiflpant who is absent due to military servicec@ding to Delta
records) as of December 31, 2012 and has beencbnesave for a cumulative period (during the petiedor she has be
employed by Delta) of five years or less, will begumed to be on a Military Leave of Absence. AaytiBipant who i
similarly absent due to military service (basedDmita's records) and who has been on such leaxaegeriod of more th:
five years will not be considered to be on a Militheave of Absence until he or she provides appatg evidence that
or she is entitled to an exception to the five-ylgait on uniformed service as set forth in USERRA.

9. Treatment of Payments Under Benefit Plans or Prognms . MIP payments, which for an Executive Officer Rapan
who receives MIP Restricted Stock means the amotithe payout to the Executive Officer Participantder the MIP had tl
payout been made in cash, will be considered asrepr under any benefit plan or program sponsoyeDddta only to the exte
such payments are included as earnings underrtims t&f the specific plan or prograprovided, however, that any MIP payme
made to an Executive Officer Participant in MIP teted Stock will be considered as earnings ordy purposes of tt
Company's restoration payment program, as in effent time to time. If such payments are includedless otherwise provid
in such plan or program, participants will be dlgito contribute amounts paid under the MIP intochsplans in the same man
and to the same extent as their ordinary compeamsatid any amounts so contributed will be subjeany applicable Compa
contributions and/or matches. Notwithstanding aimgthio the contrary in this Section 9, any MIP payreceived in connecti
with a Termination of Employment shall not be cdesed earnings under any benefit plan or programsgred by Delta.

10. Effective Date. The MIP will become effective as of January 1, 20ffbvided howeverif on or before the date t
Committee adopts the MIP any employee who wouldemtise have participated in the MIP is informedtthé& or he
employment will be terminated by the Company with@ause, any severance such employee is entitleg@dmive will b
calculated based on the 2011 Management Incenkired? in effect as of December 31, 2011.




11. Amendment. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in thigi8e@and Section 14, the terms of Section 14 of20@7 Pla
shall apply to any amendment or termination ofMHE. In addition, the terms applicable to any Raptint will be subject in the
entirety to the terms of any offer letter or otdecument to which the Participant has agreed. &meg of such offer letter or ott
document, if contrary to the terms of the MIP, shalern the rights of the corresponding Partictpan

12. Fractions. Any calculation under the MIP that results in afianal amount will be rounded up to two decimainga

13. Section 409A of the CodeNotwithstanding anything to the contrary in the MIB the extent that any amount f
hereunder in connection with a Termination of Emypient constitutes deferred compensation under @ed09A of the Intern
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regudgiimmulgated thereunder (togetheiSéction 409A”) and is paid to
“specified employee” as defined in Section 4094, playment of such amount will be delayed for sinths.

14. Clawback. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the MiRd subject to further amendment of this Sectibolthe
extent required to be in compliance with any agtile law or regulation or Delta's internal clawbadkicy, as it may be amenc
from time to time, if the Committee determines thatice president or more senior officer level Rgrént has engaged in frauc
misconduct that caused, in whole or in part, thedntor a required restatement of Delta's finanstatements filed with ti
Securities and Exchange Commission, the Committi#lerewiew all incentive compensation awarded to earned by suc
Participant, including, without limitation, any MIRward, with respect to fiscal periods materialffeated by the restatement ¢
may recover from the Participant all such incentteenpensation to the extent that the Committee deggupropriate after taki
into account the relevant facts and circumstangeg.recoupment hereunder may be in addition to@hgr remedies that may
available to Delta under applicable law, includidigciplinary action up to and including terminatiof employment.
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EXHIBIT A- DELTA CONNECTION GOALS:
Delta Connection's Operational Performance wilbesed on the number of times during 2012 that tbepyof Delta Connection carrit
meets or exceeds its monthly operational goalsdonpletion factor and on-time arrival performanttee (“ Delta Connection Goals”).
The 24 monthly Delta Connection Goals are includedhe following tables:

Completion Factor On-Time Arrival Performance
Month in 2012 2012 Goal 2012 Goal
January 96.7% 78.2%
February 97.1% 79.3%
March 97.9% 79.8%
April 98.7% 84.1%
May 99% 84.5%
June 98.1% 78%
July 98% 77.3%
August 98.3% 81.1%
September 98.7% 86.1%
October 98.6% 86.4%
November 98.7% 85.2%
December 96.7% 72.2%
Total 98.1% 81.1%

A. The primary source of reported metrics used toutale performance will be performance reports ptegliby each Delta Connect
carrier on a daily basis and validated by Deltar@@mtion Performance Management.

B. All domestic and international Delta Connectionrigarsystem operations subject to capacity purclapgeements and/or revel
proration agreements will be included in the perfance measures, including the operations of ChqutguComair, Compa:
ExpressJet, GoJet, Mesaba, Pinnacle, Shuttle Amarnd SkyWest, but excluding any revenue prorabiperations with respect
which passenger reservations are not reflectedata® reservations system (th®é&lta Connection Program”). In the event that
carrier enters or leaves the Delta Connection Rragithat carrier's operations will be included rcleded from the performan
measures as applicable.

C. The monthly calculation for completion factor vk as follows
1. Add all Delta Connection scheduled system operationthe montt
2. Add all Delta Connection system completed flighdas the month (including flights canceled by oneriearand covered t
another via an extra section, which also includights changed to Delta aircraft).
3. Divide the result of C.2 by the result of C.1 for@nbined Delta Connection system completion fa

D. The monthly calculation for otime performance will be as follov
1. Add all Delta Connection completed system operation the montt
2. Add all Delta Connection system on time operatiforsthe month. On time operations are defined asnilimber of flight
that arrive at the scheduled destination withinriibutes of the scheduled arrival time.
3. Divide the result of D.2 by the result of Dat & combined Delta Connection systemtiome performance measu

E. All calculations will be performed and validated bglta Connection Performance Managen
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EXHIBIT 10.24

Delta Air Lines, Inc
Restoration Long Term
Disability Plan

Article 1
General

Section 1.1 IntroductionDelta Air Lines, Inc. (the “Company”) has estahkd and maintained the Delta Family-Care
Disability and Survivorship Plan ( the “D&S Plard$ a tax exempt welfare benefit plan for purpo$esaviding

welfare benefits, including but not limited to, gpterm disability benefits, to non pilot employeéshe Company. The
D&S Plan and its accompanying trust are subjethéaccompensation limit of Section 505(b) of theetnal Revenue
Code of 1986 (the “Code”) (such compensation lmgierred to as the “Restriction”), which Restrictimay prevent
participants in the D&S Plan from receiving the amioof long term disability benefits to which theypuld otherwise

be entitled under the D&S Plan. The Company hasbshed this Delta Air Lines, Inc. Restoration goherm

Disability Plan (the “Restoration Plantt) provide certain supplemental long term disapbnefits as described hert

Section 1.2 Eligibility. Any non pilot employee whose Earnings as defindgtie D&S Plan exceeds the then applic:
compensation limit under Section 505(b) of the C@#lan Participant”) is eligible to participatethis Restoration
Plan.

Section 1.3 PurposeThe purpose of the Restoration Plan is to profedéhe payment of any reduction in a Plan
Participant's long term disability benefit undez &S Plan which results solely from the Restrietamd not in whole
or in part from any other term or provision of (D&S Plan.

Section 1.4 Nature of Restoration Plahe Restoration Plan is a non-qualified unfundech phaintained by the
Company for the purpose of providing benefits feegect group of management or highly compensatgdayees.
Accordingly, the Restoration Plan is intended teekempt from coverage under certain sections oEtheloyee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA”) suant to ERISA Sections 4(b)(5), 301(2), 301(a#(31 and
applicable regulations. The Restoration Plan ig sitended to be a disability pay plan under Secio9A of the Code
and Section 1.401A-1(a)(5) of the applicable retytes, and shall be administered consistent witthsatention.

Article 2
Benefits

Section 2.1. Incorporation of D&S Plaho the extent consistent with the terms of thist®asion Plan, the terms of tl
D&S Plan and any past and future amendments tharetmcorporated by reference into this Restona@ian.

Section 2.2. Restoration Long Term Disability BatsefThe Company agrees to pay to a Plan Particigaheaime
and in the manner set forth herein a supplemeratinty disability benefit equal to (a) minus (b) evh (a) equals the
monthly long term disability benefit which the PIRarticipant would receive under the D&S Plan bage&arnings as
if the Restriction was not in effect, but takingarmccount all other terms of the D&S Plan; andegp)als the monthly
long term disability which the Plan Participantusdly receives from the D&S Plan considering thestRetion and
taking into account all other terms of




the D&S Plan. Provided however, the amount of Ratittn Long Term Disability Benefits payable unttas
Restoration Plan shall be based only upon the ataf@ompany paid benefits (i.e. long term disapitienefits
determined at the 50% level) and shall not inclaayg employee paid long term disability “buy up’the 60% level. A
Plan Participant's Restoration Long Term Disablgnefits shall be paid monthly and begin on thte ttang term
disability benefits begin under the D&S Plan andseewhen the Plan Participant is no longer eliginiéong term
disability benefits from the D&S Plan, or if the $2ection no longer applies such that the entirglterm disability
benefit can be paid from the D&S Plan. Any decisibthe D&S Plan administrators regarding continaggibility for
long term disability benefits under the D&S Plaalsbe binding on this Restoration Plan.

Section 2.3. Source of Paymerithe benefits provided under this Restoration Blaall be paid, to the extent they
become due, from the Company's general assetssudbyother means as the Company deems advisabilee Extent
a Plan Participant acquires the right to receiwarmnts under this Restoration Plan, such rightl §ieaho greater than
that of a general creditor of the Company.

Article 3
Administration

Section 3.1. Plan AdministrationThe Company, acting through its Vice Presidgatobal HR Services and Labor
Relations (or, if from time to time no such pogitiexists, then acting through its highest rankifiger who is
primarily responsible for the Company's employesefie programs) shall have the full power and atitiido
administer this Restoration Plan. The Companyagents and employees shall not be liable to argopdior any action
taken or omitted in connection with the administraiof this Restoration Plan. Any application fong) term disability
benefits under the D&S Plan by a Plan Participhatl also be deemed to be an application for Rastor Long Term
Disability Benefits, and no separate applicatioallsbe required. Any employee who believes hedaam Participant
who does not receive Restoration Long Term Digglidenefits may file a claim for such benefits witle Company;
however such claim must be filed within 60 daysalibng term disability benefits are first paid enthe D&S Plan.
Any adverse determination to such a claim for biénehder this Restoration Plan shall be made tlaadPlan
Participant notified of such adverse determinatwith) 45 days of submission of his claim for betehereunder,
subject to extensions allowed under applicablerclagulations.

Section 3.2. Appeald.o be eligible for benefits under this Restorafdan, a Plan Participant must be receiving long
term disability benefits under the D&S Plan, angl appeal regarding the Plan Participant's initrat@ntinued
eligibility for, or receipt of, such benefits shakk determined solely under the appeal procedw@sioed in the D&S
Plan. The results of any such appeal shall be matative of the same issues with respect to th&tdration Plan. Any
appeal regarding Restoration Long Term Disabilign&fits under this Restoration Plan, including, fmttlimited to,
eligibility to participate in the Restoration Planthe amount of Restoration Long Term Disabiligngfits, shall be
commenced separate and apart from any appeal thredBX&S Plan. Any Plan Participant who is denieddfgs under
this Restoration Plan or believes the amount o faemefits is incorrect and wishes to appeal seciad or
determination must request in writing a reviewhd tenial or determination by the Administrativer@oittee of Delta
Air Lines, Inc. within 180 days of receiving writtenotice of the denial. If no request for reviewdseived by the
Administrative Committee within 180 days of theea#gt of the written denial, the denial shall beafiand binding upo
the Company and the Plan Participant. All appeai®énefits under this Restoration Plan, includmgtime limits for
such appeal, required notices and other appeatguoes shall be consistent with any applicablerdaeview
regulations promulgated under Section 503 of ERISA.




Article 4
General

Section 4.1. Governing LawThis Restoration Plan shall be governed by amdtcoed in accordance with the laws of
the State of Georgia without regard to its confiittaws rules.

Section 4.2 No Right to Continued EmploymeRtothing in this Restoration Plan shall be deemoegive any Plan
Participant the right to be retained in the seratthe Company for any time or period, includimy @ame the Plan
Participant may be receiving benefits hereunder.

Section 4.3. Nonassignability of Benefitlslo benefit payable under this Restoration Plag beassigned, encumbered
or subject to any legal process for the paymeangfclaim against any Plan Participant.

Section 4.4. Amendment and Terminatiofhis Restoration Plan is not intended to createcantractual rights or
benefits and may be terminated or amended by tingp@oy at any time and for any reason, includingraimeent or
termination of benefits in pay status for any Framticipant at any time.




Exhibit 10.25

February 2, 2012

Mr. Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer
Delta Air Lines, Inc.
World Headquarters
Atlanta, Georgia 30320

Dear Richard:

As a result of the merger between Delta Air Lires, (“Delta”) and Northwest Airlines, Inc. (“Nonitest”), Delta will honor the obligations
under the Management Compensation Agreement dated2B, 2001 between you and Delta, successor iitnMest (the “MCA”).Pursuant t(
the MCA, you, your spouse and your eligible depeitgishall be provided certain medical and dentaéfits following your termination of
employment at Delta.

Section 3.2 of the MCA provided that you, your sp@and covered dependents (but only as long age¢hggin dependents) would be entitled
to medical and dental coverage at the levels peakid you at the time of execution of the MCA untier then existing Northwest health plans
without cost to you for the life of you and youmsise. This coverage is secondary to any coveragedad by a subsequent employer. You
have voluntarily and permanently waived the praurisiof Section 3.2 of the MCA during your employmeith Delta. You also permanently
and voluntarily waived any claim for eligibility dier the Northwest Medical Expense Reimbursemergr2no (“MERP”) that you may have
had under the MCA. Your participation in the MER®Bgram is hereby terminated in its entirety.

This letter will further confirm and memorialize yoagreement with Delta as to how the medical adal benefits under the MCA will be
provided following the termination of your employmevith Delta. From the time of your terminationeshployment with Delta until you rea
age 65, you, your spouse and your eligible deperdeifi continue to participate in Delta's grougalih plans at no cost to you. Your spouse
and any eligible dependents will remain eligiblelenthe terms of the Delta plan in place year &r ymtil your spouse is eligible for Medica
or any other dependents reach the maximum agevefage for dependents.

In order to provide the general level of post egtient medical benefits contemplated under the M@Ahave agreed that, upon your
retirement, resignation or termination from Deltal &0 long as any subsequent employer or spouspleyer does not provide you with
medical benefit coverage, Delta, at its cost, pitlvide you and, once she is eligible for Medicgmjr spouse (regardless of whether you pre-
decease your spouse), with either a (i) Medicapp®unental Policy with Part D coverage, or (ii) @ditare Advantage Plan with Part D
coverage, (either of which, the “Policy”). The Caoany will select the Policy and Policy provider; hewer you may direct the Company to use
a different insurer and specific policy if you wish addition to providing the Policy, the Compamyl reimburse you for any cost that would
otherwise be covered by the medical plan in




Richard H. Anderson
Page 2 of 2
February 2, 2012

effect for you as of the date of this letter, thes current plan for active employees, (the “MebiRlan”) a summary of which is attached as
Exhibit A, that is not covered by the Policy, at taimount of such benefit as it would have beenigeavunder the Medical Plan. This
reimbursement would include, for example, the obseceiving services from a non Medicare provigeovided such costs would otherwise
covered under the Medical Plan. The Company wslbakimburse you for the cost of any applicable k@ Part B or D premiums. Post
retirement dental coverage will be reasonably gtedithrough an individual policy on terms consisteith the current Delta dental benefit
provided to employees as of the date of this agesna summary of which benefits is attached astibdb.

Any reimbursement hereunder will (i) not affect theenses eligible for reimbursement in any otaeiyear; (i) be made on or before the last
day of your tax year following the tax year in whithe expense was incurred; and (iii) not be sultgetiquidation or exchange for another
benefit. Consistent with the terms of the MCA, flosst retirement medical and dental coverage wiltionie to the death of you and your
spouse. You (and following your death, your spossa)l be responsible for all applicable stateal@nd federal taxes on this medical and
dental coverage.

If any change in either the law regarding healthdfiégs or the form or way in which Delta provideghk benefits impacts the future benefits
contemplated by this letter, Delta will reasongigvide medical and dental benefits equivalenhtsé described above. Please indicate your
agreement with the provisions of this letter byngig in the space indicated below and returninmgyaesl copy to me.

Sincerely,

/s/ David R. Goode

David R. Goode

Chairman, Personnel & Compensation Committee
Board of Directors of Delta Air Lines, Inc.

/s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Anderson

February 2, 2012
Date




Exhibit A

Diamond HSA Medical Option Overview

Services and supplies eligible for coverage mugirbeided for the purpose of preventing, diagnosingreating a sickness, injury, disease or symptmm
meet certain established criteria. If eligible Kbéedicare, Medicare is primary and the medical aoptlescribed here is secondary. This means thaptisn
pays the difference between what this option wdwalde paid had it been primary (after deductible @umeof-pocket maximums are met) and the amount

Medicare pays.

2012 Diamond HSA Medical Option

Network

Non-Network

Annual Deductible

Employee Only

$2,300

$4,600

Employee & Spouse(Iindividual/Family)

$2,300/$3,500

$4,600/$7,000

Employee & Child(ren) (Individual/Family)

$2,300/$3,500

$4,600/$7,000

Family (Individual/Family)

$2,300/$4,500

$4,600/$9,000

Plan pays 60% of 140% of Medicare
Reimbursement Rate after Deductible (Maximy
Non-Network Reimbursement Program (MNR

rate (also called the Medicare Reimburseme
Rate). A Medicare-allowable charge is what tH
federal Medicare program would allow as a cov4

m
)
t
e

tred

Coinsurance(% paid by plan) Plan pays 90% after Deductible expense).

Annual Coinsurance Maximum (Includes Behavioral He#th/Substance Abuse and Prescription Drug BenefitsExcludes the Deductible)
Employee Only $500 $4,600

Employee & Spousgndividual/Family) $500/$1,000 $4,600/$7,000
Employee & Child(ren) (Individual/Family) $500/$1,000 $4,600/$7,000

Family (Individual/Family) $500/$1,500 $4,600/$9,000

Annual Pharmacy Maximum None None

Pharmacy Benefit

Once the annual deductible has been m
prescriptions are paid at 90% of the Netw
Charge (as part of the medical benefit)

bt,  Once the annual deductible has been met,
bpkescriptions are paid at 60% of R&C (as part ef

medical benefit)

Note- Although determination of whether a provider iletwork or Non-Network provider will be made a¢ttime the provider renders the
service, the level of benefits shall be those peatiabove. For example, if in 2019, Executive seekgices from a provider who is then a
Network provider, but who in 2012 is a MNetwork provider, the benefits noted under thetitdek” column shall be provided. Conversely
in 2019, Executive seeks services from a provides i8 then a Non-Network provider, but who in 2042 Network Provider, the benefits
noted under the Non-Network column shall be prodiderovided however, in any event, the Medicarer®eirsement Rate to be used for
purposes of determining the level of the Non-Netwaenefit shall be the Medicare Reimbursement Batke date the service is provided.




Exhibit B

Comprehensive Dental Option Overview

The dental option described below is a traditiateital option which provides comprehensive covefagpreventive services, basic restorative sesyiogjol
restorative services, and orthodontic services.

DABHP Comprehensive Dental Option Benefits

2012 Dental Benefit Coverage
Annual Maximum Benefit $2,000 per person
Annual Deductible $60 Individual/$240 Family

100% of Plan Payment Obligation;
Preventive Services not subject to the deductible

Basic Restorative Services
(Such as fillings, extractions, root canals, pesitdl procedures) 70% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible

Major Restorative Services
(Such as crowns, bridges, implants, inlays, onlays) 50% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible

Dental Oral Surgeries
Simple extractions and other oral surgery proceslure 70% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible

Dental Oral Surgeries
Complex surgical extractions (ADA Codes: 07220,3, 207240,

07241, 07951) 50% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible
Prosthetic Repairs and Adjustments

Denture adjustments and repairs, bridge repair 70% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible
Prosthetics

Dentures (full and partial), bridges, dental impéaand covered

implant-related services 50% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible
Orthodontia Services 50% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible
Lifetime Orthodontia Maximum Benefit $2,000 per person

Lifetime TMJ Maximum Benefit $500 per person




Exhibit 10.2€

Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer
February 2, 201

Mr. Richard B. Hirst

Senior Vice President & General Counsel
Delta Air Lines, Inc.

World Headquarters

Atlanta, Georgia 30320

Dear Ben:

This letter will further confirm and memorialize yoagreement with Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Deltalat Delta will provide you
with certain post retirement medical and dentakiénto address the post retirement medical amtbilbenefits you would
otherwise be entitled to receive under Sectioro8ithe Management Compensation Agreement dated 242008 (“MCA”) thal
you entered into with Northwest Airlines, Inc. (“Nlowest”) prior to Delta's acquisition of Northwest

With respect to post retirement medical and ddmgakfits, the MCA generally provided that followingur termination of
employment with Northwest and thereafter duringnidatime, you, your spouse and your eligible degents would be entitled
participate in the group medical and dental plaarsegally applicable to salaried employees. Any sumferage would be subject
to Medicare or any other government insurance mgn which you are eligible to participate, andlso secondary to any
coverage provided by your subsequent employenyif a

As we have discussed, Delta cannot provide thesefit& for you through a tax favored employer spoed health benefit plan.
However, even though you cannot participate inDk#a plans after you retire, during your lifetinfend subject to the last
sentence of the immediately preceding paragraptw gpouse and any eligible dependents will remigibée under the terms of
the Delta plan in place from year to year until yspouse is eligible for Medicare, or any otheretefents reach the maximum .
of coverage for dependents.

In order to provide the general level of post estient medical benefits contemplated under the M@&Ahave agreed that, upon
your retirement, resignation or termination fromitBend so long as any subsequent employer or sfgoeiployer does not
provide you with medical benefit coverage, Deltatsacost, will for your lifetime provide you andnce she is eligible for
Medicare, your spouse, with either a (i) Medicanp@emental Policy with Part D coverage, or (iladicare Advantage Plan
with Part D coverage, (either of which, the “PoficyThe Company will select the Policy and Poliapyider; however you may
direct the Company to use a different insurer g&tsic policy if you wish. In addition to providinthe Policy, the Company will
reimburse you for any cost that would otherwiseteered by the medical plan in effect for you athefdate of this letter, i.e. the
current plan for active employees, (the “MedicalrP) a summary of which is attached as Exhibithattis not covered by the
Policy, at the amount of such benefit as it woudddnbeen provided under the Medical Plan. Thisbamsement would include,
for example, the cost of receiving services fronoa Medicare provider, provided such costs wouletowise be covered under
the Medical Plan. The Company will also reimbursa for the cost of any applicable Medicare Partr B @remiums. Post
retirement dental coverage will be reasonably gtedithrough an individual policy on terms consisteith the current Delta
dental benefit provide to employees as of the dathis agreement, a summary of which benefitdteched as Exhibit B.




Richard B. Hirst
Page 2 of 2
February 2, 2012

Any reimbursement hereunder will (i) not affect thgenses eligible for reimbursement in any otaeryear; (i) be made on or
before the last day of your tax year following the year in which the expense was incurred; amdn@t be subject to liquidation
or exchange for another benefit. Consistent withtémms of the MCA, the post retirement medical dextal coverage will cease
upon your death. You will be responsible for alpbigable state, local and federal taxes on thisica¢énd dental coverage.

If any change in either the law regarding healthdfiés or the form or way in which Delta providesxhk benefits materially
impacts the future benefits contemplated by thieteDelta will reasonably provide medical and d¢benefits equivalent to thc
described above. Please indicate your agreememthétprovisions of this letter by signing in thmase indicated below and
returning a signed copy to me.

Sincerely,

/s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Anderson

/sl Richard B. Hirst
Richard B. Hirst

February 2, 2012
Date




Exhibit A

Diamond HSA Medical Option Overview

Services and supplies eligible for coverage mugirbeided for the purpose of preventing, diagnosingreating a sickness,
injury, disease or symptom, and meet certain estsdd criteria. If eligible for Medicare, Medicareprimary and the medical
option described here is secondary. This meangtitsabption pays the difference between whatapison would have paid had it
been primary (after deductible and out-of-pockeximams are met) and the amount Medicare pays.

2012 Diamond HSA Medical Option

Network Non-Network
Annual Deductible
Employee Only $2,300 $4,600
Employee & Spouse(Iindividual/Family) $2,300/$3,500 $4,600/$7,000
Employee & Child(ren) (Individual/Family) $2,300/$3,500 $4,600/$7,000
Family (Individual/Family) $2,300/$4,500 $4,600/$9,000

Plan pays 60% of 140% of Medicare
Reimbursement Rate after Deductible (Maximym
Non-Network Reimbursement Program (MNRR)

rate (also called the Medicare Reimbursement
Rate). A Medicare-allowable charge is what tHe
federal Medicare program would allow as a covered

Coinsurance(% paid by plan) Plan pays 90% after Deductible expense).

Annual Coinsurance Maximum (Includes Behavioral He#th/Substance Abuse and Prescription Drug BenefitsExcludes the Deductible)
Employee Only $500 $4,600

Employee & Spousgndividual/Family) $500/$1,000 $4,600/$7,000
Employee & Child(ren) (Individual/Family) $500/$1,000 $4,600/$7,000

Family (Individual/Family) $500/$1,500 $4,600/$9,000

Annual Pharmacy Maximum None None

Once the annual deductible has been met,  Once the annual deductible has been met,
prescriptions are paid at 90% of the Netwgpgtescriptions are paid at 60% of R&C (as part ef
Pharmacy Benefit Charge (as part of the medical benefit) medical benefit)

Note - Although determination of whether a provider iSetwork or Non-Network provider will be made a¢ttime the provider renders the
service, the level of benefits shall be those patliabove. For example, if in 2019, Executive seekgices from a provider who is then a
Network provider, but who in 2012 is a MNetwork provider, the benefits noted under thetitdek” column shall be provided. Conversely
in 2019, Executive seeks services from a provides 8 then a Non-Network provider, but who in 20642 Network Provider, the benefits
noted under the Non-Network column shall be prodiderovided however, in any event, the Medicarer®eirsement Rate to be used for
purposes of determining the level of the Non-Netwaenefit shall be the Medicare Reimbursement Batke date the service is provided.




Exhibit B

Comprehensive Dental Option Overview

The dental option described below is a traditiateital option which provides comprehensive covefagpreventive services,
basic restorative services, major restorative sesyiand orthodontic services.

DABHP Comprehensive Dental Option Benefits

2012 Dental Benefit Coverage
Annual Maximum Benefit $2,000 per person
Annual Deductible $60 Individual/$240 Family
100% of Plan Payment Obligation;
Preventive Services not subject to the deductible

Basic Restorative Services
(Such as fillings, extractions, root canals, pesitdl procedures) 70% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible

Major Restorative Services
(Such as crowns, bridges, implants, inlays, onlays) 50% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible

Dental Oral Surgeries
Simple extractions and other oral surgery proceslure 70% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible

Dental Oral Surgeries
Complex surgical extractions (ADA Codes: 07220,3, 207240,

07241, 07951) 50% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible
Prosthetic Repairs and Adjustments

Denture adjustments and repairs, bridge repair 70% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible
Prosthetics

Dentures (full and partial), bridges, dental impéaand covered

implant-related services 50% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible
Orthodontia Services 50% of Plan Payment Obligation after deductible
Lifetime Orthodontia Maximum Benefit $2,000 per person

Lifetime TMJ Maximum Benefit $500 per person




Delta Air Lines, Inc.

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Exhibit 12.1

Successof” Predecessof’
Eight Months Four Months
Ended December Ended
Year Ended December 31, 31, April 30,
(in millions, except for ratio data) 2011% 20109 2009% 2008® 2007 2007®
Earnings (loss) before income taxes 76¢ 60¢ (1,587 (9,047 52k 1,294
Add (deduct):
Fixed charges from below 1,20z 1,31¢ 1,41¢ 80t 432 28t
Capitalized interest 9 (6) (12 (23) (8) 3
Earnings (loss) as adjusted $ 1962 % 1917 $ (177)$ (8,259 $ 94¢ | $ 1,57¢
Fixed charges:
Interest expense, including capitalized amounts and
amortization of debt costs 1,122 1,22¢ 1,29( 72¢ 39¢ 26E
Portion of rental expense representative of therést
factor 8C 89 12¢€ 77 34 20
Fixed charges 1,202 1,31¢ 1,41¢ 80¢ 43z 28t
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg®s 1.63 1.4¢ (0.19) (10.2¢) 2.2C 5.5

@)

@)

@)

@)

®)

©)
@)

References to “Successor” refer to Delta on or&ftey 1, 2007, after giving effect to (1) the caltetton of Delta common stock issued prior to tlieetive date of Delta's
emergence from bankruptcy on April 30, 2007; (2) igsuance of new Delta common stock and certdihsturities in accordance with Delta's Joint RiBReorganizatior
and (3) the application of fresh start reportingfétences to “Predecessor” refer to Delta pridviey 1, 2007.

Includes (a) $242 million in restructuring and atliems primarily related to (i) severance costoagted with voluntary workforce reduction progsaaffered to align
staffing with planned capacity reductions anddfiprges related to our facilities consolidation fiedt assessments and (b) $68 million due to @ dosextinguishment of
debt. Additionally, interest expense includes $trfiBion in net debt discount amortization primardg a result of adjusting our debt and capitaldeddigations to fair value
in purchase accounting upon our merger with Norgtwe

Includes (a) $450 million in restructuring and athiems primarily associated with (i) Northwest ahe integration of Northwest operations into Deltal (i) asset
impairment charges related to the initiative tostahtially reduce our 50-seat aircraft fleet artded dedicated freighter aircraft and (b) $401lionl primarily due to a loss
on extinguishment of debt. Additionally, interespense includes $216 million in net debt discounbetization primarily as a result of adjusting al@bt and capital lease
obligations to fair value in purchase accountingrupur merger with Northwest.

Includes (a) $407 million in restructurirgnd other itemassociated with (iNorthwest and the integration of Northwest operatimto Delta and (ii) severance and related
costs,and (b)$83 milliondue to a loss on extinguishment of deltditionally, interest expense includes $370 millio net debt discount amortization primarily azsult of
adjusting our debt and capital lease obligationfaitovalue in purchase accounting upon our mevgtr Northwest.

Includes (a) $7.3 billion non-cash charge fromrapairment of goodwill and other intangible asseid ¢) $1.1 billion in primarily non-cash mergetated charges relating
to the issuance or vesting of employee equity asvaradonnection with our merger with Northwest.

Includes a $1.2 billion nonash gain for reorganization iter

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 200@ngamwere not sufficient to cover fixed chargeshy6 billion and $9.1 billion, respective



SUBSIDIARIES OF DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2011

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

Aero Assurance Ltd.

Comair, Inc.

Comair Holdings, LLC

Comair Services, Inc.

DAL Global Services, LLC

DAL Moscow, Inc.

Delta Air Lines and Pan American World Airways -ergtutzungskasse GMBH
Delta Air Lines Dublin Limited

Delta Air Lines Private Limited

Delta Private Jets, Inc.

Delta Sky Club, Inc.

Epsilon Trading, LLC

Monroe Energy, LLC

MLT Inc.

Montana Enterprises, Inc.

New Sky, Ltd.

Northwest Aerospace Training Corporation
Northwest Airlines Charitable Foundation
Northwest Airlines, LLC

NW Red Baron LLC

Regional Elite Airline Services, LLC
Segrave Aviation, Inc..

Tomisato Shoji Kabushiki Kaisha

EXHIBIT 21.1

JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION OR
ORGANIZATION

Vermont
Ohio
Delaware
Kentucky
Delaware
Delaware
Germany
Ireland
India
Kentucky
Wisconsin
Delaware
Delaware
Minnesota
Montana
Bermuda
Delaware
Minnesota
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Minnesota
Japan

None of Delta's subsidiaries do business undenames other than their corporate names, with thesimg exceptions:

= Comair, Inc. conducts business as Comair Southjrrfelorida and Alabam
= MLT Inc. conducts business as MLT Vacations



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference inféHewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement No. 333-142424 on For@ ertaining to Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performe
Compensation Plan,

(2) Registration Statement No. 333-149308 on For@ [&ertaining to Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performe
Compensation Plan,

(3) Registration Statement No. 333-154818 on For@ [@ertaining to Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performe
Compensation Plan,

(4) Registration Statement No. 333-151060 on For@ grtaining to Northwest Airlines Corporation 208foclt
Incentive Plan, and

(5) Registration Statement No. 333-167811 on Forghggrtaining to Pass Through Certifica

of our reports dated February 10, 2Q2Rith respect to the consolidated financial staets of Delta Air Lines, Inc
and the effectiveness of internal control overiiitial reporting of Delta Air Lines, Inc. included this Annual Repo
(Form 10-K) of Delta Air Lines, Inc. for the yeanded December 31, 2011 .

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgia

February 10, 2012



Exhibit 31.1

I, Richard H. Anderson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on FormKLOf Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) for the fiscatear ended December 31, 2011 ;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does antain any untrue statement of a material factroit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in lightafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd other financial information included insthéport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of Delta as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. Delta's other certifying officer and | arspensible for establishing and maintaining disalestontrols and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatetinal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for Delta and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procegdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedortee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornratielating to Delta, including its consolidated sidiiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegettierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Delta's disgl@swontrols and procedures and presented in theatreur conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in Deligternal control over financial reporting that oo@d during Delta's most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, Ceé#t internal control over financial reporting; and

5. Delta's other certifying officer and | havisdosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefrial control over financial reportir
to Delta's auditors and the Audit Committee of B'lelBoard of Directors (or persons performing theivealent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affecttBislability to record, process, summarize andntdpancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in Delta's
internal control over financial reporting.

February 10, 2012 /s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

I, Hank Halter, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on FormKLOf Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) for the fiscatear ended December 31, 2011 ;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does antain any untrue statement of a material factroit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in lightafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd other financial information included insthéport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of Delta as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. Delta's other certifying officer and | arspensible for establishing and maintaining disalestontrols and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatetinal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for Delta and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procegdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedortee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornratielating to Delta, including its consolidated sidiiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegettierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Delta's disgl@swontrols and procedures and presented in theatreur conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in Deligternal control over financial reporting that oo@d during Delta's most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, Ceé#t internal control over financial reporting; and

5. Delta's other certifying officer and | havisdosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefrial control over financial reportir
to Delta's auditors and the Audit Committee of B'lelBoard of Directors (or persons performing theivealent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affecttBislability to record, process, summarize andntdpancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in Delta's
internal control over financial reporting.

February 10, 2012 /s/ Hank Halter
Hank Halter

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32

February 10, 2012

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certifications set forth below are hereby sutedito the Securities and Exchange Commissiorupniso, and solely
for the purpose of complying with, Section 1350dfapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Codednnection with the filing
on the date hereof with the Securities and Exch&wagamission of the Annual Report on Form-KOof Delta Air Lines, Inc.
(“Delta”) for the fiscal year ended December 3112@the “Report”).

Each of the undersigned, the Chief Executive Offaaed the Senior Vice President and Chief Finar@féiter,
respectively, of Delta, hereby certifies that, &the end of the period covered by the Report:

1. such Report fully complies with the requirementsSettion 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act &4} &nc

2. the information contained in the Report fairly pets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of
operations of Delta.

/s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Hank Halter
Hank Halter

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




